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Financial Highlights

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended October 31,

2002

2001

2000

REPORTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following results for fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000 are presented as reported. Fiscal year 2002 reflects the imple-
mentation of SFAS No. 142. Fiscal years 2002 and 2001 reflect the implementation of SAB No. 101.

Revenue $ 581.3
Domestic revenue $ 538.8
Net earnings (loss) $ 319
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $ 0.29
Consolidated cash flow from operating activities $ 805
Total long-term debt $ 551.9

$ 666.9
$ 551.5

$ (408.7)
$ (3.81)

$117.1
$ 693.5

$ 734.8
$ 588.5
$ 66.8
$ 063

$ 69.6
$ 950.5

PRO FORMA COMPARISON®

For purposes of comparability, the following results for fiscal years 2001 and 2000 are presented on a pro forma basis to
reflect the implementation of SFAS No. 142 as if it had been implemented at the beginning of fiscal year 2000. All
results for fiscal year 2002 reflect the implementation of SFAS No. 142. The following results for fiscal year 2000 are
presented on a pro forma basis to reflect the implementation of SAB No. 101 as if it had been implemented at the beginning
of fiscal year 2000. All results for fiscal years 2002 and 2001 reflect the implementation of SAB No. 101. Earnings and
earnings per share data for fiscal year 2002 are presented exclusive of the $11.2 million after-tax loss on assets held for
sale and other charges. Earnings and earnings per share data for fiscal year 2001 are presented exclusive of the following
after-tax charges: the $205.1 million loss on assets held for sale and other charges, the $5.5 million related to the
early extinguishment of debt and the $250.0 million cumulative effect of accounting changes. For a reconciliation

from pro forma diluted earnings per common share to reported diluted earnings per common share, see
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Pro forma revenue $ 581.3 $ 666.9 $ 713.3
Pro forma domestic revenue $ 538.8 $ 551.5 $ 573.5
Pro forma net earnings $ 431 $ 694 $ 75.2
Pro forma diluted earnings per common share $ 040 $ 0.65 $ 0.71
Pro forma EBITDA® $ 186.3 $ 224.7 $ 229.4
Pro forma domestic EBITDA® $ 179.3 $ 195.8 $ 198.0
DOMESTIC OPERATING DATA
Funeral homes in operation 307 319 325
Cemeteries in operation 150 151 151
Funerals performed 74,521 75,904 76,023
Interments performed 55,021 56,565 55,712
Backlog of prearranged funerals 349,110 352,491 358,984

(»The Company implemented Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS No. 142"} in the first quarter of
fiscal year 2002, which eliminated the amortization of goodwill. The Company implemented the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 101, "Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” (“SAB No. 101”) in the first quarter of fiscal year 2001, which resulted in changes to its methods of
accounting for some of its preneed sales activities. For a detailed description of the implementation of SFAS No. 142 and SAB No. 101, see Notes 3(a) and 3(b) to

the consolidated financial statements.

®EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA for fiscal year 2001 excludes the following after-tax charges:
the $205.1 million noncash loss on assets held for sale, the $250.0 million cumulative effect of change in accounting principles and the $5.5 million related to the early

extinguishment of debt. EBITDA for fiscal year 2002 excludes the $11.2 million noncash after-tax loss on assets held for sale.
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Letter to Our Shareholders

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS:

Fiscal 2002 was a year of great progress for
our company. Three years ago, we
committed ourselves to four main strategic
initiatives: selling our foreign operations,
reducing our debt, maximizing our cash
flow and strengthening our domestic
operations. We essentially completed all of
these initiatives last year, and also delivered
strong financial results. Because of this, we
are now in position to shift our business
model to one of disciplined and balanced
internal and external growth.

The financial highlights of fiscal 2002 are
as follows:

o Net earnings amounted to $31.9 million,
or $0.29 per diluted share. Pro forma net
earnings amounted to $43.1* million, or
$0.40* per diluted share.

o Pro forma EBITDA (earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and

amortization) was $186.3* million.

o Cash flow from operations totaled $90.5
million. Excluding $17.3 million in tax
benefits realized from the sale of our
foreign operations, operating cash flow
totaled $73.2 million.

o Free cash flow (cash flow from

operations less maintenance capital

* Excludes the less on assets held for sate, which resulted in a pretax
charge of $18.5 million (311.2 million, or $0.11 per share, after taxes).

expenditures) was $74.2 million.
Excluding the $17.3 million in realized
tax benefits, free cash flow was $56.9
million.

° Revenue totaled $581.3 million.

o Revenue from operations to be retained
totaled $534.1 million, consisting of
$302.5 million of funeral revenue and
$231.6 million of cemetery revenue.
(Operations to be retained are those
businesses the Company has owned and
operated for all of the last two fiscal years
and plans to retain, plus businesses it
opened during those two years and plans
to retain.)

° For operations to be retained, gross
margin was 26.3 percent — 27.4 percent
for the funeral operations and 24.8
percent for the cemetery operations.

ACHIEVEMENTS

We completed our foreign business
divestitures on time and with cash
proceeds in our estimated range. During
fiscal 2002, we sold our operations in
Spain, Portugal, France, Canada and
Argentina. The total proceeds from the
sale of our foreign operations were
approximately $245 million, including the
tax benefits realized during 2002 and
another $42 million in tax benefits to be
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realized in the future (mostly during fiscal Our goal for fiscal 2003 is again to increase

2003). We used all of the cash proceeds to our core average revenue per funeral call
reduce our company’s debt balance. by 2 to 3 percent.

Our goal for the debt balance has been to WHAT’S NEXT?

reduce it from its high of $961 million in Today, our capital structure is solid. The
2000 to $500 million. At October 31, 2002, Company, now at an inflection point, is
our debt balance was $551.9 million, which  poised to shift its business model to one of
represented a debt-to-capitalization ratio of  disciplined and balanced internal and

0.4 to 1. By comparison, at the end of fiscal  external growth. While we have been

2001 the debt-to-capitalization ratio was 0.5 growing internally these last several years,

to 1. With the tax benefits that we expect this is the first time in more than four

to realize during 2003 and 2004, we will years that we are in a position to grow
need to use about $10 million of our cash externally as well, using internally

flow to achieve our debt target of $500 generated free cash flow. In fiscal 2003, we
million. expect to generate about $50 million to

We are particularly proud of the strong $55 million in free cash flow.

performance of our funeral business. Internally, one of our goals is to grow
Revenues from funeral operations to be revenue in our core businesses at a rate
retained grew by 2.3 percent in fiscal 2002,  about 50 to 100 basis points greater than
to $302.5 million. Primarily through the the growth rate of our costs. If we can
use of custom funeral planning and achieve that goal, we believe that alone will
personalization, which is discussed in a produce earnings-per-share growth in the
subsequent section of this report, we high single digits. Our longer-term
increased our core average revenue per objective is to return to double-digit
funeral call by 3.5 percent, exceeding our growth through the disciplined execution
goal of 2 to 3 percent. (Our core funeral of our internal and external growth
businesses are those businesses we have strategies. In fiscal 2003, we expect to
owned for at least two years and have not achieve earnings of $0.40 to $0.43 per
held for sale.) Furthermore, over the last share. This forecast excludes any external
three years, we achieved an aggregate growth and a potential charge related to
annual increase of 3.8 percent in our core our redeemable/remarketable securities
average revenue per funeral call. (discussed in a subsequent section of this
report).

< FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: BRIAN J. MARLOWE, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, 34 YEARS OF SERVICE
WILLIAM E. ROWE, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, 38 YEARS OF SERVICE
FRANK B. STEWART, JR., CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD, 44 YEARS OF SERVICE
KENNETH C. BUDDE, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, 18 YEARS OF SERVICE
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Externally, we are acting on a variety of
growth opportunities available to us now.
Initiatives include acquiring funeral home
and cemetery businesses, building funeral
homes in our cemeteries, constructing
funeral homes in third-party cemeteries,
and opening freestanding funeral homes
in select markets.

We have already begun the process of
reentering the acquisitions arena. We
expect to move slowly and carefully,
considering only high-quality funeral
homes and cemeteries priced within our
guidelines. With public consolidators
producing about 20 percent of the revenue
in the $15 billion death care industry, we
believe there is opportunity for growth
through acquisitions. We believe we are the
first in our peer group to be in a

position to consider any possible buying
opportunities. Being first to market means
that we should be able to choose from
among the most attractive buying
opportunities.

We continue to consider building funeral
homes in our cemeteries because this
strategy has proven successful for us in the
past. Approximately half of our 149
cemeteries have on-site funeral homes.
Our experience has demonstrated that the
combination of a funeral home with a
cemetery significantly increases the market

share and profitability of both, and

improves the overall customer experience.

We also are considering opportunities to
construct funeral homes in third-pérty
cemeteries. This is another important
growth strategy that has been successful for
our company in the past. A prime example
of that success is our operating partnership
with the Archdiocese of Los Angeles. Since
forming this alliance in 1997, we have
completed five funeral homes that we are
now operating in the Archdiocesan
cemeteries, and we have begun the
permitting process for two more.

A fourth option for accomplishing external
growth is to open freestanding funeral
homes in select markets. These facilities
are likely to be alternative-service funeral
homes, which serve families who choose
memorialized cremations or nontraditional
funerals. To address the growing trend
toward cremation, we provide enhanced
cremation products and services at all of
our funeral homes; however, we also
operate 35 alternative-service facilities.
Generally, these locations offer families
lower costs because they are leased and
have lower overhead than traditional
funeral homes.

Our investment goal for our growth
initiatives is to produce a 15 to 20 percent
internal rate of return on the cash
deployed.




Additionally, all of the investments must be

accretive to earnings, EBITDA and cash
flow. If we do not find opportunities to
purchase, construct or open businesses on
these terms, then we will consider repaying
debt further, paying dividends, buying back
our stock or pursuing other alternatives
deemed to be in the best interests of our
shareholders.

ALL SYSTEMS “GO”

For the past three challenging years, the
management team and employees of
Stewart Enterprises have worked diligently
to put our company on a firm footing. We
are pleased to report that our operations
are more efficient and our capital struc-
ture is solid. As detailed in the following
section, all of our business operations are
ready for our change in strategy.

We firmly believe that our success is
attributable to the spirit and quality of our.
people, who believe in our company and
are passionate about their work. We are
proud of what they have accomplished.
More importantly, we are proud of the
difference our dedicated team makes to
each family we serve every day. This
sincere commitment, combined with the
quality, personalized products and services
our company offers, is why more families
are choosing our firms for their death
care needs.

We thank you for maintaining your interest
in our company. We are committed to
ensuring the trustworthiness of our
business practices, the accuracy of our
financial statements and the ethical
conduct of all our people. With our
transition behind us, we are focused on the
future. We have the roadmap, the
resources and the discipline needed for
balanced internal and external growth. We
look forward to reporting to you next year
our success in achieving that growth.

January 30, 2003

= 4

FRANK B. STEWART, JR.

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

WILLIAM E. ROWE
PRESIDENT
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER




All Systems Go.

One measure of a company is its ability to
endure the test of time when faced with a
challenge — to overcome unforeseen
obstacles, refocus its direction and
energies, and regain a solid footing on a
surer path.

Stewart Enterprises faced such a challenge
just three years ago. Throughout the 1990s,
the death care industry had undergone
vigorous consolidation. As the trend
progressed, some consolidators paid
escalating prices to acquire businesses.
Then the industry’s largest consolidator
missed its earnings target, and a second
consolidator filed for bankruptcy. As a
result, consolidators faced diminished
access to capital, and those that remained
in an acquisition mode tightened their
criteria for determining a firm’s purchase
value. Owners were not willing to accept
the lowered prices and withdrew their
businesses from the market.

By the close of the decade, a major trend
was over and a shift to a new business
model was in order for Stewart and the rest
of the death care industry.

Adapting to a changing business
environment was not new to Stewart
Enterprises. Since our founding in 1910,
we have learned that change brings
opportunities for us to grow and better
meet the needs of those we serve.

In fiscal 2000, in response to the new
environment, we altered our business
approach to place our company on firmer
ground. We developed strategies to
improve our cash flow, restructure our
debt and strengthen our operations. By the

close of fiscal 2002, we had successfully
fortified our capital structure and
reinforced our operations. Today, we are
ready to shift our business model to one of
disciplined and balanced internal and
external growth. In other words, all systems
are “go.”

MANAGEMENT: “G0”

People are the heart of the business in our
industry. Stewart has nearly 6,500
employees in its ranks. The high-quality
performance and unwavering commitment
of these individuals has enabled our
organization to stay the course in both
good times and bad.

As the Stewart family business evolved over
the years to become a leading death care
provider, we built an outstanding
reputation in our industry for taking care
of our employees and providing them with
career development opportunities. This
reputation was often a key factor in a
seller’s decision to affiliate with our
organization. Likewise, when considering
whether to buy a business, we were often
influenced by the reputation and
capabilities of its management team.

The forethought of Stewart’s management
over the years is the reason we have the
most knowledgeable and experienced
leaders in our industry today. In fact, our
senior executives have an average of 33
years of industry experience. Their
business acumen and fundamental
understanding of funeral home and
cemetery operations are critical sources of
competitive advantage for our company.

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: BOB PIERCE, REGIONAL CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, 35 YEARS OF SERVICE >
LESLIE DICKENSON, FUNERAL HOME MANAGER, 7 YEARS OF SERVICE
TREY CRESPO, ASSISTANT FUNERAL HOME MANAGER, 23 YEARS OF SERVICE
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Ensuring our ability to develop tomorrow’s

leaders inside the Company is a vital part
of our strategy for continued growth. It is
the reason we launched our Leadership
Development Program in October of 2001.
This executive education experience is
designed to develop consistent leadership
practices among high-potential managers
across our organization. Seventy-two
employees are participating in the
program, and more are expected to enter
it during 2003. Stewart’s bench strength
keeps getting stronger.

In 2002, every manager in our
organization participated in our new
Management Skills training program. One
objective of this program is to ensure that
all managers and supervisors understand
the Company’s leadership philosophy and
vision for employee development.
Managers are coached to help employees
increase their skills, improve performance,
set goals and manage risk. Another goal of
the program is to make managers more
self-sufficient in handling day-to-day issues.
The Management Skills training program
is a mainstay at Stewart, and in 2003 we will
supplement it with Management Skills II.

Our leadership development and
management skills programs reinforce the
Stewart way of doing business, encourage a
shared vision, foster team building,
enhance employee communications and
increase employee satisfaction. All of these
qualities are essential as we work together
to build our organization.

FUNERAL OPERATIONS: “G0”

Our funeral homes offer a wide range

of services and products, including
traditional and alternative funeral services,
cremation, transportation services, caskets
and flowers. In fiscal 2002, our domestic
facilities served more than 74,000 families.

Through the efforts of our funeral teams
across the country, we were able to achieve
our operational objectives and satisfy
varying consumer preferences.

Our funeral operations, which account for
59 percent of our total revenues,
performed well last year. Our businesses
achieved an annual increase in the average
revenue per funeral call exceeding our
goal of 2 to 3 percent. Our core average
revenue per funeral call increased by 3.5
percent for the year. (Our core funeral
businesses are those we have owned for at
least two years and have not sold or offered
for sale.) Over the last three years, we
achieved an aggregate annual increase of
3.8 percent in our core average revenue
per funeral call.

We also were able to maintain market
share. OQur core funeral homes served
about 72,000 families in fiscal 2002 —
about 1,100 (or 1.5 percent) fewer than in
the previous year. However, according to
the Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention, during the same 12-month
period the number of deaths nationwide
declined by 3.9 percent. Compared to this
baseline, our data indicate modest market
share growth.

We attribute the success in our funeral
businesses to several factors, including the
superior reputation of our funeral homes
and the quality service delivered by our
dedicated funeral service professionals.
Over the past three years, we have
enhanced the quality of our services
through funeral training programs that
teach staff members how to more
effectively merchandise our products and
how to better personalize services for client
families. And we have further strengthened
operations with our funeral home
management system.

< FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: JENNIFER GILCREASE, HEAD GARDENER, 1 1/2 YEARS OF SERVICE
J.P. GRADONE, REGIONAL CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, 20 YEARS OF SERVICE
SCOTT STEPHENS, REGIONAL VICE PRESIDENT OF CEMETERY OPERATIONS, 23 YEARS OF SERVICE
DEBBIE WILLIAMSON, CEMETERY OPERATIONS MANAGER, 21 YEARS OF SERVICE



M and Custom Funeral

Enduring Memories
Planning (CFP) are funeral-arranger
training programs launched in 2000 and
2001, respectively. We are continuing to
develop these programs and extend them
further into our organization. Enduring
Memories®™ originally introduced the
personalization process and focuses on
helping our people improve the ways they
communicate with families. CFP, which
goes several steps further, is more than a
training initiative. It is a redesigned
funeral-arranging process that enables
family members to create a funeral service
that is as personal as they wish. Thus the
program increases the value of the service
to the family. We completed the testing
phase of CFP in 2002, with very positive
results. Our surveys showed that customer
satisfaction ratings were up significantly at
the test locations, as was job satisfaction
among funeral arrangers. The surveys also
showed that at locations with CFP, families
chose a greater number of personalization
options. We plan to implement CFP in
about 80 of our traditional funeral homes
in 2003. These funeral homes are expected
to serve approximately 20,000 families this
year. Both Enduring Memories® and CFP
help our funeral arrangers find out what
families want, and emphasize that
personalization begins with the first
contact with the family.

The Company’s Funeral Home
Management System, launched in August
of 2002, teaches the Stewart way of doing
business in its funeral operations.
Developed by our regional chief operating
officers, the system identifies the best
funeral home practices and ensures they
are implemented consistently at all of our
funeral home locations. An important
teature of the system is that it seeks to
give each funeral home employee a sense

of “ownership” by explaining how the
employee contributes to the team’s overall

effectiveness and to the growth of the
business. The Funeral Home Management
System is also a road map outlining specific
opportunities for community outreach and
superior service. The goal of the system is
to ensure delivery of a consistent,
high-quality customer experience in each
and every Stewart funeral home.

CEMETERY OPERATIONS: “GO”

Successfully operating cemeteries was the
foundation for our growth and
development during the 20th century.
With a base of three small cemeteries in
1910, our company has progressed to
owning 149 cemeteries today. In fiscal
2002, our cemeteries accounted for 41
percent of our total revenues; our domestic
locations performed about 55,000
interments.

Our cemetery operations sell cemetery
property, merchandise and services.
Families can choose from a wide range
of options, including ground burial,
lawn crypts, private family tombs, family
copings, community mausoleums,
scattering gardens and cremation and
columbarium niches. We also offer a

full selection of merchandise, including
vaults, monuments and markers. Services
include burial site openings and closings as
well as memorial inscriptions.

Our cemetery teams work diligently, and
often behind the scenes, to provide
families with the most positive experience
possible on what is often one of the most
difficult days of their lives. Our people take
pride in beautifully maintaining our
cemetery grounds and facilities and
providing serene, comforting
environments for families returning to visit
the burial places of their loved ones.

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT: MARIA CHO, ADVANCE PLANNING COUNSELOR, 2 YEARS OF SERVICE >
ANGELA CAVE, PRINT AND CREATIVE SERVICES MANAGER, 8 1/2 YEARS OF SERVICE
GARY CARTER, JR., ASSISTANT SALES DIRECTOR, 3 1/2 YEARS OF SERVICE
BRENNA BENNETT, SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT OF SALES AND MARKETING, 16 YEARS OF SERVICE
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Accomplishing this involves landscaping,
equipment maintenance, building and
infrastructure improvements and safety

management. It also extends to keeping
impeccable burial records and delivering
reputable burial services and products.

Cemetery development is important to the
future growth of our business. We regularly
review our existing cemetery inventory and
develop new inventory as needed to meet

both our at-need and preneed projections.

Over the years, as we grew our business
through acquisitions, we selected
cemeteries that were among the most
highly regarded in their area. One of our
most important considerations in
acquiring a cemetery was the potential for
constructing a funeral home on its
grounds. Stewart has been an industry
leader in the development of such
combined operations. In 1979, we
developed our first combination operation.
Today, 47 percent of our cemeteries
operate in conjunction with funeral
homes. Our experience has demonstrated
that the combination of a funeral home
with a cemetery significantly increases the
market share and profitability of both. The
funeral home immediately benefits from
the cemetery’s heritage, while both
facilities become more attractive to
customers who seek the convenience of
comprehensive death care services at one
location.

SALES: “G0O”

Prearranging is planning today for
tomorrow’s funeral and cemetery needs.
This approach gives families the assurance
of knowing that they have made carefully
considered decisions, and it also helps
them avoid unnecessary confusion and
financial difficulties later during an
emotionally stressful time.

Selling prearranged death care products
and services builds tomorrow’s market
share today. Stewart has been helping
families prearrange services for more than
a half-century, which is longer than our
major competitors have been in business.
We remain invested in this long-term
business strategy because it produces stable
and predictable revenue streams. At the
close of fiscal 2002, our domestic backlog
of prearranged services and merchandise
represented about $2.1 to $2.2 billion in
expected future revenue. Our strategy is

to continue to grow our backlog of
prearranged services and merchandise to
ensure a healthy financial future for

our company.

To find new and better ways to work with
families, our Sales and Marketing Division
developed a new selling methodology that
concentrates on a family’s needs. The new
muld-step sales approach is based on
relationship selling — a process of building
trust and cooperation with families over
time to generate higher-quality sales and
more satisfied customers. Results from
pilot testing in 2001 were positive and the
program was implemented throughout our
sales organization during 2002. We
anticipate continued success as our sales
professionals fully adopt this new approach
along with the tools that have been
developed.

As part of the continuing effort to educate
our sales professionals, we developed the
Stewart Advanced Leadership and
Education Seminars training program. The
first phase of this three-phase program was
delivered to the sales management team in
2001 and focused on the basics, from
Company administrative processes and
procedures to coaching and mentoring
skills. The second phase was rolled out in

< TOP, LEFT TO RIGHT: ADDISON CAREY, III, ACCOUNTING TEAM MEMBER, 3 YEARS OF SERVICE
KATHY LAMKIN, HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR, 1 1/2 YEARS OF SERVICE
BOTTOM, LEFT TO RIGHT: OSCAR DAVILA, TECHNICAL SERVICES DIRECTOR, 17 YEARS OF SERVICE
SAL GENOVESE, ACCOUNTS PAYABLE GROUP LEADER, 25 YEARS OF SERVICE
BRENDA GIBBS, TREASURY OPERATIONS DIRECTOR, 2 1/2 YEARS OF SERVICE




2002 and addressed strategic marketing.
The third phase, scheduled for 2003,
covers employee recruiting and retention.

SHARED SERVICES: “c0”

At Stewart, we continually strive to attract,
train, develop and retain great employees
in all facets of our business: human
resources, information technology,
‘accounting, finance, communications,
marketing, interior design, customer
service, contract processing, training and
other business disciplines. Each of these
groups continually performs needs
assessments, evaluates processes and
identifies areas for improvement, ensuring
that the organization remains strong. For
example, our training professionals are
continually developing and delivering
custom training programs in management,
leadership, funeral arranging, sales

and safety.

During the 1990s, we established the
Shared Services Center to improve the
services that the Company provides to both
internal users of information and external
customers. The center is designed to help
the Company achieve five major goals:
increase customer satisfaction; reduce costs
by designing more efficient processes and
consolidating similar processes; improve
employee involvement, response time and
efficiency through a team-based approach;
develop performance measures for
different areas of operations; and
strengthen performance through
“continuous improvement” initiatives.

Today, our Shared Services Center, located
in New Orleans, Louisiana, has achieved
these goals and saves the Company an
estimated $15 to $20 million per year. By
centralizing and standardizing support
services, such as accounting, management
reporting, payroll, contract processing and
accounts receivable collection, we improve
services and reduce costs. For example, we
have improved the quality of our
receivables and automated our payroll
process.

Additionally, the shared services approach
saves money by reducing trust
administration fees, travel expenses, office
supplies, overnight delivery charges and
long-distance communications costs. As we
grow our business externally, we expect to
leverage the efficiencies of our Shared
Services Center. We plan to manage much
of our growth using our existing
infrastructure.

WE'RE READY

Over the last several years, we have worked
diligently to identify, standardize and
implement best practices in all areas

of our operations. We have created the
programs to lead all our employees in

the same direction. We know what we want
to do — increase funeral calls and average
revenue per call; increase preneed sales;
improve customer and employee
satisfaction; and focus on costs and
internal controls. Cur employees are
committed to these goals, and are eager to
grow the organization both internally and
externally. All systems are “go.”
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Cautionary Note

This annual report contains forward-looking statements of our management regarding factors that we believe may affect
our performance in the future. Such statermnents typically are identified by terms expressing future expectations or projections
of revenues, earnings, earnings per share, cash flow, capital expenditures, acquisition expenditures, internal growth
initiatives, gross profit margin, debt levels, tax benefits and other financial items. All forward-looking statements, although
made in good faith, are based on assumptions about future events and are therefore inherently uncertain, and actual results
may differ materially from those expected or projected. Important factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially
from expectations or projections include those described under the heading “Cautionary Statements” in Item 7. Forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date of this report, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise such statements
to reflect new circumstances or unanticipated events as they oceur.

PARTI
Item 1. Business
General

Founded in 1910, we are the third largest provider of funeral and cemetery products and services in the death care
industry in the United States. Through our subsidiaries, we provide a complete range of funeral merchandise and services,
along with cemetery property, merchandise and services, both at the time of need and on a preneed basis. As of October
31, 2002, our operations included 307 funeral homes and 150 cemeteries in 29 states within the United States and in Puerto
Rico.

During fiscal year 2002, we continued to focus on the initiatives begun in fiscal year 2000 by completing the sale of our
foreign operations, reducing our debt, strengthening cash flow and improving the operations of our core businesses. We used
the proceeds from the sale of our foreign operations, along with cash flow, to reduce our debt from $950.5 million as of
November 1, 2000 to $551.9 million as of October 31, 2002. As we approach our debt target of $500 million, we are
positioned to shift to a business model of disciplined and balanced internal and external growth.

For fiscal year 2002, funeral operations accounted for approximately 59 percent of our total revenues, and cemetery
operations accounted for the remaiming 41 percent. Our funeral homes offer a wide range of services and products including
funeral services, cremation, transportation services, removal and preparation of remains, caskets and flowers. Our cemetery
operations sell cemetery property, merchandise and services. Cemetery property includes lots, lawn crypts and family and
community mausoleums. Cemetery merchandise includes vaults, monuments and markers. Cemetery services include burial
site openings and closings and inscriptions.

We believe that we operate one or more of the premier death care facilities in each of our principal markets. Our funeral
homes and cemeteries are located primarily in the Southern, Western, Mid-Atlantic, and Mid-Western states, generally in
large metropolitan areas such as Miami, Orlando, Tampa and St. Petersburg, Florida, Dallas, Fort Worth and Houston,
Texas; Los Angeles, San Diego and San Francisco, California; New Orleans, Louisiana; Baltimore, Maryland and the District
of Columbia. According to the United States Bureau of the Census, many of these areas have a large population over age
65, which represents a principal target market for our preneed sales program as well as at-need sales. We believe that we
are an industry leader in marketing prenced cemetery property and preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise and services,
and we consider preneed sales to be an integral part of our long-term business strategy.

Cemetery operations account for a significantly larger percentage of our total revenues than those of our three largest
competitors. We believe cemeteries provide the best foundation for securing long-term market share in our industry. The
sale of cemetery property to a family creates a relationship that builds heritage over time, as family members are buried in
a plot or mausoleum and as other family members purchase additional cemetery property in order to be buried in the same




cemetery. Our relationships with our cemetery property customers allow us to more easily offer related products and
services, such as cemetery merchandise and funeral services, at one of our funeral homes located on the cemetery grounds
or nearby.

We believe that our combination operations help to increase market share. By building new funeral homes on existing
cemetery property, we are able to offer families the convenience of complete funeral home and cemetery planning and
services from a single location at a competitive price at the time of need or on a preneed basis. Approximately 47 percent
of our cemeteries have a funeral home onsite that we operate in conjunction with the cemetery. In addition to our
combination operations, approximately 38 percent of our cemeteries are located within the same market as, and operated
i conjunction with, one or more of our nearby funeral homes. We frequently organize our operating units in “clusters,”
which are geographically integrated groups of funeral homes and cemeteries, allowing us to cost-effectively pool assets,
personnel and services and generate higher margins.

Our business was founded by the Stewart family in 1910, and was incorporated as a Louisiana corporation in 1970.
Our principal executive offices are located at 110 Veterans Memorial Boulevard, Metairie, Louisiana 70005, and our
telephone number is 504-837-5880. Our website address is www.stewartenterprises.com where all of our public filings
are available free of charge on the same day they are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The Death Care Industry

Industry consolidation. Death care businesses in the United States have traditionally been relatively small, family-
owned enterprises that have passed through successive generations within the family. The last decade witnessed a trend of
family-owned firms consolidating with larger organizations. However, this trend slowed in 1999. As industry conditions
precipitated a reduction in the number of major consolidators participating in the acquisition market, those that remained
generally applied significantly tighter pricing criteria, and many potential sellers withdrew their businesses from the market
rather than pursuing transactions at lower prices.

During the first quarter of 1999, Service Corporation International, one of our primary competitors for acquisitions,
announced plans to significantly reduce the level of its acquisition activity. The Loewen Group, Inc., now reorganized as
Alderwoods Group, Inc., previously a primary competitor for acquisitions, entered into bankruptey proceedings on June 1,
1999, after announcing that it had terminated its acquisition activity and was offering a number of its own properties for sale.
In addition, Equity Corporation International, previously the fourth largest public death care company and another of our
competitors for acquisitions, merged with Service Corporation International.

Throughout fiscal year 1999, we continually reduced our acquisition pricing multiples. In the third quarter of fiscal year
1999, our acquisition activity began to decrease substantially from prior quarters as many potential sellers were not willing
to sell their businesses at the lower prices.

As the business model shifted, death care consolidators experienced diminishing access to capital. In response to these
changes, we developed strategies for improving our cash flow, restructuring our debt and reducing our debt with proceeds
from the sale of our foreign assets and with our cash flow. Throughout fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002, we focused on

liquidity, leverage and cash flow. Additional information can be found below under the heading “Business Strategy - Focus
on cash flow.”

By the end of fiscal year 2002, we had completed our transitional strategies of improving our cash flow, restructuring
our debt and selling our foreign assets. We had also substantially reduced our debt. As we approach our debt target of $500
million, we have begun to position ourselves for internal and external growth including potential acquisitions in 2003. Our
current strategies are described below 1n the section entitled “Business Strategy,” and our expectations for 2003 are detailed
below in the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements™ included in Item 7.




We estimate that our industry, which consists of approximately 22,000 funeral homes and 10,500 cemeteries in the
United States, annually generates approximately $15 billion in revenue. Our industry continues to be characterized by a
large number of locally-owned, independent operations, with approximately 80 percent of industry revenue being generated
by independently-owned operations.

Importance of tradition; barriers to entry. We believe it is difficult for new competitors to enter existing markets
successfully by opening new cemeteries and funeral homes. Entry into the cemetery market can be difficult due to several
factors. Families tend to return to the same cemetery for multiple generations to bury family members making it difficult
for new cemeteries to attract families. Additionally, mature markets, including many of the metropolitan areas where our
cemeteries are located, are often served by an adequate number of existing cemeteries with land for additional plots, whereas
land for new cemetery development is scarce. Regulatory complexities and zoning restrictions also make entry into the
cemetery market difficult. Finally, development of a new cemetery usually requires a significant capital investment that takes
several years to produce a return. Entry into the funeral home market can be difficult for many of the same reasons.
Although families are often willing to move from an existing funeral home to a newer facility developed on the grounds of
their preferred cemetery, families tend to choose a funeral home because it previously served their family, and because of
the funeral home’s reputation, which must be developed over time.

Continuing need for products and services, increasing number of deaths. There is an inevitable need for our products
and services. Although the number of deaths in the United States will reflect short-term fluctuations, the number of deaths
in the United States 1s expected to increase at a steady, moderate pace over the long-term. According to the United States
Bureau of the Census, the number of deaths in the United States is expected to increase by approximately 1 percent per year,
from 2.4 million in 2000 to 2.6 million in 2010. Furthermore, the average age of the population in the United States is
increasing. According to the United States Bureau of the Census, the United States population over 50 years of age 1s
expected to increase by approximately 2 percent per year, from 76.1 million in 2000 to 97.1 million 1n 2010. We believe
the aging of the population is particularly important because it expands our target market for prenced sales as persons over
the age of 50 are most likely to make preneed funeral and cemetery arrangements.

Growing demand for cremation. Consumer preferences in the death care industry tend to change slowly. One
significant trend in the United States is an increasing preference of consumers for cremations. Industry research indicates
that the percentage of cremations has steadily increased and that cremations will represent approximately 39 percent of the
burial market in the United States by the year 2010, compared to 26 percent in 2000. Although the percentage of deaths
represented by cremations 1s expected to grow, we believe this growth will come primarily from the expected growth in the
number of deaths, and that the number of traditional funerals performed each year should remain relatively constant. Because
cremations have typically included few, if any, additional products or services for the family beyond the cremation itself, the
trend towards cremation has been a concern for traditional funeral home and cemetery operators. However, industry research
has shown that consumers most commonly choose cremation over traditional funerals for reasons other than cost, and we
believe this increasing trend toward cremation will provide our company with an opportunity to better serve families by
offering an array of additional products and services with an emphasis on customization.

Growing demand for customization. Our market research and experience indicate a growing demand for increased
personalization of our products and services. This trend offers us an opportunity to increase our customer’s satisfaction and
our revenue per sale. We believe that our early identification of and response to this trend is a competitive advantage for
our company, as described below in “Competitive Strengths.”

Competitive Strengths

Leading market positions. We are the third largest provider of funeral and cemetery products and services in the United
States and have been in business for more than 90 years. We believe that we operate one or more of the premier death care
facilities in each of our principal markets, which are primarily in larger metropolitan areas in the Southern, Western, Mid-
Atlantic and Mid-Western states. In our view, a “premier” facility is one that is among the most highly regarded facilities
in its market area in terms of a number of factors such as tradition, heritage, reputation, physical size, volume of business,
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available inventory, name recognition, aesthetics and/or potential for development or expansion. While funeral homes and
cemeteries in the United States perform an average of approximately 100 funerals and 165 burials per year, our facilities
perform an average of approximately 260 funerals and 375 burials per year. In addition, more than 40 percent of our
properties are located in California, Florida and Texas, which are three of the four states with the highest populations over
age 65, an age group that represents a large portion of our target market.

Strong cemetery operations. Our cemetery operations account for approximately 41 percent of our total revenues,
which is a significantly larger percentage than any of our three largest competitors. We believe this is a competitive
advantage because families generally return to the same cemetery for multiple generations to bury family members.
Cemetery property often becomes an important part of a family’s heritage, and famly members who relocate are often
returned to their home cemetery to be buried. We build on our relationships with our cemetery customers by offering
additional cemetery property to related family members and by offering related products and services such as cemetery
merchand:se and funeral services at one of our funeral homes located on the cemetery grounds or nearby. Approximately
39 percent of our total cemetery acreage is available for future development.

Emphasis on combination operations. Approximately 47 percent of our cemeteries have a funeral home onsite that
1s operated in conjunction with the cemetery, which we refer to as a combination operation. This is a significantly higher
percentage of combination operations than any of our three largest competitors. We believe combination operations
represent a competitive advantage because they offer families the convenience of complete death care services at a single
location. Our experience indicates that a family planming a burial in one of our cemeteries often perceives our onsite funeral
home to be a more desirable location for a funeral service than an unaffiliated offsite funeral home. Thus, the cail volume
of the funeral home is enhanced by the heritape of the cemetery, and, over time, the volume of cemetery events increases as
well. In addition, combination operations enhance our purchasing power, enable us to employ more sophisticated
management systems and allow us to share facilities, equipment, personnel and a preneed sales force, resulting in lower
average operating costs and expanded marketing and sales opportunities. As a result, our combination operations usually
generate higher operating margins compared to our stand-alone funeral homes and cemeteries. In addition to our
combination operations, approximately 38 percent of our cemeteries are located within the same market as, and operated
in conjunction with, one or more of our nearby funeral homes.

Expertise in preneed sales; strong backlog. We believe that we are distinguished from our competitors by our strong
emphasis on, and more than 60-year history of experience with, preneed sales. Preneed plans enable families to specify in
advance and prepay for cemetery property and funeral and cemetery services and products. We market our preneed
properties, services and products domestically through a full-time staff of approximately 1,200 commissioned sales
counselors. We estimate that as of October 31, 2002, the future value of our preneed backlog of funeral and cemetery
products and services (including estimated earnings on funds held in trust and build-up in the face value of third-party
insurance contracts, in each case using projected returns) represented approximately $2.1 billion to $2.2 billion of revenue
to be recognized in the future as these prepaid products and services are delivered, calculated as discussed in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in Item 7. Our expertise in preneed
sales has historically developed out of, and now complements, our strong cemetery operations. This is because cemetery
property, such as a burial plot, is usually the first purchase a family will make when considering preneed arrangements. We
build on our relationships with our preneed cemetery property customers by offering them additional preneed products and
services such as cemetery merchandise and funeral services. Our focus on preneed cemetery property sales is also important
because these sales generate current revenues and higher current cash flows than other types of preneed sales.

Emphasis on customization and personalization. During 1999 we took steps to gain a competitive advantage by
placing our Company at the forefront of product offerings based on consumer preferences. We hired a major consulting firm
to assist us in conducting an extensive market study evaluating the changing trends in consumer preferences. With more
than 2,400 interviews conducted, we believe this to be the most exhaustive recent study of consumer preferences in our
industry. This project provided us with the consurer’s perspective on our operations and facilities. We gained valuable



insight into how our employees, business practices and facilities can better meet consumer demand. Our implementation
of new products and services based on the findings of this project continue to be positive drivers for our funeral business,
and we believe that we have gained a sustainable competitive advantage.

Among other important findings, our market research indicates that consumer preferences are shifting towards more
personalized memorial services and merchandise in the context of both traditional burials and cremations. We have
responded to these changing preferences by, among other things, training our funeral arrangers to offer our customers a broad
range of options. For example, a funeral service can be designed to reflect the special interests or accomplishments of the
deceased. We are also changing the way our product offerings are displayed at our locations, making it easter for our
customers to appreciate our wider selection. In our markets where these new business practices have been implemented,
we believe that we have further differentiated ourselves from our competitors, increased our customer’s satisfaction and
increased our revenues per sale.

Expertise in enhanced cremation and alternative service offerings. After we acquired Sentinel Cremation Societies,
Inc. of California in 1997, which operated thirteen service centers offering cremations and related products and services,
we continued to develop our strategies for capturing the increasing market for cremations in the United States. During fiscal
year 1998, we acquired Desert Memorial Cremation and Burial Society in Las Vegas, Nevada. During fiscal years 2000
and 2001, we opened several additional alternative service firms, primarily in the western United States. We now operate
35 alternative service locations, which primarily offer value-priced cremation services and are primarily located in California,
Oregon and Nevada. Our alternative service firm locations are generally leased and have lower overhead than traditional
funeral homes. Although death care arrangements at these locations are typically more cost-effective for the consumer than
services at a traditional funeral home, it is not our goal to be the low-price leader in these markets. While the average
revenue for a cremation service 1s generally lower than that of a traditional full-service funeral, we have found that these
revenues can be substantially enhanced by our emphasis on customization. For example, in addition to a personalized
memorial service to celebrate the life of the deceased, an enhanced cremation may include a casket, an urn and a niche in
a mausoleum or columbarium in which to place the remains. We continue to use creative approaches to marketing our
products and services to meet the rising demand for cremations.

Centralized support services, cost controls. Our Shared Services Center, which we opened in 1997, was developed
for the standardization and centralization of all of our facilities’ administrative and support processes such as accounting,
management reporting, payroll, contract processing, accounts receivable collection and other services. It allows us to
decrease our costs in a way that has no impact on the families we serve by creating significant savings on items such as trust
administration fees, travel expenses, office supplies, overnight delivery and long distance. We estimate that the centralization
of our business support services has saved us $15 million to $20 million per year. As we look at our opportunities for
growth, we expect to leverage the efficiencies that we have achieved through our Shared Services Center and expect to
manage much of our growth with our existing infrastructure. Additionally, at the beginning of fiscal year 2000 we developed
our centralized formal training strategy and began our implementation of standardized marketing programs to enhance sales
effectiveness. While our centralization of resources and standardization of processes represent a competitive advantage, our
management structure is designed to allow local fumeral home directors and cemetery managers substantial flexibility in their
operations and service to families in an effort to maintain the traditional structure and culture of an individually-owned
operation. We believe that this is important in order to maintain the level of caring, personalized service expected by the
families we serve.

Experienced management. We have an experienced management team, many of whom owned and operated their own
funeral homes and cemeteries and joined us when we acquired their businesses. Our 10 top executives have an average of
33 years of experience in the death care industry and have served our company for an average of 17 years.



Business Strategy

Our business strategy is to improve and expand operations both internally and externally using our free cash flow, which
we define as cash flow from operations less maintenance capital expenditures. Our operating strategies and training
initiatives are focused on increasing funeral calls, average revenue and preneed sales, while improving customer and
employee satisfaction, and effectively managing costs, internal controls and safety. We have mitiated formal processes
designed to help our employees provide consistent high standards of service, while also ensuring that every funeral home
owned by Stewart Enterprises meets the needs and desires of our customers with regard to caring, personalized service, high
quality facilities, and real and perceived value.

Position for growth. During 2002, as we approached our debt target of $500 million, we began to position our
Company for disciplined and balanced internal and external growth. In fiscal year 2003, we plan to explore several growth
opportunities that will be funded with free cash flow, including purchasing high-quality firms, building additional
combination funeral homes, pursuing operating partnerships and developing alternative service firms and other freestanding

funeral home businesses. Our goal is to produce a 15 percent to 20 percent internal rate of return on the deployment of our
cash.

Purchase high-quality firms. We will pursue the acquisition of high-quality funeral homes and cemeteries. We have
begun the process of reentering the acquisition arena but expect to move slowly and carefully in order to achieve an attractive
internal rate of return and maintain our target liquidity levels. With only approximately 20 percent of the revenue in the death
care industry in the United States generated by public consolidators, we believe there is opportunity for growth through
acquisitions. While many of the privately-owned businesses are not suitable candidates for acquisttion, we believe that a
significant number of these businesses would present attractive opportunities for us if they can be acquired at reasonable
prices. We will pursue premier firms that can be integrated within existing clusters or serve as a base for the formation of
new clusters, and we believe the biggest opportunity resides in the acquisition of multi-location businesses.

Develop additional combination operations. We create combination operations by (1) building funeral homes on
cemetery properties that we own and (2) entering into operating partnerships with third parties in which we construct, own
and operate a funeral home and/or mausoleum on the grounds of a cemetery owned by the third party. Partnerships allow
us to enjoy the benefits of operating a funeral home in a combination operation without the capital investment of purchasing
the cemetery. Our operating partners benefit by being able to compete more effectively with other cemeteries or combination
operations in the market, by increased cemetery revenues and by providing a better service to parishioners or other
constituencies. In 1997, we entered into an operating partnership with the Archdiocese of Los Angeles to construct and
operate funeral homes at the site of up to nine cemeteries owned and operated by the Archdiocese. As of October 31, 2002,
five of these funeral homes had been completed, and two have begun the permitting process. Over the last 50 years, through
our mausoleum construction business, we have developed relationships with the Catholic Church in approximately 70

dioceses in 39 states. We plan to pursue more of these partnerships with the Catholic Church, other faith-based
organizations and non-profit entities.

Increase enhanced cremation products and services. In fiscal year 2002, 39 percent of the funeral services we
performed in the United States and Puerto Rico were cremations, compared to 38 percent and 36 percent in fiscal years 2001
and 2000, respectively. The cremation rate in the United States has been increasing. According to industry estimates, 26
percent of deaths in the United States during 2000 resulted in cremations, and cremations are expected to represent 35
percent of the burial market in the United States by the year 2010. As described above in “Competitive Strengths - Expertise
in enhanced cremation and alternative service offerings,” we have been addressing this trend by providing enhanced
cremation products and services at all of our funeral homes.

Maintain backiog through preneed marketing. We consider maintaining our backlog through preneed marketing to
be an integral part of our long-term business strategy. Our primary objective is to moderate preneed sales levels to balance
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our cash investment while maintaining a sustainable and predictable level of growth in our backlog. The aging of the
population represents a significant opportunity for us to expand our customer base through preneed marketing as persons
over the age of 50 vears are most likely to make these purchases.

Reduce debr. Beginning in 2001, we actively pursued the sale of our foreign assets and, as of October 31, 2002, had
sold all of our foreign operations. We have used the net proceeds from these sales, along with cash flow, to reduce debt by
$257 million during fiscal year 2001 and $142 million during fiscal year 2002 to $551.9 million as of October 31, 2002.
Our goal is to reduce debt to approximately $500 million. With future tax proceeds of approximately $42 million that we
expect to realize related to the sale of our foreign operations, we expect to need less than $10 million of our cash flow to
achieve our debt reduction target. We expect to achieve our debt target in fiscal 2003 or 2004, depending upon the timing
of our realization of the $42 million in tax benefits.

Focus on cash flow. We plan to continue to focus on our cash flow through a number of initiatives begun 1n fiscal year
2000, including revenue enhancements, cost controls and continued moderation of our preneed sales activities. In fiscal year
2000, we restructured our preneed sales program to focus on increasing cash flow. We increased finance charges, required
larger down payments and shortened instaliment payment terms, and decreased the overall level of preneed sales but
improved the quality of those sales and the associated receivables. We also suspended our dividend and implemented an
mntemnal process for reviewing capital expenditures. We plan to continue these initiatives and continue reducing our costs
by, among other things, obtaining volume discounts from suppliers, leveraging our operating costs through clustering and
combination operations, and identifying facilities with overlapping market share for consolidation of resources as
appropnate. Additionally, we have been incentivizing local managers to decrease costs by tying their compensation more
closely to the profitability of the locations they manage.

Operations

General. We believe that we operate one or more of the premier death care facilities in each of our principal markets.
In our view, a “premier” facility is one that 1s among the most highly regarded facilities in its market area in terms of a
number of factors such as tradition, heritage, reputation, physical size, volume of business, available inventory, name
recognition, aesthetics and/or potential for development or expansion.

We operate most of our funeral homes and cemeteries in “clusters.” Clusters are groups of funeral homes and
cemeteries located close enough to one another that their operations can be integrated to achieve economies of scale. For
example, clustered facilities can share vehicles, embalming services, mventories of caskets and other merchandise and, most
significantly, personnel, including prearrangement sales personnel; thus, we are able to decrease our costs and expand our
sales and marketing effectiveness at each location. By virtue of their proximity to one another, clustered facilities also create
opportunities for more integrated and sophisticated management of their operations.

Funeral operations. Funeral operations accounted for approximately 59 percent of our revenues for fiscal year 2002.
Our funeral homes offer a complete range of funeral services and products both at the time of need and on a preneed basis.
Our services and products include family consultation, removal and preparation of remains, the use of funeral home facilities
for visitation, worship and funeral services, transportation services, flowers and caskets. In addition to traditional funeral
services, all of our funeral homes offer cremation products and services. Most of our funeral homes have a non-
denominational chapel on the premises, which allows family visitation and religious services to take place at the same
location. As of October 31, 2002, we operated 307 funeral homes.

Cemetery operations. Cemetery operations accounted for approximately 41 percent of our revenues for fiscal year
2002. Our cemetery operations involve the sale of cemetery property and related merchandise, including lots, lawn crypts,
family and community mausoleums, monuments, markers and burial vaults, along with the sale of burial site openings and
closings and mscriptions. Cemetery property and merchandise sales are made both at the time of need and on a preneed
basis. We also maintain cemetery grounds under perpetual care contracts and local laws. As of October 31, 2002, we
operated 150 cemeteries.




Combination funeral home and cemetery operations. Approximately 47 percent of our cemeteries have a funeral home
onsite that is operated in conjunction with the cemetery, which 1s a higher percentage of combination operations than any
of our three largest competitors. Many of these facilities are in our key markets, including New Orleans, Louisiana, Dallas,
Fort Worth and Houston, Texas; Miami, Orlando, Tampa and St. Petersburg, Florida; and Los Angeles and San Diego,
California.

Combination operations help to increase market share by allowing us to offer families the convenience of complete
funeral home and cemetery planning and services from a single location at a competitive price at the time of need or on a
preneed basis. Our experience demonstrates that a family planning a burial in our cemetery often views our associated
funeral home as a more desirable location for a funeral service than an unaffiliated offsite funeral home. Thus, the funeral
home’s sales benefit from the heritage of the cemetery, and, over time, the cemetery’s activity increases as well. In addition,
combination operations enhance our purchasing power, enable us to employ more sophisticated management systems and
allow us to share facilities, equipment, personnel and a preneed sales force, resulting in lower average operating costs and
expanded sales and marketing opportunities. Although it generally takes several years before a newly constructed funeral
home becomes profitable, our experience with combination operations has demonstrated that the combination of a funeral
home with a cemetery can significantly increase the market share and profitability of both.

We have three primary strategies for growth through the use of combination operations. One strategy 1s to create
combination operations by constructing funeral homes on the grounds of our cemeteries. Another is to enter into operating
partnerships in which we construct funeral homes on the grounds of unaffiliated cemeteries, which allows us to enjoy many
of the benefits of a combination operation without the capital investment of purchasing the cemetery. Our partners benefit
by being able to compete more effectively with other cemeteries or combination operations in the market, by increased
cemetery revenues and by providing a better service to their parishioners or other constituencies. The third strategy 1s to
acquire combination operations.

Through an operating partnership with the Catholic Archdiocese of New Orleans, we constructed a mauscleum for the
Catholic Church on the grounds of its combination operation in New Orleans in fiscal year 1987. We own the mausoleum
and manage the sales relating to the mausoleum for the Church. Additionally, in fiscal year 1994 through an operating
partnership with the Firemen’s Charitable and Benevolent Association, a non-profit organization, we constructed a funeral
home and mausoleum on the grounds of its cemetery in New Orleans. We own and operate the funeral home in combination
with the cemetery and manage sales for the mausoleum. In 1997, we entered into an agreement with the Archdiocese of Los
Angeles to construct and operate funeral homes on land we lease from the Archdiocese at the site of up to nine cemeteries
owned and operated by the Archdiocese. As of October 31, 2002, five of these funeral homes have been completed, and
two have begun the permitting process.

Over the last 50 years, through our mausoleum construction business, we have developed relationships with the Catholic
Church in approximately 70 dioceses in 39 states. We plan to pursue more of these partnerships with the Catholic Church,
other faith-based organizations and non-profit entities. We also plan to develop additional combination operations on our
own cemetery properties as well as pursuing the acquisition of privately-owned combination operations.

Cremation. In fiscal year 2002, 39 percent of the funeral services we performed in the United States and Puerto Rico
were cremations. The cremation rate in the United States has been increasing, and by the year 2010 cremations are expected
to represent 39 percent of the burial market in the United States according to industry estimates. We have been addressing
this trend by providing enhanced cremation products and services at all of our funeral homes, including funeral services and
memorialization for families choosing cremation. We are also addressing this trend through our alternative service firm
strategy as discussed above in “Competitive Strengths - Expertise in enhanced cremation and alternative service offerings.”

Preneed arrangements. We market death care products and services domestically on a preneed basis through a full-
time staff of approximately 1,200 commissioned sales counselors. Preneed plans enable families to specify in advance and
prepay for funeral and cemetery arrangements. Prearrangements spare families the emotional strain of making death care
decisions at the time of need. The products and services included in preneed contracts are set at prices prevailing at the time
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the agreement is signed rather than when the products and services are delivered. As described under the heading “Summary
of Current Accounting for Preneed Sales” included in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” customer payments related to these contracts are generally placed in trust funds and
invested or are used to purchase insurance policies to cover the cost of the future delivery of products and services. When
the service or merchandise is delivered, we realize the full contract amount plus all accumulated trust earnings associated
with that contract or the buildup in the face value of the insurance contract, generally offsetting increases in our costs due
to inflation.

We estimate that as of October 31, 2002, the future value of our preneed backlog (including estimated earnings on funds
held in trust and build-up in the face value of insurance contracts, in each case at projected rates) represented approximately
$2.1 billion to $2.2 billion of revenue to be recognized in the future as these prepaid products and services are delivered,
calculated as discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
included in Item 7.

Trust funds and escrow accounts. We maintain three types of trust funds and escrow accounts: (1) preneed funeral
merchandise and services, (2) preneed cemetery merchandise and services and (3) perpetual care. For further discussion
of these trust funds and escrow accounts, see Notes 4 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in Item 7. As of
October 31, 2002, the market value of our preneed funeral merchandise and services trust funds and escrow accounts totaled
approximately $421 .4 million, the market value of our preneed cemetery merchandise and services trust funds and escrow
accounts totaled approximately $167.6 million, and the market value of our perpetual care trust funds totaled approximately
$179.2 million.

We believe that the balances in our trust funds and escrow accounts, along with insurance proceeds, installment
payments due under contracts and future earnings on the balances, will be sufficient to cover our estimated cost of providing
the related preneed services and products in the future (see “Cautionary Statements” included in Item 7).

Generally, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Investors Trust, Inc. (“ITI”), a Texas corporation with trust powers, serves
as investment advisor on our investment portfolio and our prearranged funeral, merchandise and perpetual care trust funds
and escrow accounts. ITI provides investment advisory services exclusively to us. ITI is registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, As of October 31, 2002, ITI had approximately $809.9
million in assets under management. Lawrence B. Hawkins, one of our executive officers and a professional investment
manager, serves as President of ITI. ITI operates with the assistance of third-party professional financial consultants
pursuant to a formal investment policy established by the Investment Committee of our Board of Directors. The policy
emphasizes conservation, diversification and preservation of principal while seeking appropriate levels of current income
and capital appreciation.

Management. We have an experienced management team, many of whom joined us through acquisitions. Our
management structure is designed to allow local funeral home directors and cemetery managers substantial flexibility in
deciding how their businesses will be managed and how their products and services will be priced and merchandised. At
the same time, financial and strategic goals are established by management at the corporate level. We provide business
support services primarily through our Shared Services Center, which opened in 1997 and provides centralized and
standardized accounting, management reporting, payroll, contract processing, accounts receivable collection and other
services for all of our facilities.

Currently, we are divided into four operating divisions in the United States, each of which is managed by a division
president and chief financial officer. These divisions are further divided into regions, each of which is managed by a regional
chief operating officer. We also have a Corporate Division, which manages our corporate services, accounting and financial
operations and strategic planning. Early in fiscal year 2000, we formed a Sales and Marketing Division to centralize
responsibility for sales teams in all operating divisions and to allow for more comprehensive training and sharing of
information. From time to time, we may increase, reduce or realign our divisions and regions.
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Foreign operations. In fiscal year 2001, we began to sell our foreign operations as part of our strategy to reduce debt
and focus on our core businesses. During fiscal year 2001, we sold our Mexican, Australian, New Zealand, Belgian and
Dutch operations comprised of 94 funeral homes and 2 cemeteries. During fiscal year 2002, we sold our operations in Spain,
Portugal, France, Canada and Argentina, which consisted of 196 funeral homes and 8 cemeteries. For fiscal year 2002, our
revenues from foreign operations were $42.5 million, or 7 percent of total revenues, our gross profit from foreign operations
was $5.2 million, or 4 percent of total gross profit; and our EBITDA (defined as earnings before interest expense, taxes,
depreciation and amortization) from foreign operations was $7.0 million, or 4 percent of total EBITDA. The reduction in
operating earnings from the sale of these foreign operations from fiscal year 2002 to forecasted operating earnings for fiscal
year 2003 is expected to be substantially offset by interest expense savings of approximately $3.3 million resulting from the
use of proceeds from these sales to reduce our average debt balance. After adjusting for interest expense savings and income

taxes, the earnings contribution to fiscal year 2002 earnings per share from the foreign businesses was approximately $0.02
per diluted share.

Financial information about industry and geographic segments. For financial information about our industry and

geographic segments for fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000, see Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included
in [tem 8.

Competition

Our funeral home and cemetery operations generally face intense competition in local markets that typically are served
by numerous funeral home and cemetery firms. We also compete with monument dealers, casket retailers, low-cost funeral
providers and other non-traditional providers of limited services or products. Market share is largely a function of goodwill,
family heritage and tradition, although competitive pricing, professional service and attractive, well-maintained and
conveniently-located facilities are also important. Because of the significant role of goodwill and tradition, market share
increases are usually gained over a long period of time. Extensive marketing through media advertising, direct mailings
and personal sales calls has increased in recent years, especially with respect to the sales of preneed funeral services.
Traditional cemetery and funeral service operators face competition from the increasing number of cremations in the United
States. Additional information about the trend towards cremation and our strategies to address this can be found above
under the headings “The Death Care Industry,” “Competitive Strengths” and “Business Strategy.”

Regulation

Our funeral home operations are regulated by the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) under the FTC’s Trade
Regulation Rule on Funeral Industry Practices, 16 CFR Part 453 (the “Funeral Rule”), which went into effect on April 30,
1984, and was revised effective July 19, 1994. The FTC is reviewing the Funeral Rule and has conducted hearings to receive
input from industry and consumer groups. At this time, the FTC has not issued any proposed changes to the regulation,

The Funeral Rule defines certain acts or practices as unfair or deceptive and contains certain requirements to prevent
these acts or practices. The preventive measures require a funeral provider to give consumers accurate, itemized price
information and various other disclosures about funeral goods and services and prohibit a funeral provider from: (1)
misrepresenting legal, crematory and cemetery requirements; (2) embalming for a fee without permission; (3) requiring the
purchase of a casket for direct cremation; and (4) requiring consumers to buy certain funeral goods or services as a condition
for furnishing other funeral goods or services.

In November 2002, Senator Christopher Dodd (D-CT) introduced the Federal Death Care Inspection and Disclosure
Act (the “bill”) to enact and extend certain requirements of the Funeral Rule, to create a private right of action (and statutory
minimum damages) for enforcement in addition to the FTC’s enforcement rights, to regulate preneed sales and contracts and

to provide grants to states for regulatory enforcement. Congressman Mark Foley (R-FL) introduced similar legislation in
the House of Representatives.

Senator Dodd’s bill would create the position of Coordinator of Funeral, Burial and Disposition Services within the
Department of Health and Human Services. The Coordinator would make a survey of the existing state regulatory laws and
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formulate standards for the registration, inspection and the monitoring of the handling and disposition of human remains.
The Coordinator would be required to report to Congress within eight months after the enactment of the legislation. The
bill would also provide for federal grants to state agencies responsible for the registration, inspection and monitoring of death
care providers. Within 180 days of enactment of the bill, the Coordinator would be required to establish minimum standards,
including registration of death care facilities, physical inspections, recordkeeping, licensing and resolution of consumer
complaints among other matters.

The bill would also require certain disclosures with respect to the identity of the service or merchandise provider,
itemized prices, the necessity of certain merchandise and services under state law, the identity of state agencies designated
to receive consumer complaints and the lack of effectiveness of certain containers to preserve human remains, among other
matters. The bill would require that each consumer be provided with an itemized statement of funeral goods and services.
The disclosures would be required to be made by any seller of funeral, burial or disposition goods or services offered or
purchased, including casket sellers, funeral homes, cemeteries and crematories.

The bill would prohibit certain deceptive trade practices under the Federal Trade Commission Act including (i)
misrepresentations as to the requirements of federal, state or local law or the requirements of a cemetery with respect to the
necessity of purchasing certain funeral goods or services, (ii) conditioning the provision of funeral goods and services upon
the purchase of other goods and services or the payment of fees not described in the bill; (iii) providing unauthorized
services; (1v) making certain representations about the cost of cash advance items, if not true, and failing to disclose that
the consumer has the right to arrange for the purchase of the cash advance item himself or herself, and (v) failing to comply
with specified prepaid contract requirements, among other practices. The bill would also establish recordkeeping
requirements for providers of death care goods and services.

If enacted, the bill would prohibit unsolicited telephone offers to sell funeral goods and services and door-to-door direct
offers for such sales. It would require that a funeral provider state its affiliation with a publicly-traded company. It would
establish requirements for prepaid contracts including (i) a statement of the goods and services to be delivered; (i) a
statement that the prices set forth are not guaranteed or that additional payment may be required in the future, when the prices
of merchandise and services are not guaranteed; (ii1) a statement of what happens if merchandise is not available at the time
of delivery; (iv) an explanation of how the purchaser’s funds are being protected to assure the seller’s performance of the
prepaid contract; (v) provisions for cancellation or transfer of the contract with no loss of benefits paid by the purchaser
along with accrued interest; and (v1) limitations on provisions regarding the irrevocability of such contracts, among other
things. It also mandates the establishment of certain consumer disclosures in prepaid contracts.

The bill also provides that its provisions will not be effective in a state where (1) the state’s agency so requests; (ii) there
are already in place state requirements applicable to the provision or regulation; and (iii) the state requirement, enforcement
and administration affords to the consumer an overall level of protection that is equal to or exceeds the level of protection
afforded by the FTC’s enforcement of such provisions or regulations.

Our operations are also subject to extensive regulation, supervision and licensing under numerous federal, state and local
laws and regulations. For example, state laws impose licensing requirements for funeral homes and funeral directors and
regulate preneed sales. Our embalming facilities are subject to stringent environmental and health regulations. We have
a department that monitors compliance, and we believe that we are in substantial compliance with the Funeral Rule and all
such laws and regulations. Federal, state and local legislative bodies and regulatory agencies frequently propose new laws
and regulations, some of which, such as the bill proposed by Senator Dodd, could have a material effect on_our operations
and on the death care industry in general. We cannot predict the outcome of any proposed legislation or regulation or the
effect that any such legislation or regulation might have on us.

Employees

We employ approximately 6,500 persons, and we believe that we maintain a good relationship with our employees.
Approximately 112 of our employees are represented by labor unions or collective bargaining units.
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Item 2. Properties

As of October 31, 2002, approximately 72 percent of our 307 funeral home locations were owned by our subsidiaries,
and approXimately 28 percent were held under operating leases. The leased properties have terms ranging from 1 to 17
years, except for six leases that expire between 2032 and 2039. Generally, we have a right of first refusal and an option to
purchase the leased premises. An aggregate of $6.9 million of our term notes are secured by mortgages on some of our
funeral homes; these notes were either assumed by us upon our acquisition of the property or represent seller financing for
the acquired property.

As of October 31, 2002, we owned 150 cemeteries covering a total of approximately 10,286 acres. Approximately
39 percent of the total acreage 1s available for future development.

Our corporate headquarters occupy approximately 21,500 square feet of leased office space in a building in suburban
New Orleans. In addition, we own a 97,300 square foot building in suburban New Orleans that we use for our Shared

Services Center, Human Resources, Communications, Internal Audit and Information Systems Departments.

As of October 31, 2002, we had sold all of our foreign operations. See the section above entitled “Operations - Foreign
operations.”

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We and certain of our subsidiaries are party to a number of legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course
of business. While the outcome of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not expect these matters to
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

We carry insurance with coverages and coverage limits that we believe to be adequate. Although we give no assurance
that this insurance is sufficient to protect us against all contingencies, we believe that our insurance protection is reasonable

in view of the nature and scope of our operations.

Item 4. Submissien of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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Item 4(2). Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to our executive officers. Each of the following has
served in the capacity indicated for more than five years, except as indicated below.

Name Age  Position

Frank B. Stewart, Jr. . ... .. .. 67  Chairman of the Board

WilliamE. Rowe .. ... ... ... 56  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director'”

BrianJ. Marlowe .. ....... ... 56  Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Director®

Kenneth C. Budde ......... .. 55  Executive Vice President, President—Corporate Division, Chief Financial
Officer and Director®™

BrentF. Heffron ............. S3  Executive Vice President and President—Southern Division®

Lawrence B. Hawkins ... ... .. 54  Executive Vice President and President—Investors Trust, Inc.

Michael K. Crane, Sr. ...... .. 59  Senior Vice President and President—Central Division®

G. Kenneth Stephens, Jr. ... ... 41  Senior Vice President and President—Eastern Division®

Randall L. Stricklin .. ... .. ... 58  Senior Vice President and President—Western Division®

Everett N. Kendrick . ... ... .. 61  Senior Vice President and President—Sales and Marketing Division®

@ Mr. Rowe has served as Chief Executive Officer since November 16, 1999 and as President since November 1, 1994,
He was Chief Operating Officer from April 1994 until November 15, 1999.

@ Mr. Marlowe became Chief Operating Officer on December 6, 1999 and became a director in December 2001. Prior
to that time, he served as Executive Vice President and President of our Eastern Division since August 1, 1995,

©) Mr. Budde has served as President-Corporate Division, Chief Financial Officer and a director since May 1998. From
August 1989 to May 1998, he served as Senior Vice President of Finance, Secretary and Treasurer.

@ Mr. Heffron has served as Executive Vice President and President of our Southern Division since November 1, 1998.
From January 1, 1997 to October 31, 1998, he served as Senior Vice President and President of our Southern Division.
¥ Mr. Crane has served as Senior Vice President and President of our Central Division since May 11, 2000. Prior to
that time, he served as Chief Operating Officer of the Southern Region of our Central Division since June 15, 1995.
©®  Mr. Stephens has served as Senior Vice President and President of our Eastern Division since January 31, 2000. From
January 1, 1997 to January 30, 2000, he served as Chief Operating Officer of the Southern Region of our Eastern
Division.

) Mr. Stricklin has served as Senior Vice President and President of our Western Division since April 20, 2000. From
August 10, 1999 to April 19, 2000, he served as Chief Operating Officer of the Southern Region of our Western
Division. From November 1, 1998 to August 9, 1999, he served as Chief Operating Officer of the Catholic
Mortuaries. From February 5, 1997 to October 31, 1998, he served as Vice President of Management Support and
Training.

®  Mr. Kendrick has served as Senior Vice President and President of our Sales and Marketing Division since January
31, 2000. From December 1, 1996 to January 30, 2000, he served as Chief Operating Officer of the Northern Region
of our Eastern Division.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Shareholder Matters

Market Information

Our Class A common stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol STEL On January 10, 2003, the
closing sale price as reported by the Nasdag National Market was $5.70. The following table sets forth, for the periods
indicated, the range of high and low sale prices, as reported by the Nasdaq National Market. As of January 8, 2003, there
were 1,439 record holders of our Class A common stock. Record holders included persons holding Class A common stock
on behalf of one or more beneficial owners who are not holders of record.

—High —Low

Fiscal Year 2002

Fourth Quarter . ... ... ... ... ... .. . ... .. .. ... ... ... $ 580 $ 426

Third Quarter . ... ... ... .. ... .. .. 6.75 4.58

Second Quarter . . ... ... ... .. 6.52 5.10

FirstQuarter .. .. .. ... 6.70 5.68
Fiscal Year 2001

Fourth Quarter .............. .. . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... $ 799 $ 462

Third Quarter . ... ... ... ... .. 8.10 5.15

Second Quarter ... .. ... ... L 5.64 3.19

FirstQuarter .. ... ... ... .. 3.47 1.75
Dividends

We declared quarterly dividends of $.02 per share on our Class A and Class B common stock during the first three
quarters of fiscal yvear 2000. On October 5, 2000, our Board of Directors suspended the payment of quarterly dividends on
our Class A and Class B common stock. The declaration and payment of dividends in the future is at the discretion of our
Board of Directors and will depend upon our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects
and other factors deemed relevant by the Board. Our credit agreement and senior subordinated notes restrict our ability to
pay dividends on our common stock. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included in this report.

Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

During fiscal year 2002, we did not sell any unregistered equity securities.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data for the fiscal years ended October 31, 1998 through October 31, 2002
are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The data set forth below should be read in conjunction with

our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in Item 8 and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included mn Item 7.
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data
(Doliars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended October 31, @

2002 @ 2001 2000 1999 1998
Statement of Earnings Data:
Revenues:
Funeral .......................... $§ 345,200 $ 410,253 $ 451,852 § 445877 $§ 379,095
Cemetery ........................ 236,121 256,680 282,949 310,231 269,270
Totalrevenues . ................ 581,321 666,933 734,801 756,108 648,365
Gross profit:
Funeral ....................... ... 88,151 91,645 116,689 126,875 118,426
Cemetery ........................ 56,633 59,542 62,351 83,526 77,558
Total gross profit ............... 144,784 151,187 179,040 210,401 195,984
Corporate general and administrative
EXPENSES . . .o (17,261) (18,020) (19,763) (19,161) (16,621)
Loss on assets held for sale and other
charges .................. ... ... .. (18,500)® (269,158) @ — — —
Performance-based stock options .. ... ... — — — — (76,762)®
Operating earnings (loss) ... .. ... .. 109,023 @ (135,991) @ 159,277 191,240 102,601 ©
Interestexpense ............... ... .. .. (62,339) (63,572) (61,394) (54,708) (43,821)
Investmentincome . ................... 505 5212 5,110 2,534 2,029
Otherincome,net ............. ... .... 2,132 7,170 2,194 3,485 4,155

Earnings (loss) before income taxes,
extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting
principles .. ... S 49321®  $(187,181)“  § 105,187 § 142,551 § 64964 ©
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary
itern and cumulative effect of change
in accounting principles ........... $ 31,866 ®  $(153,184)® § 66,794 $ 90,520 $ 41,902
Extraordinary item - early extinguishment
of debt, net of a $3,648 income tax
benefit ... ... ... ... — (5472) @ — — —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principles (net of $166,669 and $28,798
income tax benefit in 2001 and 1999,

respectively) ............. ... . ... ... — (250,004) m — (50,101) ® —
Netearnings (loss) . ................... $ 31866  $(408660)® § 66,794 $ 40,419 $  41502@
Per Share Data:

Basic earnings (loss) per common share:
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary
item and cumulative effect of change

in accounting principles ........... $ 309 8 (143§ 63 $ .84 $ 43 ©
Extraordinary item - early

extinguishment of debt .. ...... .. .. — (05) @ - — —
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principles ........... .. — 233w — (47 ® —
Netearnings (Ioss) .. ............... $ 309 § 38H® S8 63 $ 37 $ 43 @

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary
item and cumulative effect of change

in accounting principles ........... $ 299 5 (143)@ g 63 $ 84 $ 43 ©
Extraordinary item - early

extinguishment of debt . ... ... ... .. — (05)® — — —
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principles ............. — (233" — (47 M —
Net earnings (loss) . .............. .. $ 200 5§ 381)® 8§ 63 $ .37 $ 43 ®

Weighted average common shares
outstanding (in thousands):

Basic ... ... ... .. ... 107,861 107,355 106,600 107,452 97,691
Diluted ............... ... ......... 108,299 107,355 106,603 107,834 98,444
Dividends declared per common share .. .. $ — S — $ 06 $ .08 $ .06
(continued)
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended October 31,

2000 1999 1998
Pro forma amounts assuming 2001 change in
accounting principles was applied retroactively:

Netearnings .. .........ooovivin oo, $ 57,449 $ 65329 $ 7,167©@
Basic earnings per common share . .. .. ... $ 54 $ 61 $ 07 ®
Diluted earnings per common share ... . ... $ 54 $ 61 $ 079

October 31,
2002 @® 2001 W@ 2000 1999 1998
Balance Sheet Data:
ASSEIS ... $3,015,584 83,238,407 $2,476,191 $2,283,880 $2,048,938
Long-term debt, less current maturities . .. .. . . 545,255 684,036 920,670 938,831 913,215
Shareholders” equity ..................... 812,263 752,060 1,074,657 1,056,612 839,290

Selected Consolidated Operating Data

Year Ended October 31,

2002 @® 2001 ® 2000 1999 1998
Operating Data:

Funeral homes in operation at end of period . . . . 307 516 627 635 558
At-need funerals performed .. ........ ... ... 71,897 103,952 111,136 111,250 87,653
Prearranged funerals performed ............. 24314 26,682 27,042 26,490 23,563
Total funerals performed . . ... . ... .. .... 96,211 130,634 138,178 137,740 111,216
Prearranged funeraissold .................. 31,270 36,417 48,844 58,430 59,112

Backlog of prearranged funerals at
endofperiod ............ .. ... . ..... 349,110 392,986 446,158 436,499 391,226
Cemeteries in operation at end of period . . .. . .. 150 159 163 157 140
Interments performed ............. ... ..... 57,405 61,034 60,636 57,263 49,650

(O]

@

&)

@)

)

Effective November 1, 2001, we implemented Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” which eliminated the amortization of goodwill. Effective November 1, 2000, we changed our methods of
accounting for prearranged sales activities in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SARB™) No. 101 (2001 change in accounting
principles). Effective November 1, 1998, we changed our method of accounting for earnings realized on our irrevocable prearranged
funeral trust funds and escrow accounts (1999 change in accounting principle). For further details, see Note 3 to our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8. Information presented for fiscal year 2002 reflects the implementation of SFAS No. 142,
information for fiscal year 2001 reflects the 2001 change in accounting principles; information presented for fiscal years 2000 and
1999 reflects the 1999 change in accounting principle; information presented for fiscal year 1998 reflects the accounting principles
in effect in that year.

We have identified factors that are anticipated to impact fiscal year 2003 and that will cause variances from our fiscal year 2002 results
in the section entitled “Forward-Looking Statements™ in Item 7.

In the third quarter of 2002, primarily as a result of the significant devaluation of the Argentine peso and the depressed economic
conditions in Argentina, we re-evaluated the expected loss on the disposition of assets held for saie, and we incurred a noncash charge
of $18.5 million ($11.2 million or $.10 per share after tax). See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8.
In the third quarter of 2001, we incurred a noncash charge of $269.2 million ($205.1 million or $1.91 per share, after tax) primarily
related to the writedown of assets held for sale to their estimated fair values. See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements
included in Item 8.

During the third quarter of fiscal year 2001, we incurred an extraordinary charge to earnings for the early extinguishment of debt in
connection with our debt refinancing that occurred in June 2001. See Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included in
Item 8.
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Includes a nonrecurring, noncash charge of $76.8 million (350.3 million, or $.51 per share, after tax) recorded during the second
quarter of fiscal year 1998 in connection with the vesting of performance-based stock options.

The pro forma data presented for fiscal years 1998, 1999 and 2000 are reported as if the 2001 change in accounting principles had
occurred at the beginning of each of these years. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations - Overview of Fiscal Year 2002” included in Item 7 for earnings per share for fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002
presented on a proforma basis as if SAB No. 101 and SFAS No. 142 were adopted at the beginning of fiscal year 2000 and excluding
the losses on assets held for sale and other charges from fiscal years 2001 and 2002.

During fiscal year 2002, we sold our operations in Spain, Portugal, France, Canada and Argentina, which consisted of 196 funeral
homes and 8 cemeteries. As of October 31, 2002, all of our foreign sales had been completed. This resulted in a decrease in assets,
the number of funerals and interments performed and the backlog, We used the proceeds from the sales along with cash flow to reduce
our long-term debt.

As of October 31, 2001, assets increased and shareholders’ equity decreased as compared to October 31, 2000 due in part to the 2001
change in accounting principles and the writedown of assets held for sale to their estimated fair values. See Note 3 and Note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements. Offsetting the increase to assets from the change in accounting principles was the sale of our
operations in Mexico, Australia, New Zealand, Belgium and the Netherlands, which consisted of 94 funeral homes and 2 cemeteries.
We used these proceeds, along with cash flow and the proceeds from the sale of some domestic assets, to reduce our long-term debt.
The October 31,2001 long-term debt, less current maturities balance excludes $2.6 million of debt associated with assets held for sale.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview of Fiscal Year 2002

With the sale of our foreign operations completed in fiscal year 2002, our debt restructuring completed in June of 2001,
significant progress made in our cash flow initiatives in fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002, and our debt target of $500
mullion approaching, we are now positioned to shift to a business model of disciplined and balanced internal and external
growth beginning in 2003.

During fiscal year 2002, we continued to focus on the initiatives begun in fiscal year 2000 by completing the sale of our
foreign operations and using the proceeds from these sales and cash flow to reduce our debt by $142 million. As of October
31,2002, we had $551.9 million of debt outstanding. We expect to use the future income tax benefits associated with the
sale of our foreign operations and less than $10 million of our cash flow to reduce our debt to our target of $500 million
during fiscal year 2003 or 2004 depending upon the timing of our realization of the tax benefits.

In the third quarter of 2001, primarily as a result of writing our foreign assets and other domestic assets held for sale
to therr estimated fair value, we incurred an aggregate pretax noncash charge to earnings of $269.2 million. During fiscal
year 2002, we re-evaluated the expected loss on the disposition of the assets held for sale, primarily as a result of the
significant devaluation of the Argentine peso and the depressed economic conditions in Argentina, resulting in an aggregate
pretax noncash charge to earnings of $18.5 million in the third quarter of 2002. For our discussion of losses on assets held
for sale and other charges, see Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8.

The comparability of our results for fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002 has been affected by several significant items.
As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, SAB No. 101 was adopted at the
beginning of fiscal year 2001, and SFAS No. 142 was adopted at the beginning of fiscal year 2002. In our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8, results reported for the year ended October 31, 2002, after the implementation of
SFAS No. 142 and SAB No. 101, are compared with the results for the year ended October 31, 2001, as reported, which
do not reflect the implementation of SFAS No. 142, and compared with the results for the year ended October 31, 2000, as
reported, which do not reflect the implementation of SFAS No. 142 or SAB No. 101. For the year ended October 31, 2001,
net earnings also reflect noncash charges for the curnulative effect of the accounting change related to SAB No. 101 and for
the early extinguishment of debt in connection with our debt refinancing in June 2001. For a discussion of the debt
refinancing, see Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Additionally, as discussed above, as
part of our strategy to reduce debt and focus on our core businesses, we sold our foreign operations and other domestic assets
and recorded losses and other charges in fiscal years 2002 and 2001, as described in Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8.

The following reconciliation of pro forma diluted earnings per common share to reported diluted earnings (loss) per
common share 1s provided to show the impact on our reported diluted earnings (loss) per common share of the items
described in the preceding paragraph. For the year ended October 31, 2000, our pro forma diluted earnings per common
share are adjusted to show the effects of SAB No. 101 and the effects of SFAS No. 142, as if both accounting principles had
been adopted at the beginning of that year. Likewise, our pro forma diluted earnings per common share for the year ended
October 31, 2001 are adjusted on a pro forma basis to show the effects of SFAS No. 142, as if it had been adopted at the
beginmng of that year.
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Reconciliation of Pro Forma Diluted Earnings Per Common Share to Reported Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Common

Share

Year Ended October 31,
2002 2001 2000
Pro forma diluted earnings per common share before loss on assets
held for sale and other charges, extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principles, excluding goodwill
amortization and adjusted for SABNo. 101 ... ... ... . ... ... £ 40 $ 65 $ 71
Effectof SABNo. 101 ... ... .. . . — — .09
Goodwill amortization .. ........ ... ... .. ... .. — (17 17
Pro forma diluted earnings per common share before loss on assets
held for sale and other charges, extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principles, not adjusted for goodwill
amortization and SABNo. 101 .. ... ... .. ... ... ... ..., 40 .48 .63
Loss on assets held for sale and other charges . .. .......... ... ... (11) (1.9 —
Eamings (loss) per common share before extraordinary
itern and cumulative effect of change in accounting principles . . .. 29 (1.43) .63
Extraordinary item - early extinguishment of debt ... ... ... ... ... — (09 —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles . . ........ ... — (2.33) —
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share, asreported .. ....... ... ... $§ 29 $ (38D $ 63
General

Founded in 1910, Stewart Enterprises is the third largest provider of funeral and cemetery products and services in the
death care industry in the United States. As of January 10, 2003, we operated 306 funeral homes and 149 cemeteries in 29
states within the United States and in Puerto Rico.

As described in “Operations,” we sell cemetery property and funeral and cemetery products and services both at the
time of need and on a preneed basis. Our revenues in each period are derived primarily from at-need sales, preneed sales
delivered out of our backlog during the period (including the accumulated trust fund earnings or buildup in the face value
of insurance contracts related to these preneed deliveries), preneed cemetery property sales and other items such as perpetual
care earnings and finance charges.

Preneed Sales

As described in “Competitive Strengths - Expertise in preneed sales, strong backlog” and “Business Strategy - Maintain
backlog through preneed marketing,” we consider maintaining our preneed backlog through preneed marketing and sales
to be an integral part of our long-term business strategy. Our primary objective is to produce prenced sales levels sufficient
to balance our cash investment with our goal of maintaining a sustainable and predictable level of growth in our preneed
backlog. Our current goal is to make four preneed funeral sales for every three we deliver.

Revenue from preneed sales delivered from our backlog includes accumulated realized trust fund earnings (consisting
of dividends, interest and net realized capital gains) or buildup in the face value of insurance contracts related to these
deliveries. Additionally, we receive revenue from perpetual care earnings, which 1s used to fund maintenance of our cemetery
grounds. Income from funds, especially those invested partially in common stock, can be materially affected by prevailing
interest rates and the performance of the stock market. In managing trust and escrow funds, which include significant
investments in common stock, we have historically sought, and from 1991 through 1999 were successful in achieving, an
overall annual return of approximately 8.0 to 9.0 percent, which was well in excess of the inflation rate over that period of
time. We did not achieve that goal 1n fiscal years 2000, 2001 or 2002. In fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002, our overall
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realized domestic returns were 5.8 percent, 6.3 percent and 4.3 percent, respectively, which still exceeded the inflation rates
in those years. Our goal for fiscal year 2003 1s to achieve an overall return of 6.0 percent, and our long-term goal is to return
10 an 8.0 to 9.0 percent return. No assurance can be given, however, that we will be successful in achieving any particular
return.

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, preneed funeral and preneed cemetery merchandise trust
funds and escrow accounts had net unrealized depreciation of $116.8 million and $60.0 million, respectively, as of October
31,2002. Unrealized gains and losses in the funeral trust funds and cemetery merchandise trust funds have no immediate
impact on our revenues, margins, earnings or cash flow, unless the fair market value of the funds were to decline below the
estimated costs to deliver the underlying products and services. If that were to occur, we would record a charge to earnings
to record the expected loss currently. Over time, gains and losses realized in the funds are allocated to underlying preneed
contracts and affect the amount of trust fund earnings to be recognized when we deliver the underlying product or service.
Accordingly, if current market conditions do not improve, the funds may eventually realize losses and our revenues, margins,
earnings and cash flow would be negatively affected by the reduced revenue when we deliver the underlying products and
services. We estimate that with approximately 3.0 percent to 5.0 percent annual returns in the funds over the estimated lives
of the associated preneed contracts, our trust and escrow funds would recover the net unrealized depreciation currently in
the funds by the time the underlying products and services are delivered.

We estimate that as of October 31, 2002 the future value of our preneed backlog represented between $2.1 billion and
$2.2 billion of revenue to be recognized 1n the future as these prepaid products and services are delivered. This represents
the face value of the backlog plus the earnings that are projected on the funds held in trust and a build-up in the face value
of insurance contracts. It assumes no future preneed sales and assumes maturities each year consistent with our experience,
with the majority of existing contracts maturing over the next 15 years. As of October 31, 2002, the value of the preneed
backlog, excluding any future earnings on the funds held in trust and any build-up in the face value of insurance contracts,
but including earnings and losses realized to date on the funds held in trust, was approximately $1.6 billion.

Preneed property, products and services are typically sold on an installment basis with terms of approximately three to
five years. In fiscal year 2000, we changed the terms and conditions of our preneed sales contracts and commissions, and
moderated our preneed sales activities, in order to enhance our cash flow. These changes are described in more detail under
the heading, “Results of Operations - Year Ended October 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended October 31, 2000 - Cemetery
Segment” below.

With respect to the sale of cemetery property, whether preneed or at-need, we are generally required by state law to
place into a perpetual care trust, a portion, usually 10 percent, of the proceeds we receive in order to fund maintenance of
the cemetery grounds. As payments are received, we generally fund the perpetual care trust in the same proportion as the
payment bears to the contract amount; for example, if we receive 20 percent of the contract price, we place in trust 20
percent of the total amount to be placed in trust for that contract. We withdraw realized earnings, including net realized
capital gains in some jurisdictions, on these funds to use towards the maintenance of our cemeteries, but principal must
generally be held in the trust in perpetuity.

With respect to the preneed sale of cemetery and funeral products and services, state laws generally require either (1)
a portion of the installment payments received be placed into a trust fund or (2) the use of an insurance policy underwritten
by an insurance company to provide funds to cover the costs of delivering funeral products and services in the future. With
respect to the preneed sale of cemetery merchandise, we are generally required to place in trust 30 to 50 percent of each
installment received. With respect to the preneed sale of funeral and cemetery services, we are generally required to place
in trust 70 to 90 percent of each installment received. The sale of caskets is treated in some jurisdictions in the same manner
as the sale of cemetery merchandise and in some jurisdictions in the same manner as the sale of funeral services for these
purposes. When insurance 1s used, we apply customer payments to pay premiums on the insurance policies. We typically
act as agent for the insurance company and earn a commission. Generally, we can withdraw the principal of and earnings
on the funds placed in trust only at the time that the related products and services are delivered.
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Implementation of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101

Effective November 1, 2000, we implemented Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101 (“SAB No. 101,”) “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements,” which resulted in changing our methods of accounting for preneed sales activities.
The effect of the change in accounting principles is described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. A

description of our current accounting for preneed sales and trust and escrow account earnings after implementation of SAB
No. 101 follows.

Summary of Current Accounting for Preneed Sales

We sell prearranged funeral services and preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise under contracts that provide for
delivery of the services and merchandise at the time of death.

Revenue from preneed sales of services and merchandise is deferred until the period in which the service is performed
and the merchandise is delivered. On the balance sheet, the full contract amount is included in prearranged deferred revenue,
net (hiability). The corresponding receivable due from the customer is reflected in prearranged receivables, net (asset), and
the corresponding cash received from the customer is reflected part in prearranged receivables (for the portion placed in
trust) and part in cash (for the portion we are allowed to retain). The costs to acquire the sales, primarily commissions and
other direct costs, are reflected on the balance sheet as deferred charges (asset) and are charged to expense as the services
are performed and products delivered. Indirect costs of marketing preneed services and merchandise are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

As the customer makes payments on the preneed contract, the portion of prearranged receivables representing the
receivable due from the customer declines, and the portion representing the receivable from the trust increases. We record
cash for the amount of cash received that 1s not required to be placed in trust. Realized eamings on the amounts held in trust
represent a debit to prearranged receivables (asset) and a credit to prearranged deferred revenue (liability) and are not
recognized as revenue until delivery of the service or merchandise.

When the service or merchandise is delivered, we recognize as revenue the full contract amount plus all trust earnings
associated with that contract, with a corresponding reduction recorded to prearranged deferred revenue (liability). We debit
cash with the amount removed from trust that is attributable to the contract (consisting of the customer’s payments and
related realized earnings, all of which 1s withdrawn at that time) and record a corresponding reduction in prearranged
receivables (asset). Associated deferred charges (asset) are expensed, and the actual expenses incurred in delivering the
services and merchandise are recogmized.

Additional information about our prearranged receivables and prearranged deferred revenue is contained in Note 4 to
. our consolidated financial statements included in [tem 8.

For preneed sales of interment rights (cemetery property), the associated revenue and all costs to acquire the sale are
recognized in accordance with SFAS No. 66, “Accounting for Sales of Real Estate.” Under SFAS No. 66, recognition of
revenue and costs must be deferred until 10 percent of the property sales price has been collected. A portion, generally 10
percent, of the sale proceeds are placed into perpetual care trust funds. We withdraw and recognize realized earnings from
these funds on a monthly basis to offset the cost of maintaining our cemetery grounds. The perpetual care trust funds are
not reflected on the financial statements because principal must remain in the trust in perpetuity.

Some of our sales of preneed property, products and services are made under installment contracts bearing interest at

prevailing rates. Finance charges are recognized as revenue under the effective interest method over the terms of the related
installment receivables.

22-




Comrmissions and other direct costs that vary with and are primarily related to the acquisition of new prearranged
services and prearranged merchandise sales are deferred and amortized as the contracts are delivered in accordance with
SFAS No. 60, “Accounting and Reporting for Insurance Companies.” Indirect costs of marketing prearranged services are
expensed in the period in which incurred. All direct costs to acquire the sales of preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise
and services are included in deferred charges (asset). The costs to acquire all preneed merchandise and service sales are
included in the operating section of the cash flow statement as prearranged acquisition costs.

Prearranged services and merchandise generally are funded either through trust funds or escrow accounts established
by us or through third-party insurance companies. When prearranged services and merchandise are funded through
Insurance policies purchased by customers from third-party insurance comparies, we eam a commission on the sale of the
policies. Insurance commissions, net of related expenses, are recognized at the point at which the commission is no longer
subject to refund. Policy proceeds including the buildup in the face value of the insurance contracts are available to us as
services and merchandise are delivered.

Prearranged receivables are related to preneed sales of funeral and cemetery merchandise and services. Prearranged
receivables represent the funds owed to us (1) from preneed funeral merchandise and services trusts and from preneed
cemetery merchandise and services trusts, which represent amounts already paid by customers, and realized earnings on
those amounts, (2) from customers and (3) from nsurance companies. Prearranged deferred revenue represents the revenue
we will recognize upon delivery of the preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise and services at the time of need. The net
change in prearranged receivables and prearranged deferred revenue is recognized in the cash flow statement in the operating
section as a change in prearranged activity.

If a preneed funeral product or service contract is cancelled, we generally return to the customer the related principal
that was placed in trust and retain the portion not placed in trust. In many jurisdictions, we can withdraw and retain all
related earnings in the trust, but in other jurisdictions these earnings must be returned to the customer. If a preneed cemetery
property, product or service contract is cancelled, we generally are not required to return any funds to the customer.

The impact of preneed sales on near-term cash flow depends primarily on the commissions paid on the sale, the portion
of the sale required to be placed into trust and the terms of the particular contract (such as the size of the down payment
required and the length of the contract). We generally pay commissions to our preneed sales counselors based on a
percentage of the total preneed contract price, but only to the extent cash is paid by the customer. If the initial cash
installment paid by the customer 1s not sufficient to cover the entire commission, the remaining commission 1s paid from
subsequent customer installments. However, because we are required to place a portion of each cash instaliment paid by
the customer into trust, we may be required to use our own cash to cover a portion of the commission due on the installment
from the customer. Accordingly, preneed sales are generally cash flow negative initially but become cash flow positive at
varying times over the life of the contract, depending upon the trusting requirements and the terms of the particular contract.

Cash expended for prenced funeral and cemetery merchandise and service sales, principally sales commissions, is

capitalized in deferred charges on the balance sheet and amortized and expensed as cost of sales as the contracts are
delivered.

Summary of Current Accounting for Trust and Escrow Account Earnings

We have three types of trust funds and escrow accounts: (1) preneed funeral merchandise and services, (2) preneed
cemetery merchandise and services and (3) perpetual care. As described below, earnings on preneed funeral and cemetery
merchandise and services trust funds and escrow accounts are accounted for in the same manner. The accounting for

earnings on perpetual care trust funds differs from the other two types of trust funds due to the nature of the trusts, as
described below.
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Preneed funeral merchandise and services trust funds and escrow accounts. We defer recognition of all earnings realized

by preneed funeral merchandise and services trust funds and escrow accounts until the underlying funeral service or
merchandise is delivered. This accounting method was not affected by the implementation of SAB No. 101. We generally
do not withdraw cash (principal and earnings) from these trust funds and escrow accounts until the merchandise or service
is delivered. Principal and realized earnings in these funds and escrow accounts are reflected as prearranged receivables,
net (asset) on the balance sheet. The full contract amount and realized earnings in these funds and escrow accounts are
reflected as prearranged deferred revenue, net (liability) on the balance sheet. Unrealized gains and losses are not reflected
on the balance sheet or income statement but are included in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item
8.

Preneed cemetery merchandise and services trust funds and escrow accounts. As discussed above, effective November
1, 2000, we implemented SAB No. 101 and changed our method of accounting for earnings realized by preneed cemetery
merchandise and services trust funds and escrow accounts. We now defer all earnings realized by these trust funds and
escrow accounts until the underlying merchandise or service is delivered. We generally do not withdraw cash (principal and
earmings) from these trust funds and escrow accounts until the merchandise or service is delivered. Principal and realized
earnings in these funds and escrow accounts are reflected as prearranged receivables, net (asset) on the balance sheet. The
full contract amount and realized earnings in these funds and escrow accounts are reflected as prearranged deferred revenue,
net (liability) on the balance sheet. Unrealized gains and losses are not reflected on the balance sheet or income statement
but are included in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8.

Perpetual care trust funds. Pursuant to perpetual care contracts and laws, a portion, generally 10 percent, of the
proceeds from cemetery property sales 1s deposited into perpetual care trust funds. The income from these funds, which have
been established in most jurisdictions in which we operate cemeteries, is used for maintenance of our cemeteries, but
principal, including in some jurisdictions net realized capital gains, must generally be held in perpetuity. We recognize the
earmnings on our perpetual care trust funds as they are realized in the trust. This accounting method was not affected by the
implementation of SAB No. 101. We generally withdraw the earnings on a monthly basis to offset the cost of maintaining
our cemeteries. Principal in these funds 1s not reflected on the balance sheet because the principal must remain in the trust

1n perpetuity.

Overview of Critical Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, which require us to make estimates and assumptions (see Note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statements). We believe that of our significant accounting policies (discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements), the following are both most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and
require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgment.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Management must make estimates of the uncollectability of our accounts receivable. We establish a reserve for
uncollectible installment contracts and trade accounts based on a range of percentages applied to accounts receivable aging
categories. These percentages are based on historical collection and write-off experience. If circumstances change, our
estimates of the recoverability of amounts due to us could change by a material amount.

Depreciation of Long-Lived Assets
Buildings and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 19 to

45 years and from 3 to 10 years, respectively, primarily using the straight-line method. These estimates of the useful lives
may be affected by such factors as changes in regulatory requirements or changing market conditions.
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Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

We periodically review for continued appropriateness the carrying value of our long-lived assets including our
prearranged receivables, cemetery property and property, plant and equipment. This review is based on our projections of
anticipated undiscounted future cash flows. If indicators of impairment were present, we would evaluate the undiscounted
cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets compared to the carrying amount of those items. The net cartying value
of assets not recoverable would be reduced to fair value. While we believe that our estimates of undiscounted future cash
flows are reasonable, different assumptions regarding such cash flows could materially affect our evaluations. During the
fourth quarter of fiscal year 2002, we recorded a valuation allowance of $20.0 million related to our prearranged receivable
from our trust funds which resulted in a reduction in prearranged receivables and a reduction in prearranged deferred
revenue. See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8.

Valuation of Intangible Assets and Goodwill

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Although we are not required
to implement SFAS No. 142 until the first quarter of fiscal year 2003, we implemented it in the first quarter of fiscal year
2002. See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for a discussion of SFAS No. 142 and its impact on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Our evaluation of goodwill for our operations is performed at the funeral and cemetery segment levels, which constitute
our reporting units. With the adoption of SFAS No. 142, goodwill of a reporting unit must be tested for impairment on at
least an annual basis. Impairment losses are recognized when the estimated fair value of goodwill associated with all of our
cemeteries or funeral homes is less than their respective carrying values.

In addition to an annual review, we assess the impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets whenever events or
changes in circumnstances indicate that the carrying value may be greater than fair value. Factors we consider important that
could trigger an impairment review include the following:

« significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results,
« significant changes in the manner of the use of our assets or the strategy for our overall business; and
» significant negative industry or economic trends.

When we determine that the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets may be greater than fair value, we
measure any impairment based on our estimates of current fair value compared to the carrying value of the assets. If these
estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges for these assets.
Goodwill and other intangible assets amounted to $491.8 million as of October 31, 2002 and 2001.

Accounting for Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate our income taxes
in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating our actual cwrent tax expense together
with assessing temporary differences resulting from the different treatment of items, such as deferred revenue, for tax and
accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated
balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income,
and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish
a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a period, we must include an expense within the tax provision in the
statement of earnings.
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Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and
liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. Based on estimates of taxable income
in each jurisdiction in which we operate and the period over which deferred tax assets will be recoverable, we have not
recorded a valuation allowance as of October 31, 2002. In the event that actual results differ from these estimates or we
adjust these estimates in future periods, we may need to establish a valuation allowance, which could materially impact our
financial condition and results of operations.

Results of Operations

Because we held our foreign operations and several small domestic operations for sale, in the third quarter of 2001 we
began segregating the operating results of these businesses from the operations we will retain. The following discussion
segregates the financial results into two main categories in order to present our ongoing operating results and to provide more
useful information for investors. “Operations to be Retained” consist of those businesses we have owned and operated for
the entire current fiscal year and last and that we plan to retain (“Existing Operations”) and those businesses that have been
opened during this fiscal year or last and that we plan to retain (“Opened Operations”). “Closed and Held for Sale
Operations” consist of those that have been sold or closed during this fiscal year or last and the businesses that are currently
being offered for sale.

Year Ended October 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended October 31, 2001

Funeral Segment

Year Ended
October 31, Increase
2002 2001 (Decrease)
(In millions)
FUNERAL — OPERATIONS TO BE RETAINED
Revenue
Existing operations . . .. .... .. ... ... $299.2 §$295.5 $ 37
Opened Operations . . ... ....... .. 33 3 3.0
$302.5 $295.8 $ 67
Costs
Existing operations . . ... ... ... $216.6 §$223.0 $ 6.4
Opened OPeTations . . . . ... ...t 3.0 4 2.6

$219.6 $22340 § (3.8

Gross Profit
Existing operations . ... ... .. ... $ 826 $ 725 $ 10.1
Opened operations . . ... ... .. .. 3 (@) 4

$ 829 §$ 7249 $10.5W

FUNERAL — CLOSED AND HELD FOR SALE OPERATIONS

Revenue ... ... . . . .. $ 427 §$114.5 $(71.8)
COStS o 37.4 95.2® (57.8)%
Gross Profit . . .. ... $ 53 $ 1930 $14.0
Total Funeral Revemue . . ... ........... ... ... .. ... .. '$3452  $410.3 $(65.1)
Total Funeral Costs . . . . . v v v o e e 257.0 318.6" (61.6)V
Total Funeral Gross Profit . . . ............ ... ... ... ... .... $ 882 § 917 § (3.5™

@ Funeral costs for Operations to be Retained and Closed and Held for Sale Operations for the year ended October 31,
2001 include $9.2 million and $4.8 million of goodwill amortization, respectively, for a total of $14.0 million of
goodwill amortization included in total funeral costs. Excluding goodwill amortization, funeral gross profit for
Operations to be Retained for 2002 increased by $1.3 million when compared to the year ended October 31, 2001, and
total funeral gross profit for 2002 decreased by $17.5 million when compared to the corresponding period in 2001.
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Total funeral revenue decreased $65.1 million for the year ended October 31, 2002 compared to the corresponding
period in 2001 primanily due to a decrease in revenue from Closed and Held for Sale Operations, which was partially offset
by an increase in revenue from Operations to be Retained. The decline in revenue from Closed and Held for Sale Operations
resulted primarily from the sale of our operations in Mexico, Australia, New Zealand, Belgium and the Netherlands in the
fourth quarter of 2001 and the sale of our operations in Spain, Portugal, France, Canada and Argentina in fiscal year 2002.

Funeral revenue from Operations to be Retained increased $6.7 million, or 2 percent, for the year ended October 31,
2002, compared to the corresponding period in 2001, The average revenue per funeral service performed by these
businesses increased 3.2 percent, partially offset by a .2 percent decline (120 events) in the number of funeral services
performed. We experienced a $3.7 million, or 1 percent, increase in funeral revenue from Existing Operations primarily
due to a 3.5 percent increase in the average revenue per funeral service performed, partially offset by a 1.5 percent decline
(1,105 events) in the number of funeral services performed by these businesses. The increase in average revenue per funeral
service is due primarily to customized funeral planning and personalization.

We experienced a $3.0 million increase in funeral revenue and a $2.6 million increase in funeral costs from Opened
Operations primarily due to the operung of an Archdiocese of Los Angeles facility which was not open for the entirety of both
periods presented.

Funeral gross profit margin from Existing Operations increased from 24.5 percent for the year ended October 31, 2001
to 27.6 percent for the corresponding period in 2002. This increase is due to the elimination of goodwill amortization from
the implementation of SFAS No. 142. If we had implemented SFAS Ne. 142 in 2001, the pro forma funeral gross profit
margin from Existing Operations adjusted for the elimination of goodwill amortization would have been 27.6 percent for
the year ended October 31, 2001, Goodwill amortization for Existing Operations in the funeral segment amounted to §9.2
million for the year ended October 31, 2001. The cremation rate for our Existing Operations was 38.5 percent for the year
ended October 31, 2002.

Cemetery Segment
Year Ended
October 31, Increase
2002 2001 (Decrease)
(In millions)
CEMETERY — OPERATIONS TO BE RETAINED
Revenue

EXiSting operations . . . ... ... ... ... $231.6 $248.1 $(16.5)
Opened operations . . ... .. ... — — —

$231.6 $248.1 $(16.5)

Costs
Existing operations . .. . ... ... .. ... ... . $174.2 $1842 $(10.0)
Opened operations . . . . ... ... ... .. — —

$174.2 $184.2¢ $(10.00"

Gross Profit
Existing operations . . . . ... ... .. ... ... $ 574 % 639 $ (6.5)
Opened operations . ... ... ... ... ... — —

$ 574 8 63.9% § (6.5

CEMETERY — CLOSED AND HELD FOR SALE OPERATIONS

Revenue . ... . . ... $ 45 $ 85 $ 4.0
COSIS . o o o 5.3 12.90 (7.6)"

Gross Profit . .. .. .. $ (8 $ (44" $ 360

Total Cemetery Revenue .. . ... .. ... .............. .. $236.1 $256.6 $(20.5)
Total Cemetery COSIS . . . . . . o0 vt 179.5 197.1® (17.609

Total Cemetery Gross Profit . .. ... ... ... .. .............. $ 566 $ 5950 § 2.9
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M Cemetery costs for Operations to be Retained and Closed and Held for Sale Operations for the year ended
October 31, 2001 include $4.8 million and $.5 million of goodwill amortization, respectively, for a total of $5.3 million
of goodwill amortization included in total cemetery costs. Excluding goodwill amortization, cemetery gross profit for
Operations to be Retained for 2002 decreased by $11.3 million when compared to the year ended October 31, 2001,
and total cemetery gross profit for 2002 declined by $8.2 million when compared to the corresponding period in 2001,

Total cemetery revenue decreased $20.5 million, or 8 percent, for the year ended October 31, 2002, compared to the
corresponding period in 2001. We experienced a $16.5 million, or 7 percent, decrease in revenue from Operations to be
Retained primarily due to a reduction in preneed cemetery property sales and merchandise deliveries and a decline in the
average retumn earmed on perpetual care trust funds. We experienced an annual average return of 6.0 percent in our perpetual
care trust funds for the year ended October 31, 2002, compared to 7.1 percent for the corresponding period in 2001. We
also experienced & $4.0 million decline in revenue from Closed and Held for Sale Operations primarily related to the sale
of our foreign operations.

Cemetery gross profit margin from Existing Operations decreased from 25.8 percent for the year ended October 31,
2001 to 24.8 percent for the corresponding period in 2002. The decrease is due to the decline in preneed cemetery property
sales and merchandise deliveries and the decrease in perpetual care trust earnings coupled with the high fixed-cost nature
of the cemetery business. The decrease was moderated by the elimination of goodwill amortization from the implementation
of SFAS No. 142. If we had implemented SFAS No. 142 in 2001, the pro forma cemetery gross profit margin from Existing
Operations adjusted for the elimination of goodwill amortization would have been 27.7 percent for the year ended October
31, 2001. Goodwill amortization for Existing Operations in the cemetery segment amounted to $4.8 million for the year
ended October 31, 2001.

Other

Corporate general and administrative expenses for the year ended October 31, 2002 decreased $.8 million compared
to the same period in 2001 primarily due to a reduction in professional and consulting fees partially offset by expenses
associated with the Stewart Enterprises, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the “SERP”), which was adopted
effective April 1, 2002. The SERP provides retirement benefits to certain executive officers that are intended to supplement
the benefits available under the Company’s 401(k) Plan and in part replace other benefits previously available under the
executive officers” employment agreements. Adoption of the SERP resulted in a charge to corporate general and
administrative expenses of $1.1 million for fiscal year 2002 and 1s expected to result in a charge of approximately $1.9
million annually.

Depreciation and amortization was $56.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2002 compared to $79.2 mullion for
the same period in 2001, which included $19.3 million of goodwill amortization. The decrease in depreciation and
amortization is due to the implementation of SFAS No. 142 and the sale of certain of our foreign assets. Domestic
depreciation and amortization, which is representative of Operations to be Retained, was $54.5 million for fiscal year 2002
compared to $69.6 million for the same period in 2001, which included $14.4 million of domestic goodwill amortization.

Excluding the loss on assets held for sale and other charges, EBITDA (defined as earnings before interest expense,
taxes, depreciation and amortization) was $186.3 million, or 32.0 percent of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2002
compared to $224.7 mullion, or 33.7 percent of revenue for the same period in 2001. Excluding the loss on assets held for
sale and other charges, domestic EBITDA, which is fairly representative of Operations to be Retained, was $179.3 million,
or 33.3 percent of domestic revenue for the year ended October 31, 2002 compared to $195.8 million, or 35.5 percent of
domestic revenue for the same period in 2001. The decrease in domestic EBITDA is primarily due to decreases in
cemetery gross profit, investment income and other income. EBITDA is frequently used by security analysts and is
presented here to provide additional information about our operations. EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative
to net eamnings, as an indicator of our operating performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a better measure of liquidity.
EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure and may not be comparable as calculated by us to EBITDA as calculated by other
companies,
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Interest expense decreased $1.3 million to $62.3 million for the year ended October 31, 2002 compared to $63.6 million
for the same period in 2001. The decrease is due to a $192.9 million decrease in the average debt outstanding during the
fiscal year ended October 31, 2002, offset by an approximate 194 basis point increase in our average interest rate. The
increase in our average interest rate resulted from higher interest costs associated with debt incurred in our debt refinancing
transactions which occurred on June 29, 2001.

[nvestment income decreased $4.7 million to $.5 million for the year ended October 31, 2002 compared to the same
period in 2001, This decrease is due primarily to a $53.1 million decrease in the average cash and cash equivalents balance
and a decrease in the average investment rate earned on our cash and cash equivalent investments from 6.3 percent to 1.8
percent. The 6.3 percent eamed for the year ended October 31, 2001 included returns on funds in foreign jurisdictions that
earned 9.0 percent. The majority of the funds n foreign jurisdictions were sold with our Mexican operations.

Other income, net, decreased $5.0 million to $2.1 mullion during the vear ended October 31, 2002 compared to the same
period in 2001, The decrease is principally due to the net gains on the sale of excess cemetery property and other domestic
assets during 2001.

As of October 31, 2002, our outstanding debt was $551.9 million. Of the total amount outstanding, including the
portion subject to the interest rate swap agreements in effect as of October 31, 2002, approximately 94 percent was fixed-
rate debt, with the remaining 6 percent subject to a short-term variable interest rate of approximately 5.1 percent.

In order to hedge a portion of the interest rate risk associated with our variable-rate debt, effective March 11, 2002, we
entered into two interest rate swap agreements, expiring on March 11, 2004 and March 11, 2005, each involving a notional
amount of $50.0 million. The agreements effectively convert variable-rate debt bearing interest based on three-month
LIBOR plus the applicable margin specified under our senior secured credit facility to fixed-rate debt bearing interest at the
fixed swap rate plus such applicable margin. As of January 10, 2003, the effective rate of the debt hedged by the interest
rate swaps was 7.025 percent and 7.64 percent on each $50.0 million swapped.

Preneed Sales

The revenues from our domestic preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise and service sales are deferred into our
backlog and are not included in our operating results above. We added $169.4 million in preneed sales to our funeral and
cemetery merchandise and service backlog during the year ended October 31, 2002 to be recognized in the future as these
prepaid products and services are delivered, compared to $162.0 million for the corresponding period in 2001,

Year Ended October 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended October 31, 2000

We implemented SAB No. 101 in fiscal year 2001. In the following discussion, the results for the year ended October
31, 2001, as reported after the implementation of SAB No. 101, are compared with the results for the year ended October
31, 2000, as reported, which do not reflect the implementation of SAB No. 101. We have also included a pro forma
comparison using the same accounting methods for both years. For the pro forma discussion, the year ended October 31,
2001 1s presented as reported after the implementation of SAB No. 101, and the year ended October 31, 2000 is adjusted
on a pro forma basis to show the effects of SAB No. 101, as if it had been adopted at the beginning of that year.
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Funeral Segment

Year Ended
October 31,
2001 2000 Decrease
(As reported)
(In millions)
Funeral Revenue .. ... .. .. . ... ... . $ 4103 $ 4519 § (416)
Funeral Costs .. ... ... . . . . . . 318.6 3352 (16.6)
Funeral Gross Profit ... ... ... .. ... $ 917 $1167 $ (250

Funeral revenue decreased $41.6 million, or 9 percent, for the year ended October 31, 2001, compared to the
corresponding period in 2000. We experienced a $26.4 million, or 6 percent, decrease due to the effect of implementing
SAB No. 101. Additionally, during fiscal year 2001, we sold several of our foreign operations with the remainder held for
sale, and several small domestic operations have either been sold or are held for sale. This resulted in a decline in funeral
revenue and costs as described below in the section entitled “Year Ended October 31, 2001 Compared to Pro Forma Year
Ended October 31, 2000.” Slightly offsetting these decreases was an increase in the average revenue per funeral service
performed by Operations to be Retained of 1.4 percent and an increase of 1.1 percent in the number of funeral services
performed by Operations to be Retained (821 events).

Cemetery Segment

Year Ended
October 31,
2001 2000 Decrease
(As reported)
(Im millions)
Cemetery Revenue . ........... ... ... ... ... ... ... $2566 $ 2829 $(26.3)
Cemetery COSIS . . ..o 197.1 220.6 (23.5)
Cemetery GrossProfit . ......... ... ... . ... ... .. ... ... $§ 595 § 623 $ 28

Cemetery revenue decreased $26.3 million, or 9 percent, for the year ended October 31, 2001, compared to the
corresponding pertod 1in 2000. We experienced a decrease in cemetery merchandise deliveries and reduced preneed
cemetery property sales. We also experienced an average return of 7.1 percent in our perpetual care trust funds, which is
below our goal of 8.0 percent to 9.0 percent, compared to 8.0 percent in fiscal year 2000. Partially offsetting this decrease
was a $4.9 million, or 2 percent, increase due to the implementation of SAB No. 101,

In fiscal year 2000 we changed the terms and conditions of our preneed sales contracts and commissions and moderated
our preneed sales activities in order to enhance our cash flow. This resulted in an anticipated reduction in preneed sales,
including preneed cemetery property sales mentioned above. We modified our preneed payment plans early in fiscal year
2000 by increasing finance charges, requiring larger down payments and shortening installment payment terms. Effective
the first day of the fourth quarter of fiscal vear 2000, we also substantially reduced the commissions paid on sales of preneed
cemetery services and preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise, which we believe had the largest impact on preneed sales.
Although we reduced or eliminated commissions available to preneed sales counselors on certain sales, we now provide a
minimum compensation guarantee. The change in commission structure provides an incentive to preneed sales counselors
to focus on selling preneed cemetery property and preneed funeral services. We believe that these are the sales that build
and maintain market share. In addition, the change better aligned operations with changes in accounting necessitated by the
adoption of SAB No. 101 because, after the implementation of SAB No. 101, preneed cemetery property sales are the only
preneed sales that we recognize on a current basis (after collection of 10 percent of the sales price). We also believe that
these changes have improved the quality of preneed sales and receivables. These changes in preneed sales strategies
contributed to a decline in the full-time domestic preneed sales force from approximately 2,200 counselors during the first
quarter of fiscal year 2000 to 1,300 counselors by the end of fiscal year 2001. We believe that we have retained our best
sales counselors. We have also reduced our selling costs by closing selected telemarketing and sales offices.

Other

Corporate general and administrative expenses in 2001 decreased $1.7 million as compared to 2000 primarily due to
consulting fees incurred in 2000 related to our extensive consumer market research project.
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Interest expense increased $2.2 million to $63.6 million for the year ended October 31, 2001 compared to $61.4 million
for the same period in 2000. The increase is due to a 98 basis point increase in the average interest rate resulting from higher
interest costs associated with debt incurred in our debt refinancing transactions. This increase was substantially offset by
a $114.5 million decrease in the average outstanding debt balance.

Investment income increased $.1 million to $5.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2001 compared to the same
period in 2000. This increase resulted from cash and cash equivalent investments earning an average rate of 6.3 percent
including funds in foreign jurisdictions earning 9.0 percent.

Other income, net, increased approximately $4.9 million during fiscal year 2001 compared to the same period in 2000
due principally to net gains on the sale of excess cemetery property.

In December 1998, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement on a notional amount of $200 million. Under the
terms of the agreement, effective March 4, 1999, we pay a fixed rate of 4.915 percent and receive three-month LIBOR. The
swap expires on March 4, 2002, at which time the $200 million becomes subject to short-term variable interest rates.

As of October 31, 2001, our outstanding debt totaled $693.5 million, including $2.6 million of debt associated with
assets held for sale. Of the total amount outstanding, including the portion subject to the interest rate swap agreement,

approximately 90 percent was fixed-rate debt, with the remaining 10 percent subject to short-term variable interest rates
averaging approximately 5.6 percent.

Year Ended October 31, 2001 Compared 1o Pro Forma Year Ended October 31, 2000

Funeral Segment

Year Ended
October 31, Increase
2001 2000 (Decrease)
(Pro Forma)
FUNERAL — OPERATIONS TQ BE RETAINED (In milliors)
Revenue
Existing Operations .. .............. . v $ 2893 $2876 $§ 17
Opened Operations . .................. ... ... ... ... .. ... 8.0 1.9 6.1

$2973 §2895 $§ 78

Costs

Existing Operations ........... ... .. ... .. ... ... ... . ... .. $2169 $2072 $ 97
Opened Operations . ............ .. i 8.4 22 6.2

$2253 $2094 $§ 159

Gross Profit
Existing Operations . ............. ... ... ... ... ... .. ... .. .. $ 724 % 804 $ B8O

Opened Operations . ................. ... ... ... ... ... ... &) (3 D
$ 720 § 80.1 $ 8D

FUNERAL — CLOSED AND HELD FOR SALE OPERATIONS

..................................................... $113.0 $136.0 $(23.0)
CoStS .. T 93.3 113.7 (20.4)

Gross Profit .. ... . $ 197 § 223 $ (2.6
Total Funeral Revenue . ... ... ... ... .. ... .. .. ... ... ... . ... $ 4103  $4255 $(15.2)
Total Funeral Costs ... ... ... .. . .. .. . 318.6 323.1 4.5

....................................... $ 917 $1024  $(10.7)

Total funeral revenues declined $15.2 million from fiscal year 2000 to 2001, primarily due to a decrease in revenue
from Closed and Held for Sale Operations, which was partially offset by an increase in revenue from Operations to be
Retained. This decrease in revenue from Closed and Held for Sale Operations resulted from the sale of operations in Mexico,
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Australia, New Zealand, Belgium and the Netherlands in the fourth quarter of 2001 and changes in foreign currency
exchange rates (due in part to the Euro).

Funeral revenue from Operations to be Retained increased $7.8 million, or 3 percent, for the year ended October 31,
2001, compared to the corresponding period in 2000. The average revenue per funeral service performed by these
businesses increased 1.4 percent, and the number of funeral services performed by these businesses increased 1.1 percent
(821 events).

We experienced a $1.7 million, or 1 percent, increase in funeral revenue from Existing Operations primarily due to a
1.7 percent increase in the average revenue per funeral service partially offset by a 1.2 percent decline (905 events) in the
number of funeral services performed by these businesses. About 40 percent of the decline in the number of funeral services
performed by Existing Operations was attributable to a decline in low-priced services that we elected to stop performing.
'Excluding these low-priced services, the number of funeral services performed by our existing funeral homes declined less
than one percent, or one to two funerals per location. These low-priced services consist primarily of services performed in
the ordinary course of business in the industry on behalf of another funeral home or institution, and we believe they are not
indicative of a loss in market share.

We experienced a $6.1 million increase in funeral revenue and a $6.2 mullion increase in funeral costs from Opened
Operations primarily due to the opening of the Archdiocese of Los Angeles facilities which were not open for the entirety
of both periods presented.

Funeral gross profit margin from Existing Operations decreased from 28.0 percent in 2000 to 25.0 percent in 2001
primarily due to upward pressure on funeral costs, including labor costs, of approximately $6.8 million as well as an increase
in overhead costs allocated to the funeral segment of approximately $2.9 million. We allocate common overhead between
our segments based on revenue. Due to the moderation in preneed cemetery sales discussed above, the allocation has shifted
a higher amount of those costs to the funeral segment and a corresponding lower amount to the cemetery segment.
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Cemetery Segment

Year Ended
October 31, Increase
2001 2000 (Decrease)
(Pro Forma)
(In millions)
CEMETERY — OPERATIONS TO BE RETAINED
Revenue
Existing Operations .. ....... ... ... $2449 § 2712 $(26.3)
Acquired/Opened Operations . .............. ... ... ... ... ... 3.5 3.5 —
$2484 § 2747 $(263)
Costs
Existing Operations ... ............... it $ 1815 § 2091 $(27.6)

Acquired/Opened Operations .. ............. ... ... ............... 3.0 2.9 ]

§1845 §2120 $(27.5)

Gross Profit
Existing Operations .. ...t $ 634 § o621 $ 13
Acquired/Opened Operations . ..................... ... ... ... 5 6 D

$ 639 § 627 $ 12

CEMETERY — CLOSED AND HELD FOR SALE OPERATIONS

Revenue . ... ... . $ 82 § 131 $ @49
COSIS . - oo 12.6 13.9 (1.3)
Gross Profit ... . $ @44 $§ (B $ 36
Total Cemetery Revenue . ... ... . ... .. .. ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... $ 2566 $ 2878 $(31.2)
Total Cemetery Costs .. ... . 197.1 225.9 (28.8)
Total Cemetery Gross Profit .. ... ... ... .. .. .. ... . .. ... ... .. $ 595 § 619 $ 24

Cemetery revenue decreased $31.2 million, or 11 percent, for the year ended October 31, 2001, compared to the
corresponding period in 2000. We experienced a $26.3 million, or 10 percent, decrease in revenue from Operations to be
Retained due to a decline in revenue from Existing Operations resulting primarily from a decrease in cemetery merchandise
deliveries and reduced preneed cemetery property sales. The reduction in preneed sales was anticipated due to the changes
made to our preneed sales program 1n fiscal year 2000, as discussed above in the section entitled “Year Ended October 31,
2001 Compared to Year Ended October 31, 2000 - Cemetery Segment.” In addition, we experienced an average return of
7.1 percent in our perpetual care trust funds, which was below our goal of 8.0 percent to 9.0 percent, compared to 8.0
percent in fiscal year 2000.

Cemetery gross profit margin from Existing Operations increased from 22.9 percent in 2000 to 25.9 percent in 2001.
The increase was principally due to cost savings resulting from the changes we made in our preneed sales organization and
additional cost savings at our cemeteries arising from increased scrutiny of expenses by local managers. Additionally, the
cemetery margins benefited from the reduction in common overhead allocation mentioned in “Year Ended October 31, 2001
Compared to Pro Forma Year Ended October 31, 2000 - Funeral Segment.”

Other

Corporate general and administrative expenses in 2001 decreased $1.7 million as compared to 2000 primarily due to
consulting fees incurred in 2000 related to our extensive consumer market research project.

Depreciation and amortization was $79.2 million for fiscal year 2001 compared to pro forma $77.5 million for the same

period in 2000. Domestic depreciation and amortization, which is representative of Operations to be Retained, was $69.6
mullion for fiscal year 2001 compared to pro forma $66.5 million for the same period in 2000.
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EBITDA (defined as earmings before interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization excluding the noncash loss
on assets held for sale, the cumulative effect of change in accounting principles and extraordinary item) was $224.7 million,
or 33.7 percent of revenue for fiscal year 2001 compared to pro forma $229.4 million, or 32.2 percent of revenue for the
sarne period in 2000. Domestic EBITDA, which is representative of Operations to be Retained, was $195.8 million, or 35.5
percent of domestic revenue for fiscal year 2001 compared to pro forma $193.0 million, or 33.7 percent of domestic revenue
for the same period in 2000.

Interest expense increased $2.2 million to $63.6 million for the year ended October 31, 2001 compared to $61.4 million
for the same period in 2000. The increase is due to a 98 basis point increase in the average interest rate resulting from higher
interest costs associated with debt incurred in our debt refinancing transactions. This increase was substantially offset by
a $114.5 million decrease in the average outstanding debt balance.

Investment income increased $.1 million to $5.2 million for the year ended October 31, 2001 compared to the same
period in 2000, This increase resulted from cash and cash equivalent investments earning an average rate of 6.3 percent
including funds in foreign jurisdictions earning 9.0 percent.

Other mcome, net, increased approximately $4.9 million during fiscal year 2001 compared to the same period in 2000
due principally to net gains on the sale of excess cemetery property.

In December 1998, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement on a notional amount of $200 million. Under the
terms of the agreement, effective March 4, 1999, we pay a fixed rate of 4.915 percent and receive three-month LIBOR. The
swap expires on March 4, 2002, at which time the $200 million becomes subject to short-term variable interest rates.

As of October 31, 2001, our outstanding debt totaled $693.5 million, including $2.6 million of debt associated with
assets held for sale. Of the total amount outstanding, including the portion subject to the interest rate swap agreement,
approximately 90 percent was fixed-rate debt, with the remaining 10 percent subject to short-term variable interest rates
averaging approximately 5.6 percent.

Preneed Sales

In fiscal year 2000, we sold approximately two domestic funerals for every one that we delivered. Throughout fiscal
year 2000 we changed the terms and conditions of our preneed sales contracts and commissions as described above in the
section entitled “Year Ended Octaber 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended October 31, 2000 - Cemetery Segment.” [n fiscal
year 2001, we further moderated our preneed sales strategy in order to improve our cash flow and modified our goal to begin
selling four funerals for every three we delivered, which we achieved. Our domestic preneed funeral and cemetery
merchandise and service sales, the revenues from which are deferred and are not included in our operating results above,
decreased from $214.4 million for the year ended October 31, 2000 to $162.0 mullion for the corresponding period in 2001,

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Introduction

Historically, our growth has been primarily from acquisitions. This trend began to change in late fiscal year 1999. As
industry conditions reduced the number of major consolidators participating in the acquisition market, those that remained
generally applied significantly tighter pricing criteria, and many potential sellers withdrew their businesses from the market
rather than pursue transactions at lower prices. As the business model shifted, death care consolidators experienced
diminishing access to capital. In response to these changes, we ceased our acquisition activity and developed strategies for
improving cash flow and reducing and restructuring debt. Throughout fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002, we focused on debt
reduction and cash flow. During fiscal year 2002, we began positioning ourselves for business expansion in fiscal year 2003.
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Debt Restructuring and Reduction, Asset Sales

As described in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, on June 29, 2001, we completed
several transactions that refinanced substantially all of our long-term debt. In addition, in the third quarter of fiscal year
2001, we decided to pursue the sale of our foreign operations in order to generate cash to reduce debt and to allow us to focus
on our core businesses.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, we sold our foreign operations in Mexico, Australia, New Zealand, Belgium
and the Netherlands. During fiscal year 2002, we sold our remaining operations in Spain, Portugal, France, Canada and
Argentina. In total, these transactions have generated or will generate total proceeds, including future tax benefits, of
approximately $245.0 mullion, which s at the top end of our previously estimated range of $200.0 million to $250.0 million.
We have received $203.0 mullion in cash related to these sales and expect to realize the majority of the remaining proceeds
of approximately $42.0 million in income tax benefits during fiscal year 2003. All net proceeds related to the sale of foreign
operations have been used to repay debt. Additional information about our sale of foreign operations appears in Note 11
to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8.

Additionally, in fiscal year 2001, we realized $21.0 million in proceeds from the sale of certain domestic properties,
mcluding $13.5 million from the sale of excess cemetery property and approximately $7.5 million from the sale of funeral
home real estate and small domestic operations. These proceeds were used to reduce debt. We further reduced debt in fiscal
year 2002 with approximately $7.3 million in proceeds from the sale of certain domestic funeral homes and cemeteries.

With the proceeds of these transactions combined with cash flow, we reduced our debt from $950.5 million at the
beginning of fiscal year 2001 to $550.1 million as of January 10, 2003, which included $1.6 million of the unamortized
option premium relating (o our 6.40 percent Remarketable Or Redeemable Securities (“ROARS”). Long-term debt as of
October 31, 2002 was $551.9 million, which included $1.7 million of the unamortized option premium related to the
ROARS.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table details our known future cash payments (in millions) related to various contractual obligations as
of October 31, 2002.

Payments Due by Period

Fiscal Year Fiscal Years Fiscal Years

Contractual Obligations Total 2003 2004 - 2005 2006 - 2007 Thereafter
Current maturities of long-term debt $ 6.7 $ 6.7 $ - 58 - $ -
Long-term debt " 543.5 99.9® 73.9 66.7 303.0
Operating lease agreements @ 4.9 5.4 8.2 5.9 23.4
Non-competition agreements 18.5 5.5 7.3 3.6 2.1

$ 611.6 $ 117.5 $ 8.4 $ 762  § 3285

O These amounts exclude the unamortized option premium relating to the ROARS of $1.7 million as of October 31,

2002. See below for a breakdown of our future scheduled principal payments and maturities of long-term debt by type
as of October 31, 2002.
@ Our noncancellable operating leases are primarily for land and buildings and expire over the next 1 to
17 years, except for six leases that expire between 2032 and 2039. Our future minimum lease payments as of October
31,2002 are $5.4 million, $4.6 million, $3.6 million, $3.2 million, $2.7 million and $23.4 million for the years ending
October 31, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and later years, respectively.
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3)

We have entered into non-competition agreements with prior owners and key employees of acquired subsidiaries that
expire through 2012. During fiscal year 2001, we decided to relieve some of the prior owners and key employees of their
obligations not to compete; however, we will continue to make the payments in accordance with the contract terms.

The following table reflects future scheduled principal payments and maturities of our long-term debt (in millions) as
of October 31, 2002.

Other,
Principally
Seller
Senior 6.40% Financing of

Year Ending Term Subordinated 6.70% Public Notes Acquired
October 31 Loan B Notes Public Notes (ROARS) Operations Total
2003 $§ 25 $ — $ — $ 99.9® $ 4.2 $ 106.6
2004 2.5 — N — 3.9 6.5
2005 65.6 — — — 1.8 67.4
2006 65.1 — — — 9 66.0
2007 — — — — 7 )
Thereafter — 300.0 — — 3.0 303.0
Subtotal $ 135.7 $ 300.0 $ 1 $ 999 $ 145 550.2
Unamortized option premium relating to Remarketable Or Redeemable Securities (“ROARS™) 1.7
Total long-term debt $ 5519

M We could be required to redeem the ROARS on May 1, 2003 if the debt is not remarketed, which will depend primarily
upon prevailing market conditions at that time. As of October 31, 2002, we had sufficient availability under our
revolver to redeem the ROARS, and afier giving effect to the redemption, we would have Available Liquidity as defined
in the senior secured credit facility, of no less than $25 million. Accordingly, we have classified the ROARS as long-
term debt.

We also have $14.0 million of outstanding letters of credit as of October 31, 2002, and we are required to maintain a
bond to guarantee our obligations relating to funds we withdrew from our preneed funeral trusts in Florida. We substituted
a bond to guarantee performance under certain preneed funeral contracts and agreed to maintain unused credit facilities in
an amount that will equal or exceed the bond amount. As of October 31, 2002, the balance of the Florida bond was $41.1
million. We believe that cash flow from operations will be sufficient to cover our estimated cost of providing the related
prearranged services and products in the future.

Under our senior secured credit facility, as long as any of the 6.70 percent Notes or ROARS are outstanding, we must
maintain a required reserve consisting of (1) availability under the revolving credit facility and/or (2) domestic cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities, the access to which is restricted on terms satisfactory to the collateral agent. The
required reserve 1s an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the amount by which the net cash proceeds from asset sales
(calculated on a cumulative basis from the completion of the refinancing transactions) exceeds $75.0 million and (2) the
outstanding principal amount of the 6.70 percent Notes and ROARS. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the required reserve
cannot be less than the following percentages of the outstanding principal amount of the 6.70 percent Notes and ROARS:
25 percent through October 31, 2002, 50 percent thereafter through January 31, 2003, 75 percent thereafter through April
30, 2003 and 100 percent thereafter. If the ROARS are remarketed, which would occur, if at all, on May 1, 2003, they
would not be considered outstanding for purposes of the requirement to maintain the required reserve, and the required
reserve for the ROARS would therefore be eliminated. In that case, the portion of the revolver restricted for purposes of
the required reserve would then become available to us. As of October 31, 2002 and January 10, 2003, our required reserve
was $100.0 million.
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As of October 31, 2002 and January 10, 2003, there were no amounts drawn on our $175.0 million revolving credit
facility. Asof October 31, 2002 and January 10, 2003, our availability under the revolver, after giving consideration to the
aforementioned letters of credit, bond obligation and $100.0 million required reserve, was $20.0 million and $19.8 million,
respectively. As of October 31, 2002 and January 10, 2003, $119.9 million and $119.7 million were available under the
revolver to redeem the ROARS, respectively.

In order for us to purchase or otherwise retire any of the remaining 6.70 percent Notes or ROARS prior to maturity,
we must provide evidence satisfactory to the administrative agent under the senior secured credit facility that, immediately
after giving effect to the transaction, we will have Available Liquidity, as defined in the senior secured credit facility, of no
less than $25 million,

As of October 31, 2002, we have outstanding $99.9 million 6.40 percent ROARS due May 1, 2013 (remarketing date
May 1, 2003). Amounts outstanding under the ROARS must be redeemed by us or remarketed by the remarketing dealer
on May I, 2003. If the remarketing dealer does not elect to remarket the ROARS, we must redeem them on May 1, 2003
for 100 percent of their principal amount plus accrued interest. If the remarketing dealer elects to remarket the ROARS,
we may override that election by choosing to redeem them on May 1, 2003 for 100 percent of their principal amount plus
accrued interest, in which case we will be obligated to pay the remarketing dealer the value of our remarketing right, which
was $9.4 million as of January 10, 2003. If the ROARS are remarketed, holders immediately prior to May 1, 2003 must
tender them to the remarketing dealer for purchase on May 1, 2003 for a purchase price of 100 percent of their principal
amount plus accrued interest. If remarketed, the ROARS will become due May 1, 2013, and the coupon for the remaining
term will be 5.44 percent (which was the 10-year United States Treasury rate at the time of initial issuance) plus our then
current credit spread. As of October 31, 2002, we had sufficient availability under our revolver to redeem the ROARS, and
after giving effect to the redemption, we would have liquidity as defined in the senior secured credit facility, of no less than
$25 million. Accordingly, we have classified the ROARS as long-term debt. For additional discussion regarding the impact
of the potential redemption of the ROARS, see “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Cash Flow

Our operations provided cash of $90.5 million for the year ended October 31, 2002 which included $17.3 million of
tax benefits related to the sale of our foreign operations. For fiscal year 2001, our operations provided cash of $117.1
mullion. The decrease in operating cash flow is due primarly to a reduction in earnings, resulting primarily from decreases
in funeral gross profit (primarily associated with assets sold or held for sale), decreases in cemetery gross profit (primarily
assoclated with operations to be retained), a decline 1n nonrecurring gains related to the sale of excess cemetery property
in 2001 and a decline in investment income. Additionally, there was an $8 million decrease in inventory related to the sale
of excess cemetery property in 2001 that resulted in a net cash source which did not re-occur in 2002, as well as other
working capital changes.

Our investing activities resulted in a net cash inflow of $53.4 million for the year ended October 31, 2002, compared
to a net cash inflow of $58.6 million for fiscal year 2001, The $5.2 million reduction is due primarily to $81.5 million in
proceeds from the sale of our foreign operations, domestic funeral home real estate and small domestic operations we
received in 2001 compared to $69.8 million received in 2002. This was partially offset by a reduction in additions to
property and equipment due to a reduction in new growth spending,

Our financing activities resulted in a cash outflow of $138.6 million for the year ended October 31, 2002, compared
to a cash outflow of $246.3 million for the comparable period in 2001. This is due principally to repayments of long-term
debt of $978.0 mllion during the year ended October 31, 2001 and debt issue costs of $34.3 million associated with our June
2001 debt refinancing, partially offset by proceeds from long-term debt of $725.0 million from the debt refinancing. Also
offsetting this cash outflow was $40.0 million that we withdrew from our trust funds in Florida in the first quarter of 2001,
for which we substituted a bond to guarantee performance under certain preneed funeral contracts and agreed to maintain
unused credit facilities in an amount that will equal or exceed the bond amount.
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Capital Expenditures

As part of our strategy to increase cash flow and reduce debt, in fiscal year 2002 we limited our capital expenditures
primarily to maintenance capital expenditures and the construction of funeral homes in connection with our operating
partnership with the Archdiocese of Los Angeles. For a discussion of the operating partnership with the Archdiocese of Los
Angeles, see “Business Strategy” and “Operations.” For fiscal year 2002, capital expenditures amounted to $18.6 million,
which included $16.3 million for maintenance capital expenditures and $2.3 million for new growth initiatives, including
the construction of the Archdiocese of Los Angeles funeral homes. For fiscal year 2003, we anticipate maintenance capital
expenditures consistent with fiscal year 2002 and new growth initiatives of up to $10.0 million, including the construction
of the Los Angeles funeral homes. We have no matenal commitments for capital expenditures in fiscal year 2003 other than
approximately $2 million to $3 million related to the Archdiocese of Los Angeles funeral homes.

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
Our ratio of earnings to fixed charges was as follows:

Years ended October 31,
1998 1999 20600 2001 2062
2.38% 343@ 2.57 — % 1.75 @

) Pretax earnings for fiscal year 1998 include a nonrecurring, noncash charge of $76.8 million in connection
with the vesting of performance-based stock options. Excluding the charge, our ratio of earnings to fixed charges for
fiscal year 1998 would have been 4.01.

@ Excludes the cumulative effect of change in accounting principles.

©) Pretax earnings for fiscal year 2001 include a noncash charge of $269.2 million in connection with the writedown of

assets held for sale and other charges. As aresult of this charge, our earnings for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2001

were 1nsufficient to cover our fixed charges, and an additional $187.8 million in pretax earnings would have been

required to eliminate the coverage deficiency. Excluding the charge, the early extinguishment of debt and the
curnulative effect of the change in accounting principles, our ratio of earnings to fixed charges for fiscal year 2001 would

have been 2.21.

Pretax earnings for fiscal year 2002 include a noncash charge of $18.5 million in connection with the

writedown of assets held for sale. Excluding the charge, our ratio of earnings to fixed charges for fiscal year 2002 would

have been 2.04.

@

For purposes of computing the ratio of eamings to fixed charges, eamings consist of pretax earnings plus fixed charges
(excluding interest capitalized during the period). Fixed charges consist of interest expense, capitalized interest, amortization
of debt expense and discount or premium relating to any indebtedness and the portion of rental expense that management
believes to be representative of the interest component of rental expense. The ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the year
ended October 31, 2002 reflects the implementation of SFAS No. 142; fiscal year 2001 reflects the 2001 change in
accounting principles; fiscal years 2000 and 1999 reflect the 1999 change in accounting principle, and fiscal year 1998
reflects the accounting methods in effect in that year.

Inflation

Inflation has not had a significant impact on our operations over the past three years, nor is it expected to have a
significant impact in the foreseeable future.
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Recent Accounting Standards

See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8.
Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statemnents made herem or elsewhere by or on our behalf that are not historical facts are intended to be forward-
looking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1595.
These statements include any projections of earnings, revenues, asset sales, cash flow, debt levels or other financial items,
any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning
proposed new products, services or developments; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance;
any statements of belief, and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Forward-looking statements
may include the words “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “intend,” “continue,” “believe,” “expect,” “plan” or “anticipate” and other
similar words. Forward-looking statements contained in this report include but are not limited to statements relating to (1)
our expectations of the timing of our receipt of income tax benefits related to the sale of our foreign operations, (2) our plans
to reduce debt, (3) anticipated future performance of our preneed sales program, (4) anticipated future performance of funds
held in trust and (5) our long-term growth plan, including our ability to find attractive acquisition opportunities at prices we
are willing to pay.

%5 cc 2w 3 <

On December 17, 2002, we filed a Form 8-K with more detailed information discussing our financial forecasts for 2003.
The summarized forecast information below is consistent with the information contained in that Form 8-K. The financial
forecasts included in this Form 10-K have been prepared by, and are the responsibility of, our management.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has neither examined nor compiled the financial forecasts and, accordingly,
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP does not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto. The
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP report included in this Form 10-K relates to our historical financial information. It does not
extend to the forecasted information and should not be read to do so.

Accuracy of the forecasts is dependent upon assumptions about events that change over time and is thus susceptible to
periodic change based on actual experience and new developments. The forecasts are based on a variety of estimates and
assumptions made by our management with respect to, among other things, industry performance; general economic, market,
industry and interest rate conditions; preneed and at-need sales activities and trends; fluctuations in cost of goods sold and
other expenses; capital expenditures; and other matters that cannot be accurately predicted, may not be realized and are
subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties, all of which are difficult to predict and many of
which are beyond our control. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the assumptions made in preparing the forecasts
will prove accurate, and actual results may vary materially from those contained in the forecasts. For these reasons, the
forecasts should not be regarded as an accurate prediction of future results, but only of results that may be obtained if
substantially all of our principal expectations are realized.

We caution readers that we assume no obligation to update or publicly release any revisions to forward-looking
statements made herein or any other forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf.

Our current goal is to improve the results from our existing businesses by growing revenue by approximately 50 to 100
basis points greater than the growth in our cost of sales. We believe that this alone will produce high single-digit growth in
earnings per share. Our longer-term objective 1s to return to double-digit growth through the disciplined execution of our
long-term growth plan.

Another important goal is to reduce our outstanding debt to $500 million. During fiscal year 2002, we completed the
sale of all of our foreign operations within our targeted timeframe, resulting in cash proceeds in our estimated range. Our
goal was to sell our foreign operations and receive proceeds including tax benefits in the range of $200 million to $250
million. Now that all sales are completed, we expect to ultimately receive total proceeds of approximately $245 million. We
have received $203 million of the proceeds and expect to realize the majority of the remaining proceeds of approximately
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$42 million of income tax benefits during 2003. As of January 10, 2003, our remaining outstanding debt was approximately
$550.1 million. With the future tax proceeds of $42 million that we expect to realize, we will need less than $10 million of
our cash flow to achieve our debt target during fiscal 2003 or 2004 depending on the timing of the realization of our tax
benefits.

We believe there are a variety of growth opportunities available to us now. Acquiring high-quality cemeteries and
funeral homes that are priced within our guidelines and that fit our new business mode! will be a priority. We have begun
the process of re-entering the acquisition arena, but expect to move slowly and carefully. We also plan to continue to build
funeral homes in our cemeteries, construct funeral homes in third-party cemeteries and open freestanding funeral homes in
select markets. Our goal is to produce a 15 percent to 20 percent internal rate of return on the deployment of our cash.

We project that earnings will be between $0.40 and $0.43 per share for fiscal year 2003, excluding any impact from
potential acquisitions and excluding any impact from the potential redemption of the ROARS as discussed below. Excluding
any impact from potential acquisitions and the potential redemption of the ROARS, we expect cash flow from operations
to be between $60 million and $70 million and expect free cash flow (cash flow from operations less maintenance capital
expenditures) to be between $50 milhion and $55 million. Free cash flow is frequently used by security analysts and is
presented here to provide additional information about our operations. Free cash flow should not be considered as an
alternative to cash flow from operations as a better measure of liquidity. Free cash flow is a non-GAAP measure and may
not be comparable as calculated by us to free cash flow as calculated by other companies.

We expect the following factors to impact fiscal year 2003 financial results:
Internal Growth

Domestic revenues are expected to grow approximately 50 to 100 basis points greater than the growth in cost of sales.
Rising Insurance Costs

The terrorist attacks in the United States on September 11, 2001 and related subsequent events have resulted in higher
insurance premiums. The volume of claims made in such a short span of time resulted in liquidity challenges that many
insurers have passed on to their policyholders. Additionally, insurers have increased premiums to offset losses i equity
markets due to recent economic conditions. Our insurance costs are expected to increase materially in 2003.
Returns on Preneed Trust Funds

From 1991 through 1999 we were successful in achieving an overall annual return of 8.0 percent to 9.0 percent in our
preneed trust funds. However, the average retumn on our domestic funeral and cemetery trust funds has been 5.8 percent, 6.3
percent and 4.3 percent, for fiscal years 2000, 2001 and 2002, respectively. These returns represent interest, dividends and
realized capital gains or losses but not unrealized capital gains or losses. We defer recognition of all earnings and losses
realized by preneed trust funds until the underlying products and services are delivered. Consequently, the lower returns
recently realized are expected to reduce the trust earnings to be recognized as revenue in 2003.
Reduced Interest Costs

Interest expense is expected to decrease as a result of a reduction in our average debt balance.
Elimination of earnings contribution from foreign operations

Eamings are expected to decrease due to the elimination of earnings contributed by our foreign operations, however,
the reduction in operating earnings from the sale of our foreign operations that remained during fiscal year 2002 (Spain,

Portugal, France, Canada and Argentina) is expected to be substantially offset by interest expense savings resulting from
the use of proceeds from these sales to reduce our average debt balance.
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Potential redemption of the ROARS in May 2003

The forecasts above do not include any impact from the potential redemption of the Remarketable Or Redeemable
Securities (“ROARS™) in May 2003. We are currently considering redeeming the ROARS as an alternative to allowing them
to be remarketed when they mature on May 1, 2003. If they are redeemed, we must pay the remarketing dealer an amount
equal to the contractually specified value of the remarketing right (the “Calculation Amount”). The Calculation Amount will
depend largely on the then applicable 10-year Treasury rate, which was 4.14 percent at January 10, 2003. If the 10-year
Treasury rate 1s 4.14 percent on May 1, 2003, the Calculation Amount would be $10.5 mullion. If the 10-year Treasury rate
increases, the Calculation Amount will be lower than this amount, and if the 10-year Treasury rate decreases, the Calculation
Amount will be higher than this amount. [f the Treasury rate rises to 5.44 percent, the Calculation Amount will decrease
to zero.

If we redeem the ROARS and are required to pay the Calculation Amount, interest expense would be increased for fiscal
year 2003 by the Calculation Amount, and cash flow would be reduced by the after-tax effect of the Calculation Amount.

As indicated above, the Calculation Amount could be substantial; however, we received $5.8 million from the
remarketing dealer at the time of the issuance of the ROARS for the right to remarket the ROARS, and we have had the use
of these funds since that time.

As of October 31, 2002, we had $1.7 million of unamortized ROARS option premium which includes the unamortized
portion of the $5.8 million payment we received from the remarketing dealer at the time of the issuance of the ROARS for
the nght to remarket the ROARS. If we redeem the ROARS, interest expense for fiscal year 2003 would be reduced by the
unamortized premium on May 1, 2003 of approximately $1.5 million.

We cannot predict the value of the 10-year Treasury rate as of May 1, 2003 or whether the remarketing dealer will elect
to remarket the ROARS, and we have not determined whether we will elect to redeem the ROARS if the remarketing dealer
elects to remarket them. Accordingly, we have not included any impact from the potential redemption of the ROARS 1n fiscal
year 2003 forecasts.

Cautionary Statements

We caution readers that the following important factors, among others, in some cases have affected, and in the future,
could affect, our actual consolidated results and could cause our actual consolidated results in the future to differ materially
from the goals and expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements above and in any other forward-looking
statements made by us or on our behalf.

Risks Related to Qur Business

If the remarketing dealer elects to remarket our $99.9 million outstanding 6.40 percent ROARS on May 1, 2003, and we
elect to prevent that by redeeming them, we would be required to pay the remarketing dealer the value of the remarketing
right at that time, which could have a material adverse effect on our fiscal year 2003 interest expense, earnings and cash

Sflow.

We are currently considering redeeming the ROARS as an alternative to allowing them to be remarketed when they
mature on May 1, 2003. If they are redeemed, we must pay the remarketing dealer an amount equal to the contractually
specified value of the remarketing night (the “Calculation Amount”). The Calculation Amount will depend largely on the then
applicable 10-year Treasury rate. If we redeem the ROARS and are required to pay the Calculation Amount, interest
expense would be increased for fiscal year 2003 by the amount of the Calculation Amount, and cash flow would be reduced
by the after-tax effect of the Calculation Amount. We cannot predict the value of the 10-year Treasury rate as of May 1, 2003
or whether the remarketing dealer will elect to remarket the ROARS, and we have not determined whether we will elect to
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redeem the ROARS if the remarketing dealer elects to remarket them. Accordingly, we have not included any impact from
the potential redemption of the ROARS in fiscal year 2003 forecasts. For additional information, see “Forward-Looking
Statements.”

FEarnings from and principal of trust funds and escrow accounts could be reduced by changes in stock and bond prices
and interest and dividend rates or by a decline in the size of the funds.

Earnings and investment gains and losses on trust funds and escrow accounts are affected by financial market conditions
that are not within our control. Earnings are also affected by the mix of fixed-income and equity securities that we choose
to maintain in the funds, and we may not choose the optimal mix for any particular market condition. The size of the funds
depends upon the level of preneed sales and maturities, the amount of investment gains or losses and funds added through
acquisitions, if any. Declines in earnings from perpetual care trust funds would cause a decline in current revenues, while
declines in earnings from other trust funds and escrow accounts could cause a decline in future cash flows and revenues.
In addition, any significant or sustained investment losses could result in there being insufficient funds in the trusts to cover
the cost of delivering services and merchandise or maintaining cemeteries in the future. Any such deficiency would have
to be covered by cash flow, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. As of October 31, 2002,
net unrealized depreciation in the funeral, cemetery merchandise and perpetual care trust funds and escrow accounts
amounted to $116.8 mullion, $60.0 million and $38.0 million, respectively. See Notes 4 and 5 in our consolidated financial
statements included in Item 8.

Unrealized gains and losses in the funeral trust funds and cemetery merchandise trust funds have no immediate impact
on our revenues, margins, earnings or cash flow, unless the fair market value of the funds were to decline below the estimated
costs to deliver the underlying products and services. If that were to occur, we would record a charge to earnings to record
the expected loss currently. Over time, gains and losses realized in the funds are allocated to underlying preneed contracts
and affect the amount of the trust fund earnings to be recogmzed when we deliver the underlying product or service.
Accordingly, if current market conditions do not improve, the funds may eventually realize losses, and our revenues, margins,
earnings and cash flow would be negatively affected by the reduced revenue when we deliver the underlying products and
services. In addition, any significant or sustained investment losses could result in there being insufficient funds in the trusts
to cover the cost of delivering services and merchandise or maintaining cemeteries in the future. Any such deficiency would
have to be covered by cash flow, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations. We estimate that with approximately 3.0 percent to 5.0 percent annual returns in the funds over the estimated
lives of the associated preneed contracts, our trust and escrow funds would recover the net unrealized depreciation currently
1n the funds by the time the underlying products and services are delivered.

Increased costs may have a negative impact on earnings and cash flows.

Cost increases may impair our ability to achieve revenue growth that exceeds our cost increases. Our 2003 plan
assumes that we will be successful in increasing domestic revenues at a rate approximately 50 to 100 basis points greater
than the growth in the cost of sales. Although we believe we can achieve that goal, we have not achieved that goal in recent
years, and we can give no assurance that we will be successful in doing so in 2003.

We expect insurance costs, in particular, to increase substantially in 2003. The terrorist attacks in the United States
on September 11, 2001 and related subsequent events have resulted in higher insurance premiums. The volume of claims
made in such a short span of time resulted in liquidity challenges that many insurers have passed on to their policyholders.
Additionally, insurers have increased premiums to offset losses in equity markets due to recent economic conditions. While
our insurance costs are expected to increase materially, the actual increase in insurance costs cannot be predicted.

Chur ability 1o achieve our debt reduction targets and to service our debt in the future depends upon our ability to generate
sufficient cash, which depends on many factors, some of which are beyond our control.

Our ability to achieve our debt reduction targets in the time frame projected by us depends upon our ability to generate
sufficient cash from two main sources: (1) income tax proceeds associated with the foreign asset sales and (2) our ongoing
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operations. We expect to generate capital gains against which the foreign asset sale capital losses may be offset. There can
be no assurance that we will receive the tax benefits within our expected timeframe. Our ability to receive the expected
income tax benefits within our expected timeframe depends upon, among other things, the timing of our filing for capital loss
carrybacks to apply against previously-taxed capital gains and the rate at which we realize additional capital gains. Our tax
planning strategy is to produce these capital gains in our trust funds. Our ability to generate capital gains could be affected
by a decline in market conditions. Our ability to generate cash flow from operations depends upon, among other things, the
number of deaths in our markets, competition, the level of preneed sales and their maturities, our ability to control our costs,

stock and bond market conditions, and general economic, financial and regulatory factors, most of which 1s beyond our
control.

We may experience declines in preneed sales due to numerous factors including changes made to contract terms and sales
Jorce compensation, or a weakening economy. Declines in preneed sales would reduce our backlog and revenue and
could reduce our future market share.

In an effort to increase cash flow, we modified our preneed sales strategies early in fiscal year 2000 by increasing finance
charges, requining larger down payments and shortening installment payment terms. Later in fiscal year 2000, we changed
the compensation structure for our preneed sales force. These changes, and the accompanying sales force attrition and
adverse impact on sales force morale, caused preneed sales to decline. Although we do not anticipate making further
significant changes in these areas, we may decide that further adjustments are advisable, which could cause additional
declines in preneed sales. In addition, a weakening economy that causes customers to have less discretionary income could
cause a decline in preneed sales. Declines in preneed cemetery property sales would reduce current revenue, and declines
in other preneed sales would reduce our backlog and future revenue and could reduce future market share.

Increased preneed sales may have a negative impact on cash flow.

Preneed sales of cemetery property and funeral and cemetery products and services are generally cash flow negative
imtially, primarily due to the commissions paid on the sale, the portion of the sales proceeds required to be placed into trust
or escrow and the terms of the particular contract such as the size of the down payment required and the length of the
contract. See “Summary of Current Accounting for Preneed Sales” under the heading “General.” In fiscal year 2000, we
changed the terms and conditions of preneed sales contracts and commissions and moderated our preneed sales effort in order
to reduce the initial négative impact on cash flow. Nevertheless, we will continue to invest a significant portion of cash flow
in preneed acquisition costs, which reduces cash flow available for other activities, and, to the extent preneed activities are
increased, cash flow will be further reduced, and our ability to service debt could be adversely affected.

Price competition could reduce market share or cause us to reduce prices to retain or recapture market share, either of
which could reduce revenues and margins.

Our funeral home and cemetery operations generally face intense competition in local markets that typically are served
by numerous funeral homes and cemetery firms. We have historically experienced price competition primarily from
independent funeral home and cemetery operators, and from monument dealers, casket retailers, low-cost funeral providers
and other non-traditional providers of services or products. In the past, this price competition has resulted in losing market
share in some markets. In other markets, we have had to reduce prices thereby reducing profit margins in order to retain
or recapture market share. Increased price competition in the future could further reduce revenues, profit margins and the
backlog.

Increased advertising or better marketing by competitors, or increased activity by competitors offering products or
services over the Internet, could cause us to lose market share and revenues or cause us to tncur increased costs in order

to retain or recapture our market share.

In recent years, marketing through television, radio and print advertising, direct mailings and personal sales calls has
increased with respect to the sales of preneed funeral services. Extensive advertising or effective marketing by competitors
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in local markets could cause us to lose market share and revenues or cause us to increase marketing costs. In addition,
competitors may change the types or mix of products or services offered. These changes may attract customers, causing us
to lose market share and revenue or to incur costs in response to competition to vary the types or mix of products or services
offered by us. Also, increased use of the Internet by customers to research and/or purchase products and services could cause
us to lose market share to competitors offering to sell products or services over the Internet.

Increases in interest rates would increase interest costs on our variable-rate long-term debt and could have a material
adverse effect on our net income and earnings per share.

As of October 31, 2002, $135.7 million of our long-term debt was subject to variable interest rates, although $100.0
million of that amount was fixed pursuant to the terms of interest rate swaps expiring in March of 2004 and 2005.
Accordingly, any significant increase in interest rates, could increase our interest costs on our variable-rate long-term debt,
which could decrease our net income and earnings per share.

Covenant restrictions under our senior secured credit facilities and senior subordinated note indenture limit our flexibility
in operating our business.

Our senior secured credit facility and the indenture governing the senior subordinated notes contain, among other things,
covenants that restrict us and our subsidiary guarantors’ ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in
other business activities. They limit, among other things, our subsidiary guarantors’ ability to: borrow money; pay dividends
or distributions; purchase or redeemn stock; make investments, engage in transactions with affiliates; engage in sale leaseback
transactions, consummate specified asset sales; effect a consolidation or merger or sell, transfer, lease, or otherwise dispose
of all or substantially all assets; and create liens on assets. In addition, the senior secured credit facility contains specific
limits on capital expenditures as well as a requirement that we maintain a liquidity reserve that increases over time as long
as any of the 6.70 percent Notes or 6.40 percent ROARS are outstanding. Furthermore, the senior secured credit facility
requires us to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy financial condition tests and prohibit payment of the 6.70 percent
Notes and 6.40 percent ROARS unless thereafter our Available Liquidity, as defined, is no less than $25 mallion.

These covenants may require us to act in a manner contrary to our business objectives. In addition, events beyond our
control, including changes in general economic and business conditions, may affect our ability to satisfy these covenants.
A breach of any of those covenants could result in a default allowing the lenders to declare all amounts immediately due and
payable.

Our projections for 2003 do not include any earnings from acquisition activity. Several important factors, among others,
may affect our ability to consummate acquisitions.

Our projections for 2003 do not include any earnings from acquisition activity. The actual level of acquisition activity,
if any, will depend not only on the number of properties acquired, but also on the size of the acquisitions. Several important
factors, among others, may affect our ability to consummate acquisitions. We may not be able to find a sufficient number
of businesses for sale at prices we are willing to pay, particularly in view of our new pricing parameters and cash flow
criteria. Acquisition activity, if any, will also depend on our ability to enter into new markets. Due in part to our lack of
experience operating in new areas and to the presence of competitors who have been in certain markets longer than we have,
such entry may be more difficult or expensive than we anticipate.

Risks Related to the Death Care Industry

Declines in the number of deaths in our markets can cause a decrease in revenues. Changes in the number of deaths are
not predictable from market to market or over the short term.

Declines in the number of deaths could cause at-need sales of funeral and cemetery services, property and merchandise
to decline, which could decrease revenues. Although the United States Bureau of the Census estimates that the number of
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deaths in the United States will increase by approximately 1 percent per year from 2000 to 2010, longer lifespans could
reduce the rate of deaths. For example, data obtained from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”) indicate
a decrease i deaths in the United States of 3.9 percent during our fiscal year ended October 31, 2002, compared to the same
period in the prior year. In addition, changes in the number of deaths can vary among local markets and from quarter to
quarter, and variations in the number of deaths in our markets or from quarter to quarter are not predictable. These
variations can cause revenues to fluctuate.

Our comparisons of the change in the number of families served to the change in the number of deaths reported by the
CDC from time to time may not necessarily be meaningful. The CDC receives weekly mortality reports from 122 cities and
metropolitan areas in the United States within two to three weeks from the date of death and reports the total number of
deaths occurring in these areas each week based on the reports received from state health departments. The comparability
of our funeral calls to the CDC data 1s limited, as reports from the state health departments are often delayed, and the 122
cities reporting to the CDC are not necessarily comparable with the markets in which we operate. Nonetheless, we believe
that the CDC data is the most comprehensive data of this kind available.

The increasing number of cremations in the United States could cause revenues to decline because we could lose market
share o firms specializing in cremations. In addition, basic cremations produce no revenues for cemelery operations and
lesser funeral revenues and, in certain cases, lesser profit margins than traditional funerals.

Our traditional cemetery and funeral service operations face competition from the increasing number of cremations in
the United States. Industry studies indicate that the percentage of cremations has steadily increased and that cremations will
represent approximately 39 percent of the United States burial market by the year 2010, compared to 26 percent in 2000.
The trend toward cremation could cause cemeteries and traditional funeral homes to lose market share and revenues to firms
specializing in cremations. In addition, basic cremations (with no funeral service, casket, umn, mausoleum niche,
columbarium niche or burial) produce no revenues for cemetery operations and lower revenues than traditional funerals and,
when delivered at a traditional funeral home, produce lower profit margins as well.

If we are not able to respond effectively to changing consumer preferences, our market share, revenues and profitability
could decrease.

Future market share, revenues and profits will depend in part on our ability to anticipate, 1dentify and respond to
changing consumer preferences. During fiscal year 2000, we began to implement strategies based on a proprietary,
extensive study of consumer preferences we commissioned in 1999. However, we may not correctly anticipate or identify
trends in consumer preferences, or we may 1dentify them later than our competitors do. In addition, any strategies we may
implement to address these trends may prove incorrect or ineffective.

Because the funeral and cemetery businesses are high fixed-cost businesses, positive or negative changes in revenue can
have a disproportionately large effect on cash flow and profits.

Companies in the funeral home and cemetery business must incur many of the costs of operating and maintaining
facilities, land and equipment regardless of the level of sales in any given period. For example, we must pay salaries,
utilities, property taxes and maintenance costs on funeral homes and maintain the grounds of cemeteries regardless of the
number of funeral services or interments performed. Because we cannot decrease these costs significantly or rapidly when
we experience declines in sales, declines in sales can cause margins, profits and cash flow to decline at a greater rate than
the decline in revenues.

Changes or increases in, or failure to comply with, regulations applicable 10 our business could increase costs or decrease
cash flows.

The death care industry is subject to extensive regulation and licensing requirements under federal, state and local laws.
For example, the funeral home mdustry is regulated by the Federal Trade Commission, which requires funeral homes to take
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actions designed to protect consumers. State laws impose licensing requirements and regulate preneed sales. Embalming
facilities are subject to stringent environmental and health regulations. Compliance with these regulations is burdensome,
and we are always at risk of not complying with the regulations.

In addition, from time to time, governments and agencies propose to amend or add regulations, which could increase
costs or decrease cash flows. For example, federal, state, local and other regulatory agencies have considered and may enact
additional legislation or regulations that could affect the death care industry. As discussed in Item | under the heading
“Regulation,” Senator Dodd has recently proposed legislation that, if adopted, would more heavily regulate the death care
industry. If adopted, this bill could result in an increase in our costs. Several states and regulatory agencies have considered
or are considering regulations that could require more liberal refund and cancellation policies for preneed sales of products
and services, limit or eliminate our ability to use surety bonding, increase trust requirements and prohibit the common
ownership of funeral homes and cemeteries in the same market. If adopted by the regulatory authorities of the jurisdictions
in which we operate, these and other possible proposals could have a material adverse effect on us, our financial condition,
our results of operations and our future prospects. For additional information regarding the regulation of the death care
industry, see “Regulation.”

item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The market risk inherent in our market risk sensitive instruments and positions is the potential change arising from
increases or decreases in the prices of marketable equity securities and interest rates as discussed below. Generally, our
market risk sensitive instruments and positions are characterized as “other than trading.” Our exposure to market risk as
discussed below includes forward-looking statements and represents an estimate of possible changes in fair value or future
earnings that would occur assuming hypothetical future movements in equity markets or interest rates, Our views on market
risk are not necessarily indicative of actual results that may occur and do not represent the maximum possible gains and
losses that may occur, since actual gains and losses will differ from those estimated, based on actual fluctuations in equity
markets, interest rates and the timing of transactions.

Marketable Equity Securities

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, our marketable equity securities subject to market risk consisted principally of
investments held by our prearranged funeral, merchandise and perpetual care trust funds and escrow accounts and had fair
values of $476.0 million and $467 8 million, respectively, which were determined using final sale prices quoted on stock
exchanges. Each 10 percent change in the average market prices of the equity securities held 1n such accounts would result
in a change of approximately $47.6 million and $46.8 million, respectively, in the fair value of such accounts.

Our prearranged funeral, merchandise and perpetual care trust funds and escrow accounts, which are managed by ITI,
are detailed in Notes 4 and 5 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. ITI operates pursuant to a formal
mnvestment policy as discussed in “Operations” included in Item 1.

Interest

We have entered into various fixed- and variable-rate debt obligations, which are detailed in Note 12 to our consolidated
financial statements included in Item 8.

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, the carrying values of our long-term fixed-rate debt, including accrued interest and
the unamortized portion of the ROARS option premium, were approximately $430.1 million and $437.6 mullion,
respectively, compared to fair values of $455.8 million and $463.0 million, respectively. Fair values were determined using
quoted market prices, where applicable, or future cash flows discounted at market rates for similar types of borrowing
arrangements. Each approxtmate 10 percent change in the average interest rates applicable to such debt, 80 and 85 basis
points for 2002 and 2001, respectively, would result in changes of approximately $10.1 million and $15.1 million,
respectively, in the fair values of these instruments. If these instruments are held to maturity, no change in fair value will
be realized.
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In order to hedge a portion of the interest rate risk associated with our variable-rate debt, during the first quarter of 1999,
we entered into a three-year interest rate swap agreement involving a notional amount of $200.0 million. This agreement,
which became effective March 4, 1999, effectively converted $200.0 million of variable-rate debt bearing interest based on
three-month LIBOR to a fixed rate based on the swap rate of 4.915 percent. This swap expired on March 4, 2002. Effective
March 11, 2002, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements, each involving a notional amount of $50.0 million. The
first agreement effectively converts $50.0 million of variable-rate debt bearing interest based on three-month LIBOR to a
fixed rate based on the swap rate of 3.65 percent and expires on March 11, 2004. The second agreement effectively converts
$50.0 million of variable-rate debt bearing interest based on three-month LIBOR to a fixed rate based on the swap rate of
4.265 percent and expires on March 11, 2005. The estimated fair value of the interest rate swaps based on quoted market
prices was ($4.0) million and ($2.1) million as of October 31, 2002 and October 31, 2001, respectively. A hypothetical
100 basis point increase in the average interest rates applicable to such debt would result in an increase of approximately
$1.8 million and $1.0 million in the fair value of these instruments as of October 31, 2002 and October 31, 2001,
respectively.

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, the carrying values of our Term Loan B were $135.7 million and $270.0 million,
respectively, compared to fair values of $136.5 million and $270.0 mullion, respectively. Of the $135.7 million outstanding
under Term Loan B on October 31, 2002, $35.7 million was not hedged by the interest rate swaps and was subject 1o short-
term variable interest rates. Each approximate 10 percent, or 60 basis point, change in the average interest rate applicable
to this debt would result in a change of approximately $.1 million in our pretax eamings. Fair value was determined using
quoted market prices, where applicable, or future cash flows discounted at market rates for similar types of borrowing
. arrangements. Of the $270.0 million outstanding under Term Loan B on October 31, 2001, $70.0 million was not hedged
by the interest rate swap in effect at that time and was subject to short-term variable interest rates. In addition, the remaining
$200.0 million outstanding under Term Loan B would have been subject to short-term variable interest rates upon the
expiration of the interest rate swap on March 4, 2002. Each approximate 10 percent, or 65 basis point, change in the
average interest rate applicable to this debt would result in a change of approximately $1.2 million in our pretax earnings.

We monitor our mix of fixed- and variable-rate debt obligations in light of changing market conditions and from time
to time may alter that mix by, for example, refinancing balances outstanding under our variable-rate senior secured credit
facility with fixed-rate debt or by entering into interest rate swaps.

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, our fixed-income securities subject to market risk consisted principally of
investments 1n our prearranged funeral, merchandise and perpetual care trust funds and escrow accounts and had aggregate
quoted market values of $127.0 mullion and $206.1 million, respectively. Each 10 percent change 1n interest rates on these
fixed-income securities would result in changes of approximately $3.9 million and $6.5 million, respectively, in the fair
values of such securities based on discounted expected future cash flows. If these securities are held to maturity, no change
in fair value will be realized.

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, our money market and other short-term investments subject to market risk, including
amounts held in preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise and services trust funds, and in perpetual care trust funds, had
carrying values approximating their fair values of $167.9 million and $217.3 million, respectively. Under our current
accounting methods, a change in the average interest rate earned by our prearranged funeral and cemetery merchandise and
services trust funds would not result in a change in our current pretax earnings. As such, as of October 31, 2002 and 2001,
only $30.4 million and $35.4 million, respectively, of these short-term investments, which includes amounts in the perpetual
care trust funds and other short-term investments not held in trust, were subject to changes in interest rates. Each 10 percent
change in average interest rates applicable to such investments, 20 and 60 basis points for 2002 and 2001, respectively,
would result 1n changes of approximately $61,000 and $213,000, respectively, in our pretax earnings.

The fixed-income securities, money market and other short-term investments owned by us are principally invested in

our prearranged funeral, merchandise and perpetual care trust funds and escrow accounts, which are managed by I[T1. ITI
operates pursuant to a formal investment policy as discussed above.

47



Trust Funds

As of October 31, 2002, our marketable equity securities and fixed-income securities subject to market risk consisted
principally of investments held by our prearranged funeral, merchandise and perpetual care trust funds and escrow accounts.
We estimate that each 100 basis pomnt increase or decrease in the return on the preneed and perpetual care trust funds, based
on October 31, 2002 balances, would result in an increase or decrease in our revenues associated with earnings from the
perpetual care trust funds and the delivery of prearranged products and services of approximately $1.9 million in fiscal year
2003, approximate $2.9 million in 2004, $4.0 million in 2005 and $5.2 million 1n 2006.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and
Shareholders of Stewart Enterprises, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of earnings,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Stewart Enterprises, Inc.
and Subsidiaries at October 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended October 31, 2002, in conformuty with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility 1s to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 3 to the financial staternents, the Company changed its method of accounting for preneed sales activities
related to merchandise and cemetery services in 2001 and goodwill and other intangible assets in 2002,

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New Orleans, Louisiana
December 16, 2002
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STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Funeral
Cemetery

Costs and expenses:
Funeral

Gross profit
Corporate general and administrative expenses
Loss on assets held for sale and other charges (Note 11)

Operating eamnings (1oss)
Interest expense
Investment income
Other income, net

Eamings (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary item and

cumulative effect of change in accounting principles
Income tax expense (benefit)
Eamings (loss) before éxtraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principles
Extraordinary item - early extinguishment of debt, net of
$3,648 income tax benefit (Note 12)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of

$166,669 income tax benefit (Note 3)

Net earnings (loss)
Basic earnings (loss) per common share:

Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect

of change in accounting principles

Extraordinary item - early extinguishment of debt

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles

Net earnings (loss)

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Eamnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principles
Extraordinary item - early extinguishment of debt
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles
Net earnings (loss)
Weighted average common shares outstanding (in thousands):
Basic
Diluted
Pro forma amounts assuming 2001 change in accounting principles

was applied retroactively:

Net earnings
Basic earnings per common share
Diluted earnings per common share

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
$ 345,200 $ 410,253 $ 451,852
236,121 256,680 282949
581,321 666,933 734,801
257,049 318,608 335,163
179,488 197,138 220,598
436,537 515,746 555,761
144,784 151,187 179,040
17.261 18,020 19,763
18,500 269,158 —
109,023 (135,991) 159,277
(62,339) (63,572) (61,394)
505 5,212 5,110
2,132 7,170 2,194
49,321 (187,181) 105,187
17,455 (33,997) 38,393
31,866 (153,184) 66,794
_ (5,472) —
— (250,004) —
$ 31,866 $(408.660) $ 66,794
$ .30 $ (1.43) $ 63
— (05) —
— (2.33) —
$ .30 $ (38D $ 63
$ 29 $ (143 $ 63
— (.05) —
— (2.33) —
$ 29 $§ (38D $ 63
107,861 107,355 106,600
108,299 107,355 106,603
$ 57,449
$ .54
$ .54




Current assets:

STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalent investments . . ..................... ... ...

Marketable sec

UTTHES . o et e

Receivables, netof allowances ... ...... ... ... ... ... ... .. .. ...

Inventories . .

Prepaidexpenses ... ... ... .. ... ...
Deferred income taxes, net .. ... ... ... ...

Assets held for

sale(Note 11) ... ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... ... .....

Total currentassets .. ........ ... .. ...
Receivables due beyond one year, net of allowances ......... ... .. ... ..
Prearranged receivables,net ......... ... ... .. L.

Goodwill ... ...
Deferred charges
Cemetery property

LatCost .

Property and equipment, at cost:

Land .. .....
Buildings ...
Equipment and

other .. .. ..

Less accumulated depreciation . ....... ... . ... ... L.
Net property and equipment . .................. ..
Deferred income taxes, net . .. ... ...

Other assets . . ..
Total assets
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October 31,

2002 2001
$ 28,190 $ 23,123
2,588 2,614
86,827 76,220
41,666 43,068
2,815 2,208
1,348 2,537
8479 163,823
171,913 313,593
76,653 80,767
1,200,914 1,230,744
491,810 491,810
253,083 257,131
388,065 386,002
44,402 45,232
304,125 299,085
154,389 145614
502,916 489,931
168,600 146,477
334,316 343,454
95,794 132,004
3,036 2,902
$3,015,584 £3,238,407

(continued)



STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEKETS

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of long-termdebt ... ....... .. ... ... ... ... ..
Accountspayable ... ... ... .. .
Accruedpayroll . ... ... L
Accrued INSUTANCE .. . ... .. oo
Accrued Interest . . ... ... .
Accruedother ... .. ... ... . U
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale WNote 11) ......... ... ..
Total current labilities . .. ....... . ... ... .. .. ... ... ..
Long-term debt, less current maturities . .. ............. .. ...
Prearranged deferred revenue,net .. ................. .. oL
Other long-term liabilities .. ........... ... ... . ..
Total liabilities ... ... ... ... ...
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized,
nosharesissued .. ... ... ... ... ... ..
Common stock, $1.00 stated value:
Class A authorized 150,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
104,469,572 and 104,071,027 shares at October 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively . .. ... ...
Class B authorized 5,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
3,555,020 shares at October 31, 2002 and 2001,
10 votes per share; convertible into an equal number of
ClassAshares ...... ... ... ... .. .. . . ...
Additional paid-incapital . ........ ... ... .. L
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss:
Cumulative foreign translation adjustment .............. . .......
Unrealized depreciation of investments . .. ............. ... .....
Derivative financial instrument losses .. ... ... ... ... ... . ... ..
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss .. ... ....... ... .. .
Total shareholders’ equity . .. ......... .. .. ... ... ... ..
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .............. ... .. .. ...

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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October 31,

2002 2001
$ 6,689 hy 6,828
11,113 6,073
13,903 17,212
14,764 16,992
14,642 16,276
10,978 9,406
2,911 103,568
75,000 176,355
545,255 684,036
1,561,533 1,605,533
21,533 20,423
2,203,321 2,486,347
104,470 104,071
3,555 3,555
677,087 675,310
30,604 (1,262)
— (26,957)
(965) (1,310)
(2,488) (1,347)
(3,453 (29,614
812,263 752,060
$3,015,584 $3,238,407




STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC,
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSQLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Doliars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Unrealized
Retained Cumulative Appreciation Derivative
Additional Earnings Foreign (Depreciation) Financial Total
Common Paid-In (Accumulated Translation of Instrument Shareholders’
Stock Capital __ Deficit) Adjustment Investments Gains (Losses) __Equity
Balance October 31,1999 . ......... $ 106,219 @  § 671,891 $ 347,002 $ (65,152) $  (3,348) $ — $ 1,056,612
Comprehensive income (loss):
Neteamings ................... 66,794 66,794
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign translation adjustment .. (38,401) (38,401)
Unrealized depreciation of
investments ................ (9,969) (9,969)
Deferred income tax benefit
on unrealized depreciation
ofinvestments .............. 3,639 3,639
Total other comprehensive
loss ... - — — (38,401) (6,330) — (44,731)
Total comprehensive income (loss) . — — 66,794 (38,401) (6,330) — 22,063
Issuance of commonstock .......... 613 1,767 2,380
Dividends ($.06 per share) ......... (6,398) (6,398)
Balance October 31,2000 .......... $ 106,832 W § 673658 $ 407,398 $ (103,553) § (9,678 b) — $1,074,657
Balance October 31,2000 .......... $ 106,832 ©  § 673,658 $ 407,398 $ (103,553) 3 (9,678) 3 — $ 1,074,657
Comprehensive income (loss):
Netloss....................... (408,660) (408,660)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Reclassification adjustment for
realized loss on foreign
translation . ................ 74,754 74,754
Foreign translation adjustment . . 1,842 1,842
Cumulative effect of change
in accounting for unrealized
appreciation of investments
under SAB No. 101 ......... 8,494 8,494
Unrealized depreciation of
mvestments .. .............. (205) (205)
Deferred income tax benefit
on unrealized depreciation
of investments . ............. 79 79
Cumulative effect of change
in accounting for derivative
financial instrument .. ... .. .. 4,693 4,693
Unrealized depreciation on
derivative instrument designated
and qualifying as a cash flow
hedging instrument ... ... .... (6,040) (6,040)
Total other comprehensive
income (loss) ........... .... — —_ — 76,596 8,368 (1,347 83,617
Total comprehensive income (loss) . — — (408,660) 76,596 8,368 (1,347) (325,043)
Issuance of common stock ...... .., . 794 1,652 2,446
Balance October 31,2001 .......... $ 107,626 ® $ 675,310 $  (1,262) 3 (26,957) $ (1,310 $ (1,341 $ 752,060
(continued)
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STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.

AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHCLDERS’ EQUITY
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Unrealized
Retained Cumulative Appreciation Derivative
Additional Earnings Foreign (Depreciation) Financial Total
Common Paid-In (Accumulated Translation of Instrument Sharehoiders’
Stock Capital Deficit) Adjustment Investments Gains (Losses) __Equity
Balance October 31,2001 ....... ... $ 107,626 © § 675310 5 (1,262) 5 (26,957) $ (1,310) h) (1,347) $ 752,060
Comprehensive income (loss):
Neteamnings ................... 31,866 31,866
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Reclassification adjustment for
realized loss on foreign
translation .................. 35,502 35,902
Foreign translation adjustment . .. (8,945) (8,945)
Unrealized appreciation of
investments ................. S12 512
Deferred income tax expense
on unrealized appreciation
of investments ............... (167) (167)
Expiration of derivative instrument
designated and qualifying as a
cash flow hedging instrument . . . 2,128 2,128
Unrealized depreciation on
derivative instrument designated
and qualifying as a cash flow
hedging instrument . .......... (4,012) (4,012)
Net deferred income tax on
unrealized depreciation on
derivative instrument designated
and qualifying as a cash flow
hedging instrument ........... 743 743
Total other comprehensive
income (loss) ................ — — — 26,957 345 (1,141) 26,161
Total comprehensive income (loss) . — — 31,866 26,957 345 (1,141) 58,027
Issuance of commonstock . ......... 399 1,777 2,176
Balance October 31,2002 .......... $ 108,025 ©® $§ 677,087 $ 30,604 3 — ) (965) $ (2,488 $ 812263

" Amount includes shares of common stock with a stated value of $1 per share and includes 3,555 shares (in thousands) of Class B common stock.
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STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Doilars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Neteamnings (I0ss) . ....... ... . i i
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Loss on assets held for sale and other charges ... ... ... ..
Extraordinary item - early extinguishment of debt . ... ... ...
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles . ... ...
Depreciation and amortization . ........................
Provision for doubtful accounts ........... .. ... .. ...,
Net (gains) losses realized on marketable securities .. ... ...
Net (gains) losses on saleof assets . ..... ... .. ... .......
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes . .............
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects
from acquisitions:
(Increase) decrease inreceivables .. ..................
(Increase) decrease in deferred charges and intangible
BSSEIS . .
(Increase) decrease in inventories and cemetery
PIODETLY . ... .
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued
EXPEISES . .o
Change in prearranged activity .. ............ ... ... ..
Prearranged acquisition costs .. ............... . .....
Increase in merchandise trust, less estimated cost to
delivermerchandise .............. ... ... ... ... ...
Increase (decrease) inother . ... ........ ... ... .. ...
Net cash provided by operating activities . . ...............

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from sales of marketable securities and long-term
MVESIMENtS . ... ... .. ...

Purchases of marketable securities and long-term investments . . .

Proceeds from sale of assets,net . ....... ... ... ... ... . ... ..

Purchases of subsidiaries, net of cash, seller financing and
stockissued ...

Additions to property and equipment . ... ... ...

Other
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Year Ended Qctober 31,
2002 2001 2000

$ 31,866 $(408,660) § 66,794
18,500 269,158 —
— 5,472 —

— 250,004 —
56,177 79,192 54,267
11,499 15,190 35,877
485 63 (1,079)
(808) 626 —
13,617 (39,884) 9,001
7,699 (9,137) (20,897)
5,943 1,565 (6,064)
(2,219) 8,657 (8,336)
(5,597) (2,526) (6,751)
(13,816) (19,786) (17,687)
(31,240) (33,668) —
— — (39,541)
1,617 806 3,967
90,489 117,072 69,551
169 4,544 65,100
(42) (1,920) (13,771)
69,803 81,469 —
— — (804)
(18,630) (26,049) (36,017)
2,127 591 1,326
53,427 58,635 15,834
(continued)




Cash flows from financing activities:
Funeral trust withdrawal ... ....... .. ... .. .. ... oo
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Debt1SSUe COSIS .. ..o ot
Issuance of common stock
Dividends . ....... ... ... . .

Net cash used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents

Net increase (decrease) imcash . ......... ... ... ... ... ......
Cash and cash equivalents, beginmng of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid (received) during the year for:
Income taxes
Interest

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Subsidiaries acquired through seller financing ...............
[ssuance of common stock to fund employee benefit plan

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Doilars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
— 40,000 —
— 725,000 8,366
(139,502)  (977,973) (23,150)
— (34,271) —
858 915 2,380
— — (6,398)
(138,644) (246,329) (18,802)
(205) 2,150 (5,865)
5,067 (68,472) 60,718
23,123 91,595 30,877
$ 28190 $§ 23,123  $ 91,595
$(12,700) $ 7,100 $ 30,400
$ 57400 § 56,700 $ 65,100
s  — 3 — $ 13,900
$ 1318 § 1,531 L J—




STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(1) The Company

Stewart Enterprises, Inc. (the “Company”) is a provider of funeral and cemetery products and services in the death care
industry in the United States. Through its subsidiaries, the Company offers a complete range of funeral merchandise and
services, along with cemetery property, merchandise and services, both at the time of need and on a preneed basis.

As of October 31, 2002, the Company operated 307 funeral homes and 150 cemeteries in 29 states within the United
States and Puerto Rico. In fiscal year 2001, the Company sold its operations in Mexico, Australia, New Zealand, Belgium
and the Netherlands, which consisted of 94 funeral homes and 2 cemeteries. In fiscal year 2002, the Company sold its
remaining foreign operations in Spain, Portugal, France, Canada and Argentina, which consisted of 196 funeral homes and
8 cemeteries.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. See Note 11 for a discussion of assets held for sale and
liabilities associated with assets held for sale.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting pericd. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(c) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Estimated fair value amounts have been determined using available market information and the valuation methodologies
described below. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value.
Accordingly, the estimates presented herein may not be indicative of the amounts the Company could realize in a current
market. The use of different market assumptions or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated
fair value amounts.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and current receivables approximate fair value due to the short-term
nature of these instruments. The carrying amount of receivables due beyond one year approximates fair value because they
bear interest at rates currently offered by the Company for receivables with similar terms and maturities. The carrying
amounts of marketable securities are stated at fair value as they are classified as available for sale under the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities.” The fair value of the Company’s long-term variable- and fixed-rate debt is estimated using quoted market prices,
where applicable, or future cash flows discounted at rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements as discussed in Note
12.
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STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies--(Continued)
(d) Prearranged Trust Receivable

The Company evaluates the collectibility of the prearranged trust receivable for impairment when the fair market value
of the trust assets are below the recorded prearranged receivable balance. A prearranged trust receivable is deemed to be
impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to collect all
amounts from the trust at the time the receivables are due. In those instances that a receivable 1s deemed to be impaired, the
trust receivable is reduced to the currently estimated recoverable amount with a corresponding reduction to the associated
deferred revenue balance. There is no income statement impact as long as the deferred revenue is not below the estimated
costs to deliver the underlying products or services. If the deferred revenue were below the estimated cost to deliver the
underlying products or services, the Company would record a charge to earnings. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2002, the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $20,000 related to its prearranged receivables from its trust funds,
which resulted in a reduction in prearranged receivables and prearranged deferred revenue. See Note 4 for a discussion of
the Company’s prearranged receivables and prearranged deferred revenue.

(e) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (specific identification and first-in, first-out methods) or net realizable value.

The portion of developed cemetery property that management estimates will be used in the next twelve months is included
in inventories.

(f) Depreciation and Amortization

Buildings and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 19 to
45 years and from 3 to 10 years, respectively, primarily using the straight-line method. For the fiscal years ended October
31,2002, 2001 and 2000, depreciation expense totaled approximately $26,226, $28,967 and $28,938, respectively.

Goodwill or costs in excess of net assets of companies acquired, totaled approximately $491,810 as of October 31, 2002
and 2001. Accumulated amortization included in goodwill was $65,912 as of October 31, 2002 and 2001. The Company’s
accounting for goodwill changed in the first quarter of fiscal year 2002 with the implementation of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangibles.” SFAS No. 142 provides that goodwill is no longer amortized, but must be tested for impairment
using a fair value approach rather than an undiscounted cash flow approach. The Company’s evaluation of goodwill is
performed at the funeral and cemetery segments, which constitute the Company’s reporting units. The Company did not
record any impairment loss upon implementation of SFAS No. 142. On at least an annual basis, the Company compares
the fair value with the book value for each reporting unit. Prior to the implementation of SFAS No. 142, the Company

amortized goodwill principally over 40 years using the straight-line method. For further discussion of SFAS No. 142, see
Note 3.

(g) Foreign Currency Translation
In accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation,” all assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries were translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the end of the period until they were sold, and

revenues and expenses were translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the period until they were sold. The
resulting translation adjustments were reflected in a separate component of shareholders’ equity. As discussed in Note 11,
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STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCJAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies--(Continued)

at the time of sale the Company realized comprehensive income and an increase to shareholders’ equity for the cumulative
foreign currency translation adjustments related to the sale of the Company’s operations in Mexico, Australia, New Zealand,
Belgium and the Netherlands in 2001 and Spain, Portugal, France, Canada and Argentina in 2002.

In the first quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a $6,215 cumulative foreign translation adjustment related to its
operations in Argentina. [n previous years, the Argentine peso was valued at a one-to-one ratio with the U.S. dollar, and
no foreign currency translation adjustment related to the Company’s operations in Argentina was necessary. Due to the
depressed economic conditions existing in Argentina, the Argentine peso had significantly devalued, which necessitated the
need for an adjustment.

(h) Stock-Based Compensation

At October 31, 2002, the Company had five stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described in more
detail in Note 15. The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and has adopted the disclosure-only
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure - an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123.” No stock-based employee
compensation cost 1s reflected in net earnings, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to or
greater than the market value of the underlying common stock on the grant date. The following table illustrates the effect
on net earnings (loss) and net earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation.

Year Ended October 31,
2002 2001 2000
Net earnings (loss) ... ... . . $ 31,866 $(408,660) $ 66,794
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value-based method, netoftax ... ... ......... ... ... (3,799 (4,963) (4,855)

Pro forma net earnings (loss) . . ............ . ... ... ... $ 28067 $(413,623) $ 61,939
Net earnings (loss) per common share:

Basic-asreported ...... ... .. ... . ... ... ... ... ... ... $ 30 $ (338D $ .63

Basic-proforma ....... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... $ 26 $ (385 $ .58

Diluted-asreported . ........... ... .. . ... ... .. $ 29 § (38D $ 63

Diluted -proforma . ...... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... $ 26 $ (385 $ .58

(1) Funeral Revenue
The Company sells prearranged funeral services and merchandise under contracts that provide for delivery of the

services and merchandise at the time of death. Prearranged funeral services are recorded as funeral revenue in the period
the funeral is performed. Prearranged funeral merchandise is recognized as revenue upon delivery.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies--(Continued)

Commissions and other direct costs that vary with and are primanily related to the acquisition of new prearranged funeral
services and prearranged funeral merchandise sales are deferred and amortized as the funeral contracts are delivered in
accordance with SFAS No. 60, “Accounting and Reporting for Insurance Companies.” Indirect costs of marketing
prearranged funeral services are expensed in the period in which incurred.

Prearranged funeral services and merchandise generally are funded either through trust funds or escrow accounts
established by the Company or through third-party msurance companies. Principal amounts deposited in the trust funds or
escrow accounts are available to the Company as funeral services and merchandise are delivered and are refundable to the
customer in those situations where state law provides for the return of those amounts under the purchaser’s option to cancel
the contract. Certain jurisdictions provide for non-refundable trust funds or escrow accounts where the Company receives
such amounts upon cancellation by the customer. The Company defers all dividends and interest earned, and net capital
gains and losses realized by preneed funeral service trust funds or escrow accounts until the underlying service is delivered.

Earnings are withdrawn only as funeral services and merchandise are delivered or contracts are cancelled, except in
Jurisdictions that permit earnings to be withdrawn currently and in unregulated jurisdictions where escrow accounts are used.
When prearranged funeral services and merchandise are funded through insurance policies purchased by customers from
third-party insurance companies, the Company earns a commission on the sale of the policies. Insurance commissions, net
of related expenses, are recognized at the point at which the commission is no longer subject to refund. Policy proceeds
including the buildup in the face value of the insurance contracts are available to the Company as funeral services and
merchandise are delivered.

Effective November 1, 2000, the Company changed its method of accounting for preneed funeral merchandise. See
the discussion of these accounting changes in Note 3.

Funeral services sold at the time of need are recorded as funeral revenue in the period the funeral is performed.
() Cemetery Revenue

Effective November 1, 2000, the Company changed its method of accounting for preneed sales of merchandise and
cemetery services and cemetery merchandise trust earnings as discussed in Note 3.

In certain jurisdictions in which the Company operates, local law or contracts with customers generally require that a
portion of the sale price of preneed cemetery merchandise and services be placed in trust funds or escrow accounts. The
Company defers all dividends and interest earned, and net capital gains and losses realized, by preneed cemetery merchandise
and services trust funds or escrow accounts until the underlying merchandise is delivered. Principal and earnings are
withdrawn only as the merchandise is delivered or contracts are cancelled.

Pursuant to perpetual care contracts and laws, a portion, generally 10 percent, of the proceeds from cemetery property
sales 1s deposited into perpetual care trust funds. The income from these funds, which have been established in most
jurisdictions in which the Company operates cemeteries, is used for maintenance of those cemeteries, but principal, including
in some jurisdictions net realized capital gains, must generally be held in perpetuity. Accordingly, the trust fund corpus is
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIJAL STATEMENTS
(Doliars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies--(Continued)

not reflected in the consolidated financial statements. The Company currently recognizes and withdraws all dividend
and interest income earned and, where permitted, capital gains realized by perpetual care funds.

Some of the Company’s sales of cemetery property and merchandise are made under installment contracts bearing
interest at prevailing rates. Finance charges are recognized as cemetery revenue under the effective interest method over
the terms of the related installment receivables.

(k) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company establishes a reserve based on a range of percentages applied to accounts receivable aging categories.
These percentages are based on historical collection and write-off experience.

() Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and lLiability method under which deferred income taxes are recognized
for the tax consequences of “temporary differences” by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable to future years to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and operating
losses and tax credit carry forwards. The effect on deferred taxes for a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date. Management would provide a valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset
for amounts which are not considered more likely than not to be realized. For additional information, see Note 14.

(m) Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the number of additional common shares that would have been
outstanding if the dilutive potential common shares (in this case, exercise of the Company’s time-vest stock options) had
been issued during each period as discussed in Note 13.

(n) Derivatives

The Company accounts for its derivative financial instruments under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities —
Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 133” and SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative
Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.” The notional amounts of derivative financial instruments do not represent
amounts exchanged between parties and, therefore, are not a measure of the Company’s exposure resulting from its use of
derivatives. The amounts exchanged are calculated based upon the notional amounts as well as other terms of the
instruments, such as interest rates, exchange rates or other indices. In accordance with SFAS No. 133, the Company
accounts for its interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges whereby the fair value of the interest rate swaps are reflected as a
liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet with the offset recorded to other comprehensive income. For further
information regarding the Company’s interest rate swaps, see Note 12.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies--(Continued)
(0) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2001 and 2000 consolidated financial statements. These
reclassifications had no effect on net earnings (loss) or shareholders’ equity. Beginning in fiscal year 2001, prearranged
acquisition costs and the change in prearranged activity are included in operating activities in the accompanying statements
of cash flows. These cash flows have characteristics of cash flows both from operating and investing activities. For
comparative purposes, prearranged activity, as previously reported, has been reclassified in the accompanying statement of
cash flows and resulted in a decrease in cash flows from operating activities for the year ended October 31, 2000 by $17,687
and an increase in cash flows from investing activities by a corresponding amount. In fiscal year 2002, interest expense and
investment income are presented as individual line items in the consolidated statements of earnings. In fiscal year 2001 and
2000, interest expense and investment income were netted and presented as one line item in the consolidated statements of
earmings. For comparative purposes, a reclassification has been made to the consolidated statements of earnings for fiscal
years 2001 and 2000.

(3) Change in Accounting Principles
(a) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” Although not required to implement SFAS No. 142 until the first quarter of fiscal year 2003, the
Company implemented it in the first quarter of fiscal year 2002,

SFAS No. 142 addresses financial accounting and reporting for goodwill and other intangible assets. SFAS No. 142
provides that goodwill is no longer amortized, but must be tested for impairment using a fair value approach rather than an
undiscounted cash flow approach. Goodwill must be tested for impairment at a level referred to as a reporting unit, generally
a level lower than that of the total entity. The Company’s evaluation of goodwill is performed at the funeral and cemetery
segments, which constitute the Company’s reporting units. SFAS No. 142 requires entities to perform the first goodwill
impairment test by comparing the fair value with the book value of a reporting unit on all reporting units within six months
of adopting the statement. Any impairment loss recognized in connection with adoption of SFAS No. 142 1s recorded as
a change in accounting principle. The Company did not record any impairment loss upon implementation of SFAS No. 142,

Impairment losses recognized as a result of an impairment test occurring subsequent to the first six months after
adoption will be included in operating income. Goodwill of a reporting unit must be tested for impairment after the initial
adoption of the statement on an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.
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(3) Change in Accounting Principles--(Continued)

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company allocated goodwill amortization between its funeral and cemetery
segments thereby impacting funeral and cemetery gross profit. As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company
no longer amortizes goodwill, effective November 1, 2001. The following is a reconciliation of net earnings (loss) and net
earnings (loss) per share for the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, adjusted for the elimination of goodwill
amortization required by SFAS No. 142.

Year Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Farnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principles . ... ... $ 31,866  $(153,184) § 66,794
Goodwill amortization (netof tax) . ... ... ... . ... .. .. ... .. .. ... — 17,459 17,812
Adjusted earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principles ............. ... .. ... . .. 31,866 (135,725) 84,606
Extraordinary item - early extinguishment ofdebt ........... .. ... . .. — (5,472) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles .. .......... ... .. — {250,004) —
Adjusted net earnings (10SS) .. ... ... $ 31,866  $(391,201) $ 84,606
Basic earnings (loss) per common share:
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principles . .. ........... ... ... § 30 § (143 % .63
Goodwill amortization .. ......... ... . — 17 17
Adjusted earnings (loss) before extraordinary item
and cumulative effect of change in accounting principles . ... . .. $ .30 (1.26) .80
Extraordinary item - early extinguishment of debt . . ...... ... .. — (.05) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles .. ....... .. — (2.33) —
Adjusted net earnings (10ss) . ... ... .. $ 30 $ (3.64) $ .80
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principles ... ....... ... ... ... $ 29 8 (143 §% 63
Goodwill amortization . ............ ... .. . ..o — 17 17
Adjusted earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principles .......... .29 (1.26) .80
Extraordinary item - early extinguishment of debt . . ......... ... — (.05) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles . .. ........ — (2.33) —
Adjusted netearnings (loss) ... ... . ... ... ... L. $ 29 % (364) $ .80

The carrying amount of goodwill at October 31, 2002 and 2001 amounted to $491,810.
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(3) Change in Accounting Principles--(Continued)
(b) SAB No. 101

The Company reached a final resolution on discussions with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™) No. 101 - “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements” as it relates to prearranged sales
activities. Although not required to implement SAB No. 101 until the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, the Company
elected to implement the new accounting guidance in the first quarter of fiscal year 2001, The accounting for the Company’s
preneed sales activities was affected as follows:

For preneed sales of interment rights, the associated revenue and all costs to acquire the sale are recognized in
accordance with SFAS No. 66, “Accounting for Sales of Real Estate.” Under SFAS No. 66, recognition of revenue and costs
must be deferred until 10 percent of the property sale price has been collected. Previously, the revenue and costs were
recognized at the time the contract was executed with the customer.

For preneed sales of cemetery merchandise, primarily vaults and markers, and preneed sales of cemetery service fees,
primarily openings and closings of burial sites and installations of markers, the associated revenue and certain costs to
acquire the sale are deferred until the merchandise 1s delivered or the service is performed. Previously, the revenue and costs
were recognized at the time the contract was executed with the customer.

Cemetery merchandise trust earnings are deferred until the underlying merchandise is delivered. Previously, the
earnings were recognized as earned in the trust.

Accounting for preneed funeral service sales and earnings on preneed funeral merchandise and services trust funds was
not affected, as those revenues were recognized upon delivery of funeral merchandise and services under the Company’s
historical accounting methods.

Preneed funeral merchandise sales, primarily caskets, and associated direct selling costs, primarily commissions and
direct obtaining costs, are deferred until the merchandise 1s delivered, at which time they will be reflected in funeral revenue
and funeral cost of sales, respectively. Previously, these sales and associated direct costs were recognized as funeral revenue
and funeral cost of sales, respectively, when the contract was executed with the customer.

The method of accounting for perpetual care trusts was not affected. Earnings on those trusts continue to be recognized
as they are earned in the trusts to offset the costs of maintaining the Company’s cemeteries.

The implementation of SAB No. 101 resulted in several changes to the Company’s balance sheet including the addition
of two new categories: prearranged receivables, net and prearranged deferred revenue, net. Prearranged receivables are
related to preneed sales of funeral and cemetery merchandise and services. Prearranged receivables represent the funds owed
to the Company (1) from preneed funeral merchandise and services trusts and from preneed cemetery merchandise and
services trusts, which represent amounts already paid by customers, as well as realized earnings on those amounts, (2) from
customers and (3) from insurance companies. Prearranged deferred revenue represents the revenue the Company will
recognize upon delivery of the preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise and services at the time of need. The net change
in prearranged receivables and prearranged deferred revenue is recognized in the cash flow statement in the operating section
as a change in prearranged activity.
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(3) Change in Accounting Principles--(Continued)

Prior to the adoption of SAB No. 101, neither the funeral trust assets nor the receivables related to preneed funerals
were included on the balance sheet. Receivables due from customers related to preneed cemetery merchandise and services
were previously included with other receivables on the balance sheet. The preneed cemetery merchandise and services trust
asset was previcusly reported as an asset on the balance sheet and the estimated cost to deliver cemetery services and
merchandise was reported as a liability on the balance sheet.

All direct costs that vary with and are primarily related to the acquisition of new sales of preneed funeral and cemetery
merchandise and cemetery services are now included in deferred charges (asset). Previously, these costs were expensed as
incurred. Also included in deferred charges are the costs to acquire preneed funeral service sales, which is consistent with
the Company’s historical accounting methods. The cost to acquire all preneed merchandise and service sales are included
in the operating section of the cash flow statement as prearranged acquisition costs.

The Company filed a Form 8-K dated March 14, 2001 which describes in detail its current accounting methods as
compared to its previous accounting methods.

The cumulative effect of these changes on prior years resulted in a decrease in net earnings for the year ended October
31,2001 of $250,004 (net of a $166,669 income tax benefit), or $2.33 per share. The effect of the change in accounting
principles for the year ended October 31, 2001 was an increase in net earnings of $14,317, or $.13 per share. Additionally,
the Company corrected the application of purchase price allocations related to certain prior period acquisitions. These non-
SAB No. 101 adjustments were immatertal to the Company’s financial position and current and prior period results.

(c) Other Changes

In June 2001, the FASB 1ssued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” which prohibits the use of the pooling method
of accounting for business combinations. The provisions of SFAS No. 141 are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001. The Company adopted this statement in the first quarter of 2002, and it had no impact on the
Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. [43
addresses the diversity in practice for recognizing asset retirement obligations (*ARO’s”). SFAS No. 143 requires that
obligations associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset be recorded as a liability when those obligations are
incurred, with the amount of the liability initially measured at fair value. Upon initially recognizing a liability for ARO’s,
an entity must capitalize the cost by recognizing an increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time,
the liability is accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the
related asset. Upon settlement of the liability, an entity either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain
or loss. SFAS No. 143 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002, although early
application is encouraged. The implementation of SFAS No. 143 in fiscal year 2003 will have no impact on the Company’s
financial condition or results of operations.
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(3) Change in Accounting Principies--(Continued)

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”
SFAS No. 144 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. This
statement supercedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to
be Disposed of,” and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations
- Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring
Events and Transactions,” for the disposal of a segment of a business. Because SFAS No. 121 did not address the
accounting for a segment of a business accounted for as a discontinued operation under APB Opinion No. 30, two accounting
models existed for long-lived assets to be disposed. The FASB decided to establish a single accounting model based on the
framework established in SFAS No. 121 for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. The FASB also decided to resolve
significant implementation issues related to SFAS No. 121. The provisions of the statement are effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early
application encouraged. The provisions of this statement generally are to be applied prospectively. The Company believes
that the adoption of SFAS No. 144 in fiscal year 2003 will have no impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13 and Technical Corrections.” With the rescission of FASB Statements No. 4 and 64, only gains and
losses from extinguishments of debt meeting the criteria in APB Opinion No. 30 would be classified as extraordinary items.
Applying the provisions of APB Opinion No. 30 will distinguish transactions that are part of an entity’s recurring operations
from those that are unusual or infrequent or that meet the criteria for classification as an extraordinary item. This statement
also rescinds FASB Statement No. 44, “Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers.” This statement amends FASB
Statement No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” to eliminate an inconsistency between the required accounting for sale-leaseback
transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are similar to sale-
leaseback transactions. This statement also amends other existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical
corrections, clarify meanings or describe their applicability under changed conditions. SFAS No. 145 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after May 15, 2002. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of SFAS No. 145
may have on its financial condition and results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.”
This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits
and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” SFAS No. 146 requires that a
liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF Issue
No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The FASB reached
the conclusion that an entity’s commitment to a plan, by itself, does not create a present obligation to others that meets the
definition of a liability. Therefore, this statement eliminates the definition and requirements for recognition of exit costs in
EITF Issue No. 94-3. This statement also establishes that fair value is the objective for initial measurement of the liability.
The provisions of this statement are effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, with
early application encouraged. The Company believes that the adoption of SFAS No. 146 will have no impact on its financial
condition or results of operations.

In October 2002, the FASB 1ssued SFAS No. 147, “Acquisitions of Certain Financial Institutions - An Amendment of
FASB Statements No. 72 and 144 and FASB Interpretation No. 9. The provision of this statement related to the application
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(3) Change in Accounting Principles--(Continued)

of the purchase method of accounting 1s effective for acquisitions for which the date of acquisition is on or after October 1,
2002. The provisions related to accounting for the impairment or disposal of certain long-term customer-relationship
intangible assets are effective on October 1, 2002. Transition provisions for previously recognized unidentifiable intangible
assets are effective on October 1, 2002, with earlier application permitted. The Company believes that the adoption of SFAS
No. 147 will have no impact on 1its financial condition or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB 1ssued FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements
No. 5, 57 and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34.” FIN 45 clarifies the requirements of SFAS No. 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies,” relating to the guarantor’s accounting for, and disclosure of, the issuance of certain types
of guarantees. The disclosure provisions of FIN 45 are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods that
end after December 15, 2002, which will be the Company’s first quarter of fiscal 2003. However, the provisions for initial
recogrition and measurement are effective on a prospective basis for guarantees that are 1ssued or modified after December
31, 2002, wrespective of a guarantor’s year-end. The Company has not assessed the impact, if any, of the adoption of FIN
45,

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure - an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change
to the fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, this statement amends
the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial
statements about the method of accounting for stock-based emplovee compensation and the effect of the method used on
reported results. This statement also requires that those effects be disclosed more prominently by specifying the form, content
and location of those disclosures. SFAS No. 148 improves the prominence and clarity of the pro forma disclosures required
by SFAS No. 123 by prescribing a specific tabular format and by requiring disclosure in the “Summary of Sigmficant
Accounting Policies” or its equivalent. In addition, this statement improves the timeliness of those disclosures by requiring
their inclusion in financial reports for interim periods. This statement is effective for financial statements for fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002 and is effective for financial reports containing condensed financial statements for interim
periods beginning after December 15, 2002 with earlier application permitted. The Company early adopted the disclosure
provisions of SFAS No. 148 and presented the pro forma effects of SFAS No. 123 for fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000 in
Note 2.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities.” FIN 46 clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,”
to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have
sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable interest
entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It applies in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning
after June 15, 2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it acquired before
February 1, 2003. FIN 46 applies to public enterprises as of the beginning of the applicable interim or annual period. The
Company 1s in the process of determining what impact, if any, the adoption of the provisions of FIN 46 will have upon its
financial condition or results of operations.
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(4) Prearranged Receivables and Prearranged Deferred Revenue

Prearranged receivables are comprised of funds owed to the Company for the preneed sale of funeral and cemetery
merchandise and services (1) from preneed funeral merchandise and service trusts and from preneed cemetery merchandise
and service trusts, which represent amounts already paid by customers, as well as realized earnings on those amounts, (2)

from customers and (3) from insurance companies.

Prearranged receivables are comprised of the following:

October 31,
2002 2001

Amounts due from preneed funeral trust and escrow accounts ... ....... .. $ 538,180 § 537,09
Amounts due from preneed cemetery merchandise trust funds

and eSCrOW aCCOUNES . .. .. ..ot 227,588 219,270

Amounts due from CUSIOMErS . . ... ... ..t 152,987 199,619

Amounts due from Insurance COMpanies .. ........................... 302,159 274,759

Valuation allowance for amounts due from trust fund accounts . .. ........ (20,000) —

Net prearranged receivables .. .......... .. . ... oo $1,200,914 $1,230,744

Amounts due from preneed funeral trust fund and escrow accounts are comprised of the following investments:

October 31,
2002 2001

U.S. Government, agencies and municipalities .. ...... ... ... ... ... .. $ 8158 $ 10,993
Canadian Government, agencies and municipalities . ....... .. .... ... .. — 29,574
Corporatebonds . ... ... .. .. .. 53,571 69,579
Preferred stocks ... ... ... 81,195 73,859
Common StockS . .. ... 281,666 242,925
Money market funds and other short-term investments . . .......... ... ... 88,335 129,763
Mutual funds . ... . 20,258 14,373
Insurance contracts and other long-term investments ................... 4,997 4,997

less Canadian funeral trust investments held forsale . .. ... ... ... ... .. — (38,967)
Total value atcost . ... .. .. . . . . . 538,180 537,096
Net unrealized depreciation . ............ .. .. .. ... o (116,760 (65,876)
Total value atmarket .. ... ... .. .. $421,420 $ 471,220
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(4) Prearranged Receivables and Prearranged Deferred Revenue--(Continued)

Amounts due from preneed cemetery merchandise trust fund and escrow accounts are comprised of the following

Investments:
October 31,
2002 2001
U.S. Government, agencies and municipalities . ... ....... ... .. ... .... $ 1,509 $ 3,172
Corporatebonds . ... ... ... . . 33,389 46,078
Preferred stocks ... ... .. . . . 29,877 23,789
Common StockS . .. .. 137,924 112,870
Money market funds and other short-term investments . .. ........ ... ... . 20,652 29,884
Mutualfunds . ... ... 4,112 3,352
Insurance contracts and other long-term investments .. ................. 125 125
Total value at coSt . .. .. .. 227,588 219,270
Net unrealized depreciation .. ... ...... ... ... i (60,010) (38,980)
Total value atmarket ....... ... .. ... ... $£167,578 $ 180,290
The amounts due from customers represent installment contracts bearing interest at prevailing rates. The Company also

has similar installment contracts for the preneed sale of cemetery property as discussed in Note 8. The total finance charges
eamed related to preneed funeral and cemetery merchandise and services, as well as preneed cemetery property, amounted
to $17,920, $23,660 and $27,141 for fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Finance charges earned are included

m funeral and cemetery revenue.
Prearranged Deferred Revenue

Prearranged deferred revenue is comprised of the following:

October 31,
2002 2001
Prearranged deferred funeral service and merchandise revenue . ....... ... $1,053,852 $1,055,492
Prearranged deferred cemetery property, merchandise and
SETVICE TEVENUE . .. . .\ttt e 527,681 550,041

Valuation allowance . ... ... ... . . . . ... (20,000)

.............................. $1,561,533 $1,605,533

The prearranged deferred funeral service and merchandise revenue includes $302,159 and $274,759 related to

insurance-funded sales as of October 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Both the prearranged deferred funeral service

and

merchandise revenue and prearranged deferred cemetery property, merchandise and service revenue include deferred trust
earnings as discussed 1n “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -

Summary of Current Accounting for Trust and Escrow Account Earnings” included in Item 7.
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(5) Perpetual Care Trust Funds

The following summary reflects the Company’s perpetual care trust fund account balances. Since principal cannot be
withdrawn, these balances are not reflected in the accompanying financial statements. Funds held in trust are invested, and
the earnings withdrawn from the trust fund accounts are used for the maintenance of cemetery grounds. For the years ended
October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, such withdrawals included in cemetery revenue totaled $11,275, $14,454 and $16,630,
respectively.

QOctober 31,
2002 2001

Perpetual care trust funds:
Investments at market value . .. ... .. .. ... $179,167 $194,999

Amounts to be collected under existing agreements . ......... ... ...... 7,358 8,429
$186,525 $203,428
Investments consist of:
U.S. Government, agencies and municipalities . ... ........ ... ........ $ 5,286 $ 8,140
Corporatebonds ... ...... ... ... .. ... 23,482 27,317
Preferredstocks ... ... ... .. ... 64,535 54,956
Common StockS . .. .. 95,500 87,911
Money market funds and other short-term investments . . ............... 20,646 25,335
Mutual funds . . ... 7,652 6,585
Other long-term InVestments . ................ o, 73 211
Total value at coSt . ... ... .. 217,174 210,455
Net unrealized depreciation .. ...... ... ... ........ ... .. ..., (38,007) (15,456)
Total value atmarket .. ........ ... . .. ... ... $179,167 $194,999

(6) Cash and Cash Equivalent Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. The Company deposits its cash and cash equivalent investments with high quality credit institutions. Such
balances typically exceed applicable FDIC insurance limits. The October 31, 2002 and 2001 balances below include $2
and $5,072 of cash and cash equivalent investments of assets held for sale, respectively.

October 31,
2002 2001
........................................................ $ 28,071 $ 21,706
..................................... 119 1,417
$ 28,190 § 23,123
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(7) Marketable Securities

The market value of marketable securities as of October 31, 2002 and 2001 was $2,588 and $2,614, respectively, which
included gross unrealized losses of $1,557 and $2,071, respectively. The Company realized net losses on marketable
securities of $485 and $63 for the years ended October 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a net gain of $1,079 in the year

ended October 31, 2000. The cost of securities sold was determined by using the average cost method.

(8) Receivables

Current receivables are summarized as follows:

Installment contracts due within one year
Trade, tax and other receivables

Allowance for sales cancellations and doubtful accounts
Amounts to be collected for perpetual care funds

Funeral receivables
Net current receivables

Long-term receivables are summarized as follows:
Installment contracts due beyond one year

Amounts to be collected for perpetual care funds
Net long-term receivables

Allowance for sales cancellations and doubtful accounts
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October 31,
2002 2001
$ 33,755 $ 34,653
44,586 28,503
(3,369) (5,348)
_(.129) _(2.309)
72,843 55,499
13,984 20,721
§ 86.827 $ 76,220
$ 87,750 $ 95,762
(5,868) (8,875)
(5,229 (6,120)
$ 76,653 $ 80,767
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(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

With the implementation of accounting changes effective November 1, 2000, installment contracts due within one year
and due beyond one year include receivables in the Company’s preneed cemetery property sales only. Receivables on
prenced cemetery merchandise and service sales are included in prearranged receivables as discussed in Note 4.

The Company’s receivables as of October 31, 2002 are expected to mature as follows:

Years ending October 31,
2003

2007

(9) Inventories and Cemetery Property

Inventories are comprised of the following:

Developed cemetery property

Merchandise and supplies

Cemetery property is comprised of the following:

Developed cemetery property
Undeveloped cemetery property

....................................................................... $ 86,827
..................................................................... 11,914
....................................................................... 11,753
...................................................................... 12,533
....................................................................... 7,860
................................................................... 32,593

$163,480
October 31,
2002 2001
$ 13,533 $ 14,727
28,133 28,341
§ 41,666 § 43,068
October 31,
2002 2001
$ 89,620 $ 82,840
298,445 303,162
$388,065 $386,002

The portion of developed cemetery property that management estimates will be used in the next twelve months is
included in nventories. The Company evaluates the recoverability of the cost of undeveloped cemetery property by

comparison with undiscounted expected future cash flows.
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(10) Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of Senier Subordinated Notes

The following tables present the condensed consolidating historical financial statements as of October 31, 2002 and
2001, and for the three fiscal years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, for the direct and indirect domestic
subsidiaries of the Company that serve as guarantors of the senior subordinated notes, and the financial results of the
Company’s subsidiaries that do not serve as guarantors. Non-guarantor subsidiaries include the Puerto Rican subsidiaries,
all other non-domestic subsidiaries, Investors Trust, Inc. and certain immaterial domestic subsidiaries which are either
intended to be used for foreign tax planning purposes or are prohibited by law from guaranteeing the senior subordinated
notes.

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Earnings and Other Comprehensive Income

Year Ended October 31, 2002

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Revenues:
Funeral .. ............. ... ...... .. $ — $ 285,754 $ 59,446 $ — $ 345,200
Cemetery ............. ........... — 211,771 24,350 — 236,121
— 497,525 83,796 — 581,321
Costs and expenses:
Funeral ... ... ... ... ... .. .. .. .. — 210,005 47,044 — 257,049
Cemetery .. ....... ... ........... — 156,446 23,042 — 179,488
— 366,451 70,086 — 436,537
Grossprofit ........... ... ... . ... - 131,074 13,710 — 144,784
Corporate general and administrative _
EXPENSES . ... 17,411 (150) — — 17,261
Lossonassetsheld forsale .......... .. — 688 17,812 — 18,500
Operating earnings (loss) . ... ... ... .. (17,411 130,536 (4,102) — 109,023
Interest income (expense) ............. 51,947 (86,959) (27,327) — (62,339)
Investment income .. ..... ... ...... .. 486 — 19 — 505
Otherincome,net... ... ... ... ... .... .. 738 931 463 — 2,132
Earnings (loss) before income taxes . .. 35,760 44,508 (30,947) — 49,321
Incometaxexpense ............. ... .. 8,838 5,527 3.090 — 17,455
Net earnings (loss) before equity
Insubsidiaries ...... ... ... ... ... 26,922 38,981 (34,037) — 31,866
Equity in subsidiaries . .. ... ..... ... ... 4,944 — — (4,944) —
Net earnings (loss) . ............. ... 31,866 38,981 (34,037) (4,944) 31,866
Other comprehensive income, net . . . .. 26,161 1,310 26,957 (28,267) 26,161
Comprehensive income (loss) . ..... .. $ 58,027 $ 40291 $  (7,080) $ (33,211 $ 58027
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(10) Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of Senior Subordinated Notes--(Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Earnings and Other Comprehensive Income

Year Ended October 31, 2001

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Revenues:
Funeral .................... $ —  §$ 280,315 $ 129,938 $ — $ 410,253
Cemetery ................... — 224,137 32,543 — 256,680
— 504,452 162,481 — 666,933
Costs and expenses:
Funeral .................... — 215,682 102,926 — 318,608
Cemetery . .................. — 164,436 32,684 18 197,138
— 380,118 135,610 18 515,746
Grossprofit . . ................ — 124,334 26,871 (18) 151,187
Corporate general and administrative
EXPENSES . . ... 17,978 42 — — 18,020
Loss on assets held for sale and other
charges . ... ... .. ... ... .. ... — 29,430 239,728 — 269,158
Operating earnings (loss) . ... .. ... (17,978) 94,862 (212,857) (18) (135,991)
Interest income (expense) . ......... 72,118 (90,947) (44,743) - (63,572)
Investment income . . . ... ......... 2,632 — 2,580 — 5,212
Other income, net ... ............ 2,763 3,054 1,353 — 7,170
Earnings (loss) before income taxes,
extraordinary item and cumulative
effect of change in accounting
principles ... ... .. ...... ... 59,535 6,969 (253,667) (18) (187,181)
Income tax expense (benefit) ... ... .. (30,899) 967 (4,059) (6) (33,997
Earnings (loss) before extraordinary
item and cumulative effect of change
in accounting principles . ... ... .. 90,434 6,002 (249,608) (12) (153,184)
Extraordinary item — early
extinguishment of debt . .. ..... ... (5.472) _ - - (5,472)
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principles . ........... — (214,356) (35,648) — (250,004)
Net earnings (loss) before equity loss
in subsidiaries . .............. 84,962 (208,354) (285,256) (12) {408,660)
Equity loss in subsidiaries ... ....... (493,622) — — 493,622 —
Netloss .................... (408,660) (208,354) (285,256) 493,610 (408,660)
Other comprehensive income, net . . . 83,617 8,368 76,596 (84,964) 83,617
Comprehensive loss ... ... .. .. .. $(325,043)  $(199,986) $ (208,660) $ 408,646 $(325,043)
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Earnings and Other Comprehensive Income

Year Ended October 31, 2000

Guarantor Nen-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Revenues:
Funeral .................... $ — $ 286,080 $ 165,772 $ — $ 451,852
Cemetery . .................. , — 248,434 34,515 — 282,949
— 534,514 200,287 — 734,801
Costs and expenses:
Funeral .................... (250) 209,611 125,802 — 335,163
Cemetery . .................. — 186,436 34,155 7 220,598
(250) 396,047 159,957 7 555,761
Grossprofit . ................. 250 138,467 40,330 (7) 179,040
Corporate general and administrative
eXPENSEeS . .. ... 19,810 — — 47) 19,763
Operating earnings (loss) . ... ... .. (19,560) 138,467 40,330 40 159,277
Interest income (expense) . ......... 55,571 (79,665) (37,300) — (61,394)
Investmentincome . .............. 2,900 — 2,210 — 5,110
Other income (expense), net . ....... (953) 2,505 642 — 2,194
Earnings before income taxes . ... .. 37,958 61,307 5,882 40 105,187
Income tax expense . ............. 12,647 23,728 2,003 15 38,393
Net earnings before equity in
subsidiaries . .. .............. 25,311 37,579 3,879 25 66,794
Equity in subsidiaries . .. .......... 41,483 — — (41,483) —
Netearnings . ................ 66,794 37,579 3,879 (41,458) 66,794
Other comprehensive loss, net . . . . . . (44,731) (6,330) (38,401) 44,731 (44,731)
Comprehensive income (loss) ... ... § 22063 § 31,249 $ 34,522y § 3,273 $ 22,063
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(10) Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of Senior Subordinated Notes--(Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

October 31, 2002

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalent
investments . .. ............. ... $ 24,752 $ 3,209 $ 229 % — $ 28,190
Marketable securities . ............ 755 26 1,807 - 2,588
Receivables, net of allowances . ... ... 24,340 41,131 21,356 — 86,827
Inventories .. .................. 407 32,987 8,272 — 41,666
Prepaid expenses . . . ........... .. 706 2,032 77 — 2,815
Deferred income taxes, net . ........ 591 757 — — 1,348
Assets held forsale . ............. — 7,937 542 — 8,479
Total current assets . ... ........ 51,551 88,079 32,283 - 171,913
Receivables due beyond one year, net of .
allowances . .................... — 52,020 24,633 — 76,653
Prearranged receivables, net .. ...... .. — 1,181,775 19,139 — 1,200,914
Goodwill .......... ... ... ....... - 452,143 39,667 — 491,810
Deferred charges ................. 8,716 224,959 19,408 — 253,083
Cemetery property, atcost .. ......... — 364,830 23,235 — 388,065
Property and equipment, atcost . . ... ... 29,028 432,492 41,396 — 502,916
Less accumulated depreciation . ... ... 13,385 144,059 11,156 — 168,600
Net property and equipment . . . . ..... 15,643 288,433 30,240 — 334,316
Deferred income taxes, net ... ........ 30,794 63,980 1,020 — 95,794
Investment in subsidiaries . . ... ....... 150,555 — — (150,555) —
Otherassets ..................... 1,981 1,055 — — 3,036
$ 259,240  $2,717,274 $ 189,625 § (150,555) $3,015,584
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-termdebt ... $ 6,689 § — $ - 3 — $ 6,689
Accounts payable . .. ....... ... ... 880 9,836 397 — 11,113
Accrued expenses . .............. 21,247 27,744 5,296 — 54,287
Liabilities associated with assets held
forsale ............. ... ... .. — 2,896 15 — 2,911
Total current liabilities . . .. ... ... 28,816 40,476 5,708 — 75,000
Long-term debt, less current maturities . . . 515,255 — 30,000 — 545,255
Intercompany payables, net . ... .. ... .. (1,112,077) 1,071,567 40,510 - -
Prearranged deferred revenue, net ... ... —_— 1,469,680 91,853 — 1,561,533
Other long-term liabilities . ... ... ... .. 14,983 6,550 — — 21,533
Total liabilities .. ............... (553,023) 2,588,273 168,071 — 2,203,321
Commonstock . .................. 108,025 336 53 (389) 108,025
Other . ...... ... ... .. ... ..... .. 707,691 128,665 21,501 (150,166) 707,691
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . . . (3,453) — — — (3,453
Total shareholders” equity . . .. ...... 812,263 129,001 21,554 (150,555) 812,263
$ 259,240  $2,717,274 $ 189,625 $ (150,555) $3,015,584
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(10) Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of Senior Subordinated Netes--(Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

October 31, 2001

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalent
investments . .................. $ 22,537 $  (5,636) $ 6,222 % - $ 23,123
Marketable securities .. ... ...... .. 727 115 1,772 — 2,614
Receivables, net of allowances .. ... .. 9,006 39,345 27,869 — 76,220
Inventories . ................... 281 31,062 11,725 — 43,068
Prepaid expenses . ... ............ 629 1,506 73 — 2,208
Deferred income taxes, net . ........ 307 (1,805) 4,035 - 2,537
Assets held forsale .............. — 16,550 147,273 — 163,823
Total current assets . ........... 33,487 81,137 198,969 — 313,593
Receivables due beyond one year, net of
allowances .. ................... — 44,402 36,365 - 80,767
Prearranged receivables . ............ — 1,208,189 22,555 — 1,230,744
Goodwill ....... ... ... .. .. ... ... — 452,143 39,667 - 491,810
Deferred charges ................. 8,519 229,495 19,117 — 257,131
Cemetery property, at cost . .......... — 362,767 23,235 — 386,002
Property and equipment, atcost . . . ... .. 26,512 422,370 41,049 — 489,931
Less accumulated depreciation . . ... .. 9,912 127,053 9,512 — 146,477
Net property and equipment . . . ... ... 16,600 295,317 31,537 - 343,454
Deferred income taxes, net .. ......... 60,847 73,219 (2,062) — 132,004
Otherassets . .................... 1,867 1,035 — — 2,902
$ 121,320 $2,747,704 $ 369,383 $ — $3,238,407
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-termdebt ... $ 6,828 % — $ - 3 - $ 6,828
Accounts payable . . .. ...... ... ... (265) 4,933 1,405 — 6,073
Accrued expenses ... ............ 20,866 34,058 4,962 — 59,886
Liabilities associated with assets held
forsale ..................... — 7,844 95,724 —_ 103,568
Total current liabilities . . ... ... .. 27,429 46,835 102,091 — 176,355
Long-term debt, less current maturities . . . 654,036 — 30,000 — 684,036
Intercompany payables, net . . ......... (1,344,251) 1,088,317 255,934 — —
Prearranged deferred revenue . ........ 250 1,515,128 90,155 — 1,605,533
Other long-term liabilities .. .......... 31,796 8,714 — (20,087) 20,423
Total liabilities . ... ............. (630,740) 2,658,994 478,180 (20,087) 2,486,347
Commonstock ................... 107,626 336 53 (389) 107,626
Other ......... . ... ... .. ... ... 674,048 89,684 (81,893) (7,791) 674,048
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . . . (29,614) (1,310) (26,957) 28,267 (29,614)
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) .. .. 752,060 88,710 (108,797) 20,087 752,060
$ 121,320 $2,747,704 $ 369,383 3 — $3,238,407

-78-




STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(10) Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of Senior Subordinated Notes--(Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended October 31, 2002

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Net cash provided by operating
ACHVILES . ... .. ... $ 56,082 $ 32,498 $ 1,909 3 — $ 90,489
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of marketable
securities and long-term
investments .. ............... — — 169 — 169
Purchases of marketable securities
and long-term investments .. ... .. — — (42) — 42)
Proceeds from sale of assets, net . . .. 61,887 7,916 —_ — 69,803
Additions to property and
equipment . . ... .......... ... (2,552) (15,197) (881) — (18,630)
Other ................... ... 1,391 378 358 — 2,127
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities . ......... 60,726 (6,903) (396) — 53,427
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of long-term debt . . . . .. (138,390) — (1,112) — (139,502)
Intercompany receivables
(payables) ................. 22,939 (16,750) (6,189) — —
Issuance of common stock ... ... .. 858 — — — 858
Net cash used in financing
activities . . ... .. .......... (114,593)  (16,750) (7,301 — (138,644)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and
cashequivalents ........... . ... — — (205) — _(205)
Net increase (decrease) incash . . . . ... 2,215 8,845 (5,993) — 5,067
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
VEAT . .o 22,537 (5,636) 6,222 — 23,123
Cash and cash equivalents, end of
VEAT . ... $ 24752 § 3,209 $ 229 $ — $ 28,190
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(18) Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of Senior Subordinated Notes--(Continued)

Condensed Consoiidating Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended October 31, 2001

Guarantor Non-Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities . . ... ... ...... $ 73,136 $ 76,106 $ (32,170) $ — $ 117,072
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of marketable
securities and long-term

investments ... .............. — 4,464 80 — 4,544
Purchases of marketable securities
and long-term investments . ... ... (16) — (1,904) — (1,920)
Proceeds fromi sale of assets, net . . .. 74,131 7,338 — — 81,469
Additions to property and
equipment . ... ... ..... ... ... — (23,295) (2,754) — (26,049)
Other .. ................. ... (997) 1,197 391 — 591
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities . ......... 73,118 (10,296) __ (4,187) — 58,635
Cash tlows from financing activities:
Funeral trust withdrawal ......... — 40,000 — — 40,000
Proceeds from long-term debt . . . . .. 725,000 — - — 725,000
Repayments of long-term debt . . . . . . (927,503) — (50,470) — (977,973)
Intercompany receivables
(payables) ................. 52,280 (111,147) 58,867 — —
Debtissuecosts .. ............. (34,271) — — — (34,271)
Issuance of common stock . ....... 915 — — — 915
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities . ......... (183,579) (71,147) 8,397 — (246,329)
Eftfect of exchange rates on cash and
cashequivalents .. ............. — — 2,150 — 2,150
Net decrease incash . ............ (37,325) (5,337) (25,810) — (68,472)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
VEAT . .. 59,862 (299) 32,032 — 91,595

Cash and cash equivalents, end of
....................... $ 22,537 § (5,636) $ 6,222 $ — $ 23,123
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(10) Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements of Guarantors of Senior Subordinated Notes--(Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating
activities ... ... ... ...
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of marketable
securities and long-term
investments . ................
Purchases of marketable securities
and long-term investments .. ... ..
Purchases of subsidiaries, net of cash,
seller financing and stock issued
Additions to property and
equipment . .. ....... ... ...
Other . .....................
Net cash provided by (used in)
Investing activities . . ... .....
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt . . . . ..
Repayments of long-term debt . . . . ..
Intercompany receivables
(payables) . ................
Issuance of common stock ... ... ..
Dividends . ............ ... ..
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities ... ..... ..
Effect of exchange rates on cash and
cashequivalents .. .............
Net increase (decrease) incash . . ... ..
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
YeAr ...
Cash and cash equivalents, end of
YEAT . ..

Year Ended October 31, 2000

Guarantor Non-Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$§ 39,948 $ 24,598 $ 5,005 $ — $ 69,551
2,990 45,624 16,486 — 65,100
(5,426) (4,285) (4,060) — (13,771)
_ (804) — — (804)
(2,936) (28,669) (4,412) — (36,017)
— 1,192 134 — 1,326
(5,372) 13,058 8,148 — 15,834
8,366 — — — 8,366
(12,344) — (10,806) — (23,150)
21,593 (39,604) 18,011 - —
2,380 — — — 2,380
(6,398) — — — (6,398)
13,597 (39,604) 7,205 — (18,802)
_ — (5,865) — (5,865)
48,173 (1,948) 14,493 — 60,718
11,689 1,649 17,539 — 30,877

$ 59,862 $ (299) $ 32,032 $ — $ 91,595

-81-




STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(11) Loss on Assets Held for Sale and Other Charges

During the third quarter of fiscal year 2001, the Company adopted a formal plan to sell its foreign operations and
certain domestic assets, primarily funeral home real estate and excess cemetery property. In addition, it reviewed non-
competition agreements that it had entered into with sellers, key employees and others in connection with previous
acquisitions, and it decided to relieve some of these individuals from the obligations not to compete, although payments
would continue to be made in accordance with the contract terms.

Based on its progress at that time and management’s and the Board of Directors’ decision to proceed with the sales
of its foreign operations and certain domestic assets if acceptable prices and terms could be obtained, pursuant to SFAS No.
121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of,” in the third quarter
of 2001 the Company wrote down the aggregate value of these assets to their estimated fair value, which was based upon
then current offers from interested parties or market prices of comparable properties, less cost to sell. As a result, the
Company incurred an aggregate pretax noncash charge to earnings of $269,158 ($205,089 after-tax, of which $187,329
related to foreign operations) in the third quarter of 2001. Primarily as a result of the significant devaluation of the Argentine
peso and the depressed economic conditions in Argentina, the Company re-evaluated the expected loss on the disposition
of the assets held for sale and recorded an aggregate pretax noncash charge to earnings of $18,500 ($11,200 after-tax) in
the third quarter of 2002.

"The portion of the charge to equity in the third quarter of fiscal year 2001 that related to foreign operations was equal
to the entire foreign-related after-tax charge to earnings of $187,329. However, the Company had already reduced equity
for the cumulative foreign translation adjustment incurred in each period that it had owned these businesses. Therefore, in
the periods in which the sale of each of the foreign operations was consummated, the cumulative foreign translation
adjustment relating to the operation sold was reversed and included in comprehensive income, resulting in a corresponding
increase in equity. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2001, the Company sold its Mexican, Australian, New Zealand,
Belgian and Dutch operations and realized comprehensive income and an increase in shareholders’ equity for the cumulative
foreign currency translation related to these operations, which equaled $74,754. During fiscal year 2002, the Company sold
its operations in Spain, Portugal, France, Canada and Argentina and realized comprehensive income and an increase in
shareholders’ equity for the cumulative foreign translation adjustments related to these operations, which amounted to
$35,902.

In the consolidated statements of earnings, the impairment charges related to these writedowns and the writedowns
of the non-competition agreements are reflected in the “loss on assets held for sale and other charges” line item. The related
assets and liabilities associated with assets held for sale are shown in separate line items in the consolidated balance sheet
titled “assets held for sale” and “liabilities associated with assets held for sale.” At October 31, 2001, the assets held for
sale (excluding $5,072 of cash and cash equivalent investments of the operations held for sale as of October 31, 2001), and
the liabilities associated with assets held for sale line items in the balance sheet represent the assets and liabilities,
respectively, of all of the Company’s foreign operations and certain domestic assets, primarily funeral home real estate and
excess cemetery property. At October 31, 2002, the assets held for sale (excluding $2 of cash and cash equivalent
investments of the operations held for sale as of October 31, 2002) and the liabilities associated with assets held for sale line
items in the balance sheet represent the assets and habilities, respectively, of certain domestic assets, primarily funeral home
real estate.
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(11) Loss on Assets Held for Sale and Other Charges--(Continued)

A summary of the assets and liabilities included in these line items is as follows:

Assets October 31,
2002 2001

Receivables, net of allowances . . . ... .. ... .. .. .... $ 590 $ 35,762
Inventories and other current assets . . . . . .. ... .... .. 876 6,080
Net property and equipment . ... .. .............. 2,384 47,690
Prearranged receivables, met . .. . ... .. ... ... ... 2,460 43,481
Goodwill . ... ... .. 244 8,031
Deferred charges and other assets . . . . ... ..... ... .. 1,100 13,753
Cemetery Property . . ... ... 825 8,731
Long-term investments . . ... .. ... ........... .. — 295

Assetsheld forsale . . ..... .. ... .. . ....... $ 8,479 $163,823

Liabilities

Current liabilities . . ... ... ... .. . ... ... . ... ... $ 561 $ 22,136
Deferred income taxes, net . . ... ... .. ... ... 299 9,362
Prearranged deferred revenue, net . . .. ... ... ... ... 2,051 62,376
Long-termdebt ... ... . ... . .. ... o0 — 2,603
Other long-term liabilities . . . . ... ... .. .. ... .. .. — 7,091

Liabilities associated with assets held forsale . . . . .. § 2911 $103,568

The operating results of assets sold and held for sale included in the consolidated statements of earnings for the years

ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were as follows:

Revenues . ... ..

Operating earnings

Year Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
............................ § 47,183 $ 122,999 $ 155,872
............................ $ 4,509 $ 14,900 $ 22,129
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(12) Long-term Debt

QOctober 31, QOctober 31,
—2002 2003
Long-term debt:
Senior secured credit facility:
Revolving credit facility . .. ... ... ... .. ... ....... $ — $ -
TermLoan B . .. .. ... .. 135,750 270,000
6.40% ROARS . . . ... 101,563 102,096
6.70% NOES . . . . . e 100 100
10.75% senior subordinated notes due 2008 . .. ... ... ... . ... ... 300,000 300,000
Other, principally seller financing of acquired operations
or assumption upon acquisition, weighted average interest
rates of 6.5% and 6.6% as of October 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively, partially secured by assets
of subsidiaries, with maturities through 2022 . ... ........... .. 14,531 21,271
Total long-termdebt ... ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... ..... 551,944 693,467
Less debt associated with assets held forsale . ... ... ... ... ... .. — 2,603
Less current maturiti€s . . . . . . . o it e 6,689 6,828
$ 545255 S 684,036

On June 29, 2001, the Company completed refinancing transactions that retired (1) the $600,000 unsecured revolving
credit facility under which $442,000 was outstanding and was scheduled to mature on April 30, 2002, (2) $99,900 of the
6.70 percent Notes which mature in December 2003, (3) $100,103 of the 6.40 percent ROARS which will mature or be
remarketed in May 2003, subject to market conditions and (4) $64,762 of privately held senior notes, which had varying
maturities from fiscal years 2002 through 2007. These amounts constituted all of the Company’s long-term debt, except
for $99,997 in publicly held senior notes that remain outstanding and $23,697 of debt incurred or assumed in connection
with acquisitions, of which $14,53 remains outstanding as of October 31, 2002. The Company also incurred charges in
the third quarter of fiscal year 2001 in the amount of $5,472 (net of a $3,648 income tax benefit) relating to the early
extinguishment of debt.

The new financing consisted of a $550,000 senior secured credit facility and $300,000 of senior subordinated notes.
The senior secured credit facility consists of (1) a $175,000 four-year revolving credit facility (on which the Company had
drawn $50,000 at the closing of the refinancing transactions), (2) a $75,000 18-month asset sale term loan and (3) a
$300,000 five-year Term Loan B.

The $75,000 18-month asset sale term loan outstanding upon the completion of the refinancing transactions was repaid
in full in August 2001. The $50,000 outstanding under the revolving credit facility was repaid in full by October 31, 2001,
and nothing was drawn in fiscal year 2002, Of the $300,000 Term Loan B outstanding upon the completion of the
refinancing transactions, $30,000 in prepayments were made in October 2001, $2,500 in scheduled payments were made
in fiscal vear 2002 and $131,750 in prepayments were made in fiscal year 2002. The following annual amounts will mature
on a quarterly basis each fiscal year for Term Loan B: $2,500 per year for 2003 and 2004, $65,625 for 2005 and $65,125
for 2006.
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(12) Long-term Debt--(Continued)

The applicable margins for Eurodollar rate loans under the revolving credit facility and Term Loan B are generally
subject to quarterly adjustments based upon the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. The applicable margins range from
200.0 10 275.0 basis ponts for revolving loans and 312.5 to 337.5 basis points for Term Loan B. In addition, the Company
will pay a commitment fee of 50.0 to 62.5 basis points, based on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio, on the unused
portion of the revolving credit facility. In December 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement on
a notional amount of $200,000. Under the terms of the agreement, effective March 4, 1999, the Company paid a fixed rate
of 4915 percent and received three-month LIBOR. This swap expired on March 4, 2002. On March 5, 2002, the Company
entered into two interest rate swap agreements which became effective on March 11, 2002, each involving a notional amount
of $50,000. The first agreement effectively converts $50,000 of variable-rate debt bearing interest based on three-month
LIBOR to a fixed rate based on the swap rate of 3.65 percent and expires on March 11, 2004. The second agreement
effectively converts $50,000 of variable-rate debt bearing interest based on three-month LIBOR to a fixed rate based on the
swap rate of 4.265 percent and expires on March 11, 2005, The effective rate to the Company of the debt hedged by the
interest rate swaps includes the fixed swap rates of 3.65 percent and 4.265 percent plus, in each case, the applicable margin
under the Company’s senior secured credit facility relative to the underlying debt, which margin 1s based upon the
Company’s consolidated leverage ratio, as defined in the senior secured credit facility. As of October 31, 2002, that margin
was 337.5 basis points, resulting in effective rates of 7.025 percent and 7.64 percent on each $50,000 swapped. As of
October 31, 2002, the Company had $135,750 outstanding under its Term Loan B, $35,750 of which was not hedged by
the interest rate swap agreement and was subject to a short-term variable interest rate of approximately 5.1 percent.

The new senior secured credit facility contains affirmative and negative covenants. The covenants include required
reserves, mandatory prepayments from the proceeds of certain asset sales and debt and equity offerings, limitations on liens,
limitations on mergers, consolidations and asset sales, limitations on incurrence of debt, limitations on dividends, stock
redemptions and the redemption and/or prepayment of other debt, limitations on investments and acquisitions, limitations
on lease payments, limitations on negative pledges and limitations on transactions with affiliates. In addition, the credit
agreement contains the following financial covenants: (1) a maximum leverage ratio, (2) a minimum fixed charge coverage
ratio and (3) a minimum interest coverage ratio. The financial covenants are required to be calculated on a consolidated
basis after giving pro forma effect to permitted asset dispositions and acquisitions. Capital expenditures are limited to
$45,000 in fiscal year 2002, $50,000 in fiscal year 2003 and $55,000 for each fiscal year thereafter, with a provision for the
carryover of certain unused amounts under certain circumstances.

The Company’s obligations under the new senior secured credit facility are guaranteed by all of its existing and future
direct and indirect subsidiaries formed under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia,
except for specified excluded subsidiaries. The remaining 6.70 percent Notes and 6.40 percent ROARS are not guaranteed
by the Company’s subsidiaries.

All obligations under the new senior secured credit facility, including the guarantees, are secured by a first priority
perfected security interest in (1) all capital stock and other equity interests of the Company’s existing and future direct and
indirect domestic subsidiaries, other than certain domestic subsidiaries acceptable to the agents, (2) 65 percent of the voting
equity interests and 100 percent of all other equity nterests (other than qualifying shares of directors) of all direct existing
and future foreign subsidiaries and (3) all other existing and future assets and properties of the Company and the guarantors,
except for real property, vehicles and other specified exclusions.
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(12) Lomg-term Debt--(Continued)

In December 1996, the Company issued $100,000 of 6.70 percent Notes due 2003. In connection with the refinancing
transactions described above, the Company repurchased $99,900 of these Notes on June 29, 2001, The remaining 6.70
percent Notes are now secured equally and ratably with the new senior secured credit facility. The 6.70 percent Notes are
not redeemable prior to maturity and are not entitled to the benefit of any mandatory redemption or sinking fund. Interest
on the 6.70 percent Notes is payable semi-annually on December 1 and June 1 of each year. As of October 31, 2002 and
2001, the carrying value of these notes, including accrued interest, was $103, whereas the fair value was $103 and $102,
respectively.

In April 1998, the Company issued $200,000 of 6.40 percent Remarketable Or Redeemable Securities (“ROARS”)
due May 1, 2013 (remarketing date May 1, 2003). In connection with the refinancing transactions described above, the
Company repurchased $100,103 of the ROARS on June 29, 2001. The remaining 6.40 percent ROARS are now secured
equally and ratably with the new senior secured credit facility. Interest on the 6.40 percent ROARS is payable semi-annually
on November 1 and May | of each year. Outstanding 6.40 percent ROARS must be redeemed by the Company or
remarketed by the remarketing dealer on May 1, 2003. If the remarketing dealer does not elect to remarket the 6.40 percent
ROARS, the Company must redeem them on May 1, 2003 for 100 percent of their principal amount plus accrued interest.
If the remarketing dealer elects to remarket the 6.40 percent ROARS, the Company may override that election by choosing
to redeem them on May 1, 2003 for 100 percent of their principal amount plus accrued interest, in which case the Company
will be obligated to pay the remarketing dealer the value of its remarketing right, which was $10,753 as of October 31, 2002.
If the 6.40 percent ROARS are remarketed, holders immediately prior to May 1, 2003 must tender them to the remarketing
dealer for purchase on May 1, 2003 for a purchase price of 100 percent of their principal amount plus accrued interest.
Except as described above, the 6.40 percent ROARS are not redeemable prior to maturity and are not entitled to the benefit
of any mandatory redemption or sinking fund. If remarketed, the 6.40 percent ROARS will become due May 1, 2013, and
the coupon for the remaining term will be 5.44 percent (which was the 10-year United States Treasury rate at the time of
initial 1ssuance) plus the Company’s then current credit spread. As of October 31, 2002, the Company had sufficient
availability under its revolving credit facility to redeem the ROARS, and after giving effect to the redemption, the Company
would have Available Liquidity, as defined in the senior secured credit facility, of no less than $25,000. Accordingly, the
Company has classified the ROARS as long-term debt. As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, the carrying value of these notes,
including accrued interest and the unamortized portion of the remarketing option premium, was $104,760 and $105,293,
whereas the fair value was $104,767 and $105,704, respectively.

The indenture governing the 6 40 percent ROARS and 6.70 percent Notes contains covenants that, among other things,
and subject to some exceptions, (1) restrict the Company’s ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to create liens and enter
into sale leaseback transactions and (2) restrict the Company’s ability (but not its subsidiaries’ ability) to sell all or
substantially all of its assets, or merge or consolidate with other companies.

The 10.75 percent senior subordinated notes due in 2008 are general unsecured obligations of the Company, are
subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future senior debt of the Company and are pari passu in right of payment
with any future senior subordinated indebtedness of the Company. The notes are guaranteed by all of the domestic
subsidiaries of the Company, other than certain specified subsidiaries (see Note 10). Interest on the notes accrues at the rate
of 10.75 percent per annum and is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 1 and July 1. As of October 31, 2001, the
carrying value, including accrued interest, and fair value of the senior subordinated notes were $310,929 and $335,887,
respectively. As of October 31, 2002, the carrying value, including accrued interest, and fair value of the senior subordinated
notes were $310,750 and $336,418, respectively.
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(12) Long-term Debt--(Continued)

The indenture governing the 10.75 percent senior subordinated notes limits the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ ability
to borrow money, create liens, pay dividends on or redeem or repurchase stock, make investments, sell stock in subsidiaries,
restrict dividends or other payments from subsidiaries, enter into transactions with affiliates and sell assets or merge with
other companies. The notes are redeemable at the option of the Company.on or after July 1, 2005. In addition, prior to July
1, 2004, the Company may redeem up to 35 percent of the notes with the net cash proceeds from specified equity offerings.
The Company must offer to purchase the notes at 101 percent of their face amount, plus accrued interest, if the Company
experiences specific kinds of changes in control.

Section 10.9 of the Company’s credit agreement permits the payment of dividends on the Company’s common stock
in an aggregate amount of up to $8,500 in any fiscal year, provided that the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio is not
greater than 2.75 to 1.00, the Company’s fixed charge ratio s not less than 2.25 to 1.00 and there is no default or event of
default. In addition, Section 4.07 of the indenture governing the Company’s senior subordinated notes permits the payment
of dividends if the aggregate dividends and other restricted payments since the issuance of the notes are less than the sum
of, generally, S0 percent of the Company’s consolidated net income plus 100 percent of net cash proceeds from the sale of
any equity interests, in each case since the issuance of the notes, plus $15,000; provided, that the Company 1s able to incur
at least one dollar of additional indebtedness under the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant and there is no default or event
of default. Under these restrictions, the Company 1s prohibited from the payment of any dividends as of October 31, 2002.

As of October 31, 2002, the Company’s subsidiaries had approximately $14,531 of long-term debt that represents
notes the subsidiaries issued as part of the purchase price of acquired businesses or debt the subsidiaries assumed in
connection with acquisitions. Approximately $6,870 of this debt 1s secured by liens on the stock or assets of the related
subsidiaries. Scheduled principal payments of the Company’s long-term debt for the fiscal years ending October 31, 2003
through October 31, 2007, are approximately $106,586 in 2003 (including $99,897 related to the ROARS which are
classified as long-term debt as discussed above), $6,528 in 2004, $67,450 in 2005, $66,004 in 2006 and $660 in 2007,
Scheduled principal payments thereafter are $303,050. Long-term debt of $551,944 as of October 31, 2002 includes $1,666
related to the unamortized ROARS option premium.
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(13) Reconciliation of Basic and Diluted Per Share Data

Year Ended October 31, 2002
Netearnings . ... .. ... ...t
Basic earnings per common share:

Net earnings available to common shareholders . . . .
Effect of dilutive securities:

Time-vest stock options assumed exercised . . . . . . .
Diluted earnings per common share:

Net earnings available to common shareholders

plus time-vest stock options assumed exercised . . .

Year Ended October 31, 2001
Loss before extraordinary item and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principles .. ...........

Basic loss per common share:

Loss available to common shareholders . .. ... ...
Effect of dilutive securities:

Time-vest stock options assumed exercised . .. .. ..

Diluted loss per common share:
Loss available to common shareholders
plus time-vest stock options assumed exercised . . .

Year Ended October 31, 2000
Netearnings . ... ..ot

Basic earnings per common share:
Net earnings available to common shareholders . . . .

Effect of dilutive securities:
Time-vest stock options assumed exercised . . . . . ..
Diluted earnings per common share:
Net earnings available to common shareholders
plus time-vest stock options assumed exercised . . .
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Earnings
Numerator

$ 31,866

$ 31,866

3 31,866

Loss
(Numeratgr)

$(153,184)

$(153,184)

$(153,184)

Earnings

(Numerator)

§ 66,794

$ 66,794

§ 66,794

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Shares

(Denominator)

107,861

438

108,299

Shares

(Denominator)

107,355

107,355

Shares

(Denominator)

106,600

106,603

Per Share

Data

§ 29

Per Share

Data

$ (1.43)

Per Share
Datg

$ 63

Options to purchase 1,356,286 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $5.90 to $27.25 were outstanding but
were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2002 because the
options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares. The options, which expire between
July 31, 2004 and April 12, 2005, were still outstanding at the end of fiscal year 2002.
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(13) Reconciliation of Basic and Diluted Per Share Data--(Continued)

Common stock equivalents are excluded in the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding when a company
reports a net loss from continuing operations for a period. The number of potentially antidilutive shares excluded from the
calculation of diluted earnings per share was 8,196,991 for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2001, because of the net loss from
continuing operations for this period.

Options to purchase 7,049,471 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $4.16 to $27.25 were outstanding but
were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000 because the
options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares. The options, which expire between
January 2, 2001 and April 12, 2005, were still outstanding at the end of fiscal year 2000.

(14) Income Taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) 1s comprised of the following components:

U.S. and

Possessions State Foreign Totals
Year Ended October 31
2002:
Current tax eXpense .. ................ $ 759 $ 2,070 $ 1,009 $ 3,838
Deferred tax expense ................. 12,103 1,514 — 13617
$ 12,862 $ 3,584 $ 1,009 $ 17,455
2001:
Current tax expense (benefit) ...... ... .. $ (389) $ 2,254 $ 4,022 $ 5,887
Deferred tax expense (benefit) .. ... .. .. (37,973) (2,788) 877 (39,884)
$£(38,362) $ (5349 $ 4,899 $£(33,997)
2000:
Currenttaxexpense ... . ........... ... $ 20,094 $ 3,196 $ 6,102 $ 29,392
Deferred tax expense . .......... ... ... 5,626 759 2,616 9,001
$ 25720 § 3955 8,718 $ 38,393
The reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:
Year Ended October 31,
2002 2001 2000
Statutory taxrate ... ..., ... ... 35.00% (35.00)% 35.00%
Increases (reductions) in tax rate resulting from:
State and U.S. possessions . .. ........... ...... 472 (.18) 244
Goodwillandother . . ....... ... ... ... ... .. . 1.96 1.10 2.28
Dividend exclusion ...... ... ... ... .. ... ... (3.95) (1.39) (2.48)
Foreign tax rate differential ... ... .. ... .. .. ... (1.16) 47 (74)
Foreign income previously untaxed ........ ... .. (1.18) 18.14 —
Foreigntaxcredit ......... .. ... ... . ... ..., — (36) -
Effectivetaxrate ... ... ... ... ... ... 3539 % (18.16)% 36.50%
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(14) Income Taxes--(Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

October 31,
2002 — 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for sales cancellations and doubtful accounts . ... ... .. .. $ 2,163 $ 3,635
Deferred preneed salesandexpenses . . ........... ... .. .. ... ... .. 174,904 181,683
Unrealized depreciation of investments . .................... ... .. 591 759
Deferred compensation . . ... .......... .. 1,041 914
Capital losscarryover ... .. 18,052 —
Deductible foreigntaxes . . ...... ... ... 2,059 2,059
Early extingmishment of debt ... . ... ... .. ... L — 3,192
Non-corpete amortization .. ... ... ... .. ... 4,091 4,121
State INCOME LAXES . ... . . ot 16,677 15,459
Unrealized depreciation on derivative instruments .. ............... 1,524 781
Writedown of assetsheld forsale . ... ....... . ... ... ... .. ... .. 4,027 44,664
Other . ... e 1,021 1,448
226,150 262,715
Deferred tax liabilities:
Purchase accounting adjustments . ... ....... .. ... ... ... o L, 114,252 115,814
Goodwill .. ... .. 13,390 9,156
Deprecialion . . ... .. e 1,366 1,153
Other . ... . — 2,051
129,008 128,174
§ 97,142 $ 134,541
Currentnet deferred asset . .. . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... $ 1348 $ 2,537
Long-term net deferred asset ... ... . ... ... .. ... ... .. ... 95,794 132,004
$ 97,142 $ 134,541

For the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company’s loss before income taxes generated from

properties in foreign jurisdictions was $31,007, $254,243 and $2,260, respectively.

The Company has an ordinary loss carryback of $7,321 that can be carried back five years which will generate a
$2,562 tax refund in 2003, The Company has a capital loss carryback of $56,810 that can be carried back three years which
will generate a $19,883 tax refund in 2003. Additionally, the Company has a capital loss carryforward of $48,847 that is
available until the end of fiscal year 2007. The tax refunds are included in the Company’s receivables as disclosed in Note 8.
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(15) Benefit Plans
Stewart Enterprises Employees’ Retirement Trust

The Company has a defined contribution retirement plan, the “Stewart Enterprises Employees’ Retirement Trust
(A Profit-Sharing Plan) (“SEERT”).” This plan covers substantially all employees with more than one year of service who
have attained the age of 21. Contributions are made to the plan at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors.
Additionally, employees who participate may contribute up to 15 percent of their earnings. The first 5 percent of such
employee contributions are eligible for Company matching contributions at the rate of $.50 for each $1.00 contributed. The
Company’s expense, including the Company’s matching contributions, for the fiscal years ended October 31, 2002, 2001
and 2000 was approximately $3,050, $3,060 and $3,350, respectively.

Non-qualified Supplemental Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan

The Company has a non-qualified key employee defined contribution supplemental retirement plan, which provides
certain highly compensated employees the opportunity to accumulate deferred compensation which cannot be accumulated
under SEERT due to certain limitations. Contributions are made to the plan at the discretion of the Company’s Board of
Directors. Additionally, employees who participate may contribute up to 15 percent of their earnings. The first 5 percent
of such employee contributions are eligible for Company matching contributions at the rate of $.50 for each $1.00
contributed. The Company’s expense, including the Company’s matching contributions, for the fiscal years ended October
31,2002, 2001 and 2000 was approximately $275, $275 and $250, respectively.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

On April 1, 2002, the Company adopted an unfunded, non-qualified defined benefit supplemental retirement plan, the
“Stewart Enterprises, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP™)” to provide for the payment of pension
benefits to a select group of highly-compensated management employees. The retirement plan is non-contributory and
provides retirement benefits based on final average compensation, position, and the participant’s age, years of service, or
years of participation in the SERP. The plan is construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of
Louisiana, except to the extent that the plan 1s governed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended. The Company’s expense for fiscal year 2002 and liability as of October 31, 2002 was $1,091.

1995 Incentive Compensation Plan

In August 1995, the Board of Directors adopted, and in December 1995 and December 1996 amended, the 1995
Incentive Compensation Plan, which has been approved by the Company’s shareholders, pursuant to which officers and other
employees of the Company may be granted stock options, stock awards, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights,
performance share awards or cash awards by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Under the plan, the
Compensation Commuttee may accelerate the exercisability of any option at any time at its discretion, and the options become
immediately exercisable in the event of a change of control of the Company, as defined in the plan.

Under the plan from September 7, 1995 through January 12, 1998, the Company granted options to officers and other

emplovees for the purchase of a total of 7,424,536 shares of Class A common stock at exercise prices equal to the fair market
value at the grant dates, which ranged from $10.50 to $21.50 per share. As of October 31, 2001, 4,983,230 of these options
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(15) Benefit Plans--(Continued)

had been repurchased or exercised and 2,441,306 either were forfeited or expired. There are no outstanding options
remaining from these grants as of October 31, 2002.

From July 1998 to February 1999, the Company granted new options under the 1995 Incentive Compensation Plan
to officers and employees for the purchase of 3,682,250 shares of Class A common stock at exercise prices equal to the fair
market value at the grant dates, which ranged from $16.00 to $27.25 per share. One-third of the options become exercisable
in 20 percent annual increments beginning on July 17, 1999. The remaining two-thirds of the options become exercisable
in full on the first day between the grant date and July 17, 2003 that the average of the closing sale prices of a share of Class
A common stock over the 20 preceding consecutive trading days equals or exceeds $67.81, which represents a 20 percent
annual compounded growth in the price of a share of Class A common stock over five years. Accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America require that a charge to eamings be recorded for the performance-based options
for the difference between the exercise price and the then current stock price when achievement of the performance objective
becomes probable. All of the options expire on July 31, 2004, As of October 31, 2002, none of these options had been
exercised, and 1,790,800 options had been forfeited.

In January 2000, the Company granted new options under the 1995 Incentive Compensation Plan to officers and
employees for the purchase of 4,018,168 shares of Class A common stock at exercise prices equal to the fair market value
at the grant dates, which ranged from $5.50 to $6.00 per share. The options became exercisable in 25 percent annual
increments beginming January 21, 2001, All of these options expire on January 21, 2005. As of October 31, 2002, 52,920
of these options had been exercised, and 986,040 options had been forfeited.

2000 Incentive Compensation Plan

The Board of Directors adopted, and in April 2000 the shareholders approved, the 2000 Incentive Compensation Plan
pursuant to which officers and other employees of the Company may be granted stock options, restricted stock or other stock-
based awards by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. From April 2000 through September 2002, the
Company had granted options to officers and other employees for the purchase of a total of 3,335,532 shares of Class A
common stock at exercise prices equal to the fair market value at the grant dates, which ranged from $2.22 to $6.96 per
share. The options generally became exercisable in 25 percent annual increments beginning on April 12, 2001. The
Compensation Committee may accelerate the exercisability of any option at any time at its discretion, and the options become
immediately exercisable in the event of a change of control of the Company, as defined in the plan. All of these options
expire on April 12, 2005. As of October 31, 2002, 46,208 of these options had been exercised, and 390,410 options had
been forfeited.

Directors’ Stock Option Plan

Effective January 2, 1996, the Board of Directors adopted, and in December 1996 amended, the Directors” Stock
Option Plan, which has been approved by the Company’s shareholders, pursuant to which each director of the Company who
is not an employee of the Company was granted an option to purchase 72,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common
stock. From January 2, 1996 through October 31, 1997, the Company granted a total of 360,000 options at exercise prices
equal to the fair market value at the grant dates, which ranged from $12.34 to $18.25 per share. The options generally
became exercisable in 25 percent annual increments beginning January 2, 1997, except for grants issued since the initial
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grant date, which options vested over the remainder of the original four-year period. As of January 2, 2001, 91,052 of these
options had been exercised and 268,948 either were forfeited or expired. There are no outstanding options remaining from
this grant as of October 31, 2002.

In January 2000, the Company granted 14,400 new options to purchase shares of Class A common stock under the
Directors’ Stock Option Plan to each director of the Company who is not an employee of the Company. A total of 72,000
options were granted at an exercise price of $6.00 per share. The options vested immediately. All of these options expire
on January 31, 2005. As of October 31, 2002, none of these options had been exercised or forfeited.

2000 Directors’ Stock Option Plan

The Board of Directors adopted, and in April 2000 the shareholders approved, the 2000 Directors’ Stock Option Plan
pursuant to which each director of the Company who 1s not an employee of the Company was granted an option to purchase
50,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock on April 13, 2000. The Company granted a total of 200,000 options
at an exercise price equal to the fair market value at the grant date, which was $4.30 per share. On December 18, 2001, the
Company granted 58,334 options at an exercise price equal to fair market value at grant date, which was $6.05 per share.
The options generally became exercisable in 25 percent annual increments beginning on April 13, 2001. The Compensation
Commuttee may accelerate the exercisability of any option at any time at its discretion, and the options become immediately
exercisable in the event of a change of control of the Company, as defined in the plan. All of these options expire on January
31,2005. As of October 31, 2002, none of these options had been exercised, and 37,500 options had been forfeited.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On July 1, 1992, the Company adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan and reserved 2,250,000 shares of Class A
common stock for purchase by eligible employees, as defined. The plan provides to eligible employees the opportunity to
purchase the Company’s Class A common stock semi-annually on June 30 and December 31. The purchase price is
established at a 15 percent discount from fair market value, as defined. As of October 31, 2002, 1,279,665 shares had been
acquired under this plan.
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Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123

The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” and continues to apply APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based
compensation plans. The following table is a summary of the Company’s stock options outstanding as of October 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, and the changes that occurred during fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000.

2002 2001 2000

Number of Weighted Number of Weighted  Number of Weighted

Shares Average Shares Average Shares Average

Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise Underlying Exercise

Options Prices Options Prices Options Prices
Outstanding at beginning of year . . .. 8,216,572 $ 1066 9,569,086 $ 1144 6,241,122  $ 20.8]
Granted.................. ... .. 347,334 § 601 808,800 § 538 6,527,900 $§ 5.06
Exercised/Repurchased ..... ... .. (45,050) $ 427 (54078) §$ 5.16 — $ —_
Forfeited .. ............... .. ... (456,450) $1557 (2,107,236) § 1233 (3,199,936) $ 16.69
Outstanding atend of year . ... ... .. 8,062,406 $1022 8216,572 § 10.66 9,569,086 $ 11.44
Exercisable at end of year ... ... ... 3,361,888 $ 839 1,826,303 § 10.17 2023224 § 14.44

Weighted-average fair value of

options granted .. ........... ... § 252 $ 268 § 260

The following table further describes the Company’s stock options outstanding as of October 31, 2002,

Options Qutstanding

Options Exercisable

Number Weighted Average
Range of Qutstanding Remaining
Exercise Prices at 10/31/2002 Contractual Life

$ 222 to $4.41 1,971,192 2.43 years
$ 516 to $6.96 4,199,764 2.28 years
$16.00 5,000 1.75 years
$2138 1,500 1.75 years
$25811t0827.25 1,884,950 1.75 years
$ 22210$27.25 8,062,406 2.20 years
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Number
Weighted Average Exercisable Weighted Average
Exercise Price at 10/31/2002 Exercise Price
$ 425 989,396 § 425
§ 557 1,860,916 § 554
$16.00 1,336 $ 16.00
$21.38 400 $2138
$26.80 509,840 $ 26.81
$10.22 3,361,888 $ 839
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(15) Benefit Plans--(Continued)

SFAS No. 123 applies only to options granted under the Company’s incentive plans and shares acquired under the
Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan since the beginning of the Company’s 1996 fiscal year. Consequently, the pro
forma amounts disclosed below do not reflect any compensation cost for the 7,791,034 stock options outstanding as of the
beginning of fiscal year 1996 which have all since expired. If the Company had elected to recognize compensation cost for
its stock option and employee stock purchase plans based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under those plans,
in accordance with SFAS No. 123, net earnings (loss) and earnings (loss) per share would have been as follows:

Year Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
(Unaudited)
Net earnings (1oss) -asteported .. ... L $ 31,866 $(408,660) $66,794
-proforma .. ... ... ... 28,067  (413,623) 61,939

Basic earnings (loss) per

common share -asreported ... ... L, ) 30 § @81 § 63
-proforma ... .. . .. . 26 (3.85) .58

Diluted earnings (loss) per
common share -asreported ... ... ... ... L. $ 29 § (@(38l) $ 63
-proforma ........... ... .. .. ... ... 26 (3.85) 58

The fair value of the Company’s stock options used to compute pro forma net earnings and earnings per share
disclosures is the estimated present value at grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted average assumptions for fiscal years 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively: expected dividend yield of .1 percent for
all years; expected volatility of 32.5 percent, 32.9 percent and 39.3 percent; risk-free interest rate of 4.5 percent, 4.7 percent
and 6.2 percent; and an expected term of 3.6 years, 3.8 years and 4.9 years.

Likewise, the fair value of shares acquired through the Employee Stock Purchase Plan is estimated on each semi-annual
grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions for fiscal years
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively: expected dividend yield of zero percent, zero percent and .1 percent; expected volatility
of 57.8 percent, 54.7 percent and 48.3 percent; risk-free interest rate of 2.3 percent, 5.5 percent and 5.8 percent; and an
expected term of .5 years for all years.

(16) Commitments, Contingencies and Related Party Transactions
The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are parties to a number of legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary

course of business, While the outcome of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not expect

these matters to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of
the Company.
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(16) Commitments, Contingencies and Related Party Transactions--(Continued)

The Company carries insurance with coverages and coverage limits that it believes to be adequate. Although there can
be no assurance that such insurance 1s sufficient to protect the Company against all contingencies, management believes that
1ts insurance protection is reasonable in view of the nature and scope of the Company’s operations.

As of October 31, 2002, the Company had advanced approximately $1,879, including accrued interest, to fund
premiums on a split-doliar “second-to-die” life insurance policy on behalf of the Company’s Chairman, Mr. Frank B. Stewart,
Jr., and his wife, Mrs. Stewart. The advances are collateralized by the assignment of other insurance policies and the pledge
of Class A common stock of the Company. In 1992, the Company agreed to continue to advance such premiums for a twelve-
year period and will be repaid at the earliest of (a) the surrender of the policy, (b) the deaths of Mr. and Mrs. Stewart or (¢)
60 days following payment in full of all premiums on the policy.

The Company has noncancellable operating leases, primarily for land and buildings, that expire over the next 1 to 17
years, except for six leases that expire between 2032 and 2039. Rent expense under these leases was $6,451, $8,323 and
$9,527 for the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Through July 2000, the Company leased office
space from an affiliated company. Rental payments to the affiliated company were approximately $479 for the year ended
October 31, 2000. The Company now leases a smaller portion of the office space from a non-affiliated company. Rental
payments to the non-affihated company were $322, $322 and $132 for the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

The Company’s future minimum lease payments as of October 31, 2002 are $5,375, $4,595, $3,648, $3,211, $2,714
and $23,446 for the years ending October 31, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and later years, respectively. Additionally, the
Company has entered into non-compete agreements with prior owners of acquired subsidiaries that expire through 2012.
Dunng fiscal year 2001, the Company decided to relieve some of the prior owners and key employees of their obligations not
to compete; however, the payments will continue to be made in accordance with the contract terms. The Company’s future
non-compete payments as of October 31, 2002 for the same periods are $5,520, $4,341, $2,985, $1,965, $1,573 and $2,105,
respectively.

The Company is required to maintain a bond ($41,061 as of October 31, 2002) to guarantee its obligations relating to
funds the Company withdrew from its preneed funeral trusts in Florida. This amount would become senior debt if the
Company was to borrow funds under the revolving credit facility to extinguish the bond obligation by returning to the trusts
the amounts it previously withdrew that relate to the remaining preneed contracts.

(17) Segment Data

In fiscal year 1999, the Company adopted SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information.” The accounting policies of the Company’s segments are the same as those described in the “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies.” The Company evaluates the performance of its segments and allocates resources to them
based on gross profit.

The Company’s operations are product-based and, prior to the sale of its foreign operations, were geographically-based.

As such, the Company’s primary reportable operating segments presented in the following table are based on preducts and
services and include funeral and cemetery operations.
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The Company’s funeral homes offer a complete range of funeral services and products both at the time of need and on
a preneed basis. The Company’s services and products include family consultation, removal and preparation of remains, the
use of funeral home facilities for visitation, worship and funeral services, transportation services, flowers and caskets. In
addition to traditional funeral services, all of the Company’s funeral homes offer cremation products and services.

The Company’s cemetery operations involve the sale of cemetery property and related merchandise, including lots, lawn
crypts, family and community mausoleums, monuments, memorials and burial vaults, along with the sale of burial site
openungs and closings and inscriptions. Cemetery property and merchandise sales are made both at the time of need and on
a preneed basis.

As of October 31, 2002, the Company conducted both funeral and cemetery operations in the United States and Puerto

Rico. The Company sold its operations in Mexico, Australia, New Zealand, Belgium and the Netherlands during the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2001 and sold its operations in Spain, Portugal, France, Canada and Argentina during fiscal year 2002.
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The table below presents information about reported segments for fiscal years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000:

Reconciling Consolidated
Funeral Cemetery Items Totals

Revenues from external customers

October 31,2002 ............ ... ... . ... $ 345,200 236,121 — $ 581,321

October 31,2001 ...... ... ... . ... ... $ 410,253 256,680 — $ 666,933

October 31,2000 ... ................... $ 451,852 282,949 — $§ 734,801
Gross profit

October 31,2002 .. ... .. ... ... .. . ..... $ 88,151 56,633 — $ 144784

October 31,2001 ... ... .. ... ... ........ $ 91,645 59,542 — $ 151,187

October 31,2000 ............... ... .... $ 116,689 62,351 — $ 179,040
Depreciation and amortization

October 31,2002 .................. ... $ 25,969 26,016 4,192 $ 56,177

October 31,2001 .. ... ... ... .... ... $ 43115 31,687 4,390 $ 79,192

October 31,2000 ................... ... $ 36,864 13,067 4,336 $ 54,267
Additions to long-lived assets @

October 31,2002 ...................... $ 9,108 14,220 4,670 $§ 27998

October 31,2001 ........ .............. $ 16,773 12,801 4,275 $ 33,849

October 31,2000 ... ... ............ .. $ 35371 33,714 4,394 § 73479

The table below presents information about reported segments as of October 31, 2002 and 2001:

Total assets

October 31,2002 .. ... ... ... .. ... . .... $ 1,674,242 1,209,704 131,638 $3,015,584

October 31,2001 .. ... ... ... .. ... . .. .. $ 1,851,125 1,257,088 130,194 $ 3,238,407
Goodwill

October 31,2002 ... ... ... ... ...... $ 332,995 158,815 —_ $ 491810

October 31,2001 ...... . ... ... ... ... $ 332,995 158,815 — $ 491810
Assets held for sale @

October 31,2002 . ... ... .. .. ... .. ... $ 5,108 3,371 — $ 8,479

October 31,2001 ........ ... ... ... ..... $ 135,640 28,183 —_ $ 163,823

(1)  Reconciling items consist of unallocated corporate assets, depreciation and amortization on unallocated corporate assets and
additions to corporate long-lived assets.

(2) Long-lived assets include cemetery property and net property and equipment.

(3) SeeNotell.
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A reconciliation of total segment gross profit to total earnings (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary item and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principles for fiscal years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, 1s as follows:

Gross profit for reportable segments .. ..., ... ...
Corporate general and administrative expenses . . .
Loss on assets held for sale and other charges .. ..
Interestexpense ... ................ .. ... ...,
[nvestment income
Otherincome,net . ............. ... ... ......
Earnings (loss) before income taxes,

extraordinary item and cumulative effect of

change in accounting principles

Revenues from external customers
October 31, 2002
October 31, 2001
October 31, 2000

Gross profit
Qctober 31, 2002
October 31, 2001
October 31, 2000

Long-lived assets ©
October 31, 2002
October 31, 2001

(1)  Includes the Company’s operations in the United States and Puerto Rico.

2002

$ 144,784
(17,261)
(18,500)
(62,339)

505
2,132

$_49321

U.S. and
Possessions

$ 538,826
$ 551,530
$ 588,480

$ 139,536
135,131
$ 155,223

&

o7

722,381
§ 729,456

Year Ended October 31,
2001 2000

$ 151,187 $ 179,040
(18,020) (19,763)
(269,158) —
(63,572) (61,394)
5212 5,110
7,170 2,194
$5187,181) $ 105,187
Foreign ® Consolidated
42,495 $ 581,321
115,403 $ 666,933
146,321 $ 734,801
5,248 $ 144,784
16,056 $ 151,187
23,817 $ 179,040
— $ 722,381

— $ 729,456

(2) Foreign revenue is based on the country in which the sales originate. The Company sold its operations in Mexico,
Australia, New Zealand, Belgium and the Netherlands in fiscal year 2001 and sold its operations in Spain, Portugal,
France, Canada and Argentina during fiscal year 2002.

(3) Long-lived assets include cemetery property and net property and equipment. The October 31, 2001 amount excludes
$48,768 of cemetery property and net property and equipment of the Company’s foreign operations which was

included in assets held for sale.
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STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(18) Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

First Second _ Third __Fourth
Year Ended October 31, 2002
Revenues . ... ... ... ... ... . .. ... .. ... .. $153,569 $ 150,989 $144 254 $132,509
Grossprofit ........... . ... 40,976 40,139 33,396 30,273
Netearnings (loss) ................. ... ....... 12,673 12,879 (2,486) 8,800
Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic . ... ... ... 12 12 (02) .08
Diluted .. ... .. .. .. .. ... . ... .. 12 12 (.02) .08
First Second Third Fourth
Year Ended October 31, 2001 @
Revenues ....... ... ... .. . . .. .. . $176,690 $170,939 $165,749 $153,555
Grossprofit ......... ... ... ... 43,085 41,215 33,947 32,940

Earnings (loss) before extraordinary item and

cumulative effect of change in accounting

principles . ... .. ... oo 16,815 16,608 (193,873) 7,266
Earnings (loss) per common share before

extraordinary 1tem and cumulative effect of

change in accounting principles:

Basic ... .16 15 (1.80) 07

Diluted . ........... ... ... ... ... ... 16 15 (1.80) .07
Netearnings (loss) .. ............ ... ... ... ... (233,189) 16,608 (199,345) 7,266
Earnings (loss) per common share:

Basic ........ .. ... ... .. (2.183) 15 (1.85) 07

Diluted ...... ... ... ... ... .. ... (2.18) A5 (1.85) .07

¢ Third quarter of fiscal year 2002 includes a noncash charge of $18,500 ($11,200 after-tax) or $.10 per share (basic and
diluted), in connection with the writedown of assets held for sale.

@ First quarter of fiscal year 2001 includes a $250,004 decrease in net earnings (net of a $166,669 income tax benefit),
or $2.34 per share (basic and diluted), for the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principles. Third quarter
of 2001 includes a $5,472 decrease in net earnings (net of a $3,648 income tax benefit) or $.05 per share (basic and
diluted), for the early extinguishment of debt. Third quarter of 2001 also includes a noncash charge of $269,158
($205,089 after-tax) or $1.91 per share (basic and diluted), in connection with the writedown of assets held for sale and
other charges.

-100-




Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants in Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
PART (1

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
The information regarding executive officers required by Item 10 may be found under Item 4(a) of this report.

The information regarding directors and compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive proxy statement relating to its 2003
annual meeting of shareholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end
of the last fiscal year.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive proxy statement relating
to its 2003 annual meeting of shareholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the end of the last fiscal year.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in accordance with Items 306 and 402(a)(8) of Regulation S-K and Item 7(d)(3) of
Schedule 14A, the information contained in the Company’s proxy statement under the subheading “Compensation Committee
Report on Executive Compensation” and “Total Return Comparison,” and under the subheading “Audit Committee” (except
for information following the heading “Audit Fees” therein), shall not be deemed to be filed as part of or incorporated by
reference into this Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by Item 12 1s incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive proxy statement relating
to its 2003 annual meeting of shareholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the end of the last fiscal year.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s definitive proxy statement relating
to its 2003 annual meeting of shareholders, which proxy statement will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the end of the last fiscal year.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures

(a) Within the 90 day time period prior to filing this report, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness
of our “disclosure controls and procedures,” as that phrase is defined in Rules 13a-14(c) and 15d-14(c) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. The evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s
management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO™) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO™).

Based on and as of the date of that evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information required to be disclosed in the reports the
Company files with or submits to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and 1n ensuring that the information required to be disclosed in those filings is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

(b) Subsequent to the date of the evaluation, there were no significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or

in other factors that could sigmificantly affect the internal controls, including any corrective actions taken with regard to
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements

The Company’s consolidated financial statements listed below have been filed as part of this report:

Report of Independent Accountants . .. ............ ..
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the Years Ended October 31, 2002,

2001 and 2000 . ...
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of October 31,2002 and 2001 . . ... ... .. ... ... .. ... ...
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended

October 31,2002, 2001 and 2000 . .. .. ... .. .. . . . ..
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended October 31, 2002,

2001 and 2000 . .

(2) Financial Statement Schedule for the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Report of Independent Accountants on Financial Statement Schedule . .................. ..
Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . .. ...
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All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required, or the information appears in the financial
statements or notes thereto.




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors
of Stewart Enterprises, Inc.:

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Stewart Enterprises, Inc. and Subsidiaries referred to in our report,
which includes an explanatory paragraph related to the changes in the Company’s method of accounting for preneed sales
activities related to merchandise and cemetery services in 2001 and goodwill and other intangible assets in 2002, dated
December 16, 2002 appearing in Item 8 of this Form 10-K, also included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed
in Item 14(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. This financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management.
In our opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when
read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New Orleans, Louisiana
December 16, 2002
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| STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE I—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(Doliars in thousands)

COLUMN A COLUMNRBR COLUMNC COLUMND COLUMNE COLUMNF COLUMNG
Cumulative
Balance at Charged to Charged to effect of chamge
Description beginning costs and other in accounting  Balance at end
of period expenses accounts & Write-offs principles of period

Current—Allowance for contract
cancellations and doubtful
accounts; @

Year ended October 31,
2002 ... $§ 5348 4,139 — (6,118) —_ $ 3,369
2001 ... $ 9924 6,076 (2,825) (6,138) (1,689) $ 5,348
2000 ... $ 11,432 14,351 53 (15,912) — $ 9,924

Due after one year—Allowance for
contract cancellations and doubtful
accounts: @

Year ended October 31,
2002 ... $ 8875 7,360 _— (10,367) — $ 5,868
2001 ... $ 16,860 9,114 (203) (15,121) (1,775) $ 8,875
2000 ... e $ 14,557 21,526 —_ (19,223) — $16,860

)" In fiscal year 2000, amounts charged to other accounts represent principally the opening balance in the allowance for contract

cancellations and doubtful accounts for acquired companies. In fiscal year 2001, it represents the reduction due to the assets held for
sale and the reduction due to asset sales completed.

With the implementation of accounting changes effective November 1, 2000, the allowance for contract cancellations and doubtful
accounts for installment contracts due within one year and due beyond one year in fiscal years 2002 and 2001 include receivables in
the Company’s preneed property sales only. See Notes 4 and 8.

)]
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Item 15(2)(3) Exhibits

3.1

32

4.1

472

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

47

48

49

4.10

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended and restated as of November 5, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1999 (the 1999 10-K™))

By-laws of the Company, as amended and restated as of December 19, 2002

See Extubits 3.1 and 3.2 for provisions of the Company’s Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as
amended, and By-laws, as amended, defining the rights of holders of Class A and Class B common stock

Specimen of Class A common stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 3 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-42336) filed with the Commission on October
7,1991)

Indenture dated as of December 1, 1996 by and between the Company and Citibank, N.A. as Trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 5, 1996) and Supplemental
Indenture dated April 24, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated Apnl 21, 1998) and Second Supplemental Indenture dated June 29, 2001 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 29, 2001)

Form of 6.70 percent Note due 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Form S-4 dated
August 14, 2001)

Form of 6.40 percent Remarketable Or Redeemable Securities (ROARS) due May 1, 2013 (Remarketing date May 1,
2003) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Form S-4 dated August 14, 2001)

Rights Agreement, dated as of October 28, 1999, between Stewart Enterprises, Inc. and ChaseMellon Shareholder
Services, L.L.C. as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to the Company’s Form 8-A dated November
3, 1999) '

Credit Agreement dated June 29, 2001 by and among the Company, Empresas Stewart-Cementerios and Empresas
Stewart-Funeranas, as Borrowers, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Collateral Agent and as a Lender,
Deutsche Banc Alex. Brown Inc., as Syndication Agent, Bankers Trust Company, as a Lender and the other Lenders
party thereto from time to time (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated June 29, 2001)

Indenture dated June 29, 2001 by and among Stewart, the Guarantors named therein and Firstar Bank, N A | as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form S-4 dated August 14, 2001)

Form of 10.75 percent Senior Subordinated Note due 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s
Form S-4 dated August 14, 2001)

Remarketing Agreement dated April 24, 1998 between the Company and NationsBanc Montgomery Securities LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated April 21, 1998) and Amendment to
Remarketing Agreement dated May 15,2001 between the Company and Bank of America Securities LLC (which has
changed its name from NationsBanc Montgomery Securities LLC)

The Company hereby agrees to furnish to the Commission, upon request, a copy of the instruments which define the rights
of holders of the Company’s long-term debt. None of such instruments (other than those included as exhibits herein) represent
long-term debt in excess of 10 percent of the Company’s consolidated total assets.
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10.1

10.2

103

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

Lease Agreement dated February 29, 2000, between Stewart Building Enterprise, L.L.C. and Stewart Enterprises, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
April 30, 2000)

Split-Dollar Agreement dated January 10, 1992 between the Company, Roy A. Perrin, Jr., Trustee, on behalf of all
Trustees of the Elisabeth Felder Stewart 1988 Trust and of the Frank B. Stewart, III 1988 Trust, and Frank B. Stewart,
Jr. (incorperated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1992, Commission File No. 0-19508)

Management Contracts and Compensatory Plans or Arrangements

Form of Indemnity Agreement between the Company and its directors and executive officers (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-42336) filed with the
commissicn on August 21, 1991 (the “1991 Registration Statement™)), and amendment dated September 18, 1996
{(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1996, Commission File No. 0-19508 (the “1996 10-K™))

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and William E. Rowe (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment No.1 dated April 1, 2002 to Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
April 30, 2002)

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and William E. Rowe (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the 2001 10-K)

Stock Option Agreement dated September 7, 1995 (time-vest), between the Company and William E. Rowe
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the 1995 10-K)

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Brian J. Marlowe (incorporated by
reference to Exhubit 10.13 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment No. 1 dated April 1, 2002 to Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
April 30, 2002)

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Brian J. Marlowe (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the 2001 10-K)

Stock Option Agreement dated September 7, 1995 (time-vest), between the Company and Brian J. Marlowe
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 to the 1995 10-K)

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Kenneth C. Budde (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment No. | dated April 1, 2002 to Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
April 30, 2002)

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Kenneth C. Budde (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the 2001 10-K)

Stock Option Agreement dated September 7, 1995 (time-vest), between the Company and Kenneth C. Budde
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the 1996 10-K)
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10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Lawrence B. Hawkins (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment No. 1 dated April 1, 2002 to Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
April 30, 2002)

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Lawrence B. Hawkins
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the 2001 10-K)

Stock Option Agreement dated September 7, 1995 (time-vest), between the Company and Lawrence B. Hawkins
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the 1996 10-K) ’

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Brent F. Heffron (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment No. 1 dated April 1, 2002 to Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
April 30, 2002)

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Brent F. Heffron (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the 2001 10-K)

Stock Option Agreement dated September 7, 1995 (time-vest), between the Company and Brent F. Heffron
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to the 1996 10-K)

Stock Option Agreement dated January 1, 1997 (time-vest), between the Company and Brent F. Heffron (incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended January 31,
1997)

Stock Option Agreement dated December 23, 1997 (time-vest), between the Company and Brent F. Heffron
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
January 31, 1998)

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Randall L. Stricklin (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment No. 1 dated April 1, 2002 to Employment Agreement
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
April 30, 2002), First Supplement to Appendix A dated April 30, 2002 to Employment Agreement

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Randall L. Stricklin (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the 2001 10-K)

Indemnity Agreement dated April 20, 2000, between the Company and Randall L. Stricklin (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended July 31, 2000)

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and G. Kenneth Stephens, Jr. (incorporated
by reference to Extubit 10.40 to the 2001 10-K), First Supplement to Appendix A dated April 12, 2002 to
Employment Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the Quarter ended April 30, 2002)

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and G. Kenneth Stephens, Jr.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the 2001 10-K)

Indemnity Agreement dated January 31, 2000, between the Company and G. Kenneth Stephens, Jr. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended July 31, 2000)
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10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Michael K. Crane (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment No. 1 dated April 1, 2002 to Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
April 30, 2002); First Supplement to Appendix A dated April 12, 2002 to the Employment Agreement (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended April 30, 2002)

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Michael K. Crane (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to the 2001 10-K)

Employment Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Everett N. Kendrick (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.47 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment No. 1 dated April 1, 2002 to Employment Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended
April 30, 2002)

Change of Control Agreement dated November 1, 2001, between the Company and Everett N. Kendrick (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the 2001 10-K)

Indemnity Agreement dated January 31, 2000, between the Company and Everett N. Kendrick (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended July 31, 2000)

Form of Stock Option Agreement (time-vest), between the Company and its Executive Officers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the 1998 10-K)

Form of Stock Option Agreement (performance-based), between the Company and its Executive Officers (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to the 1998 10-K)

The Stewart Enterprises Employees' Retirement Trust (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the 1991
Registration Staternent); Amendment thereto dated January 1, 1994 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the
Company Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1994 (the “1994 10-K™)); and
Amendment thereto dated January 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the 2001 10-K); Amendment
thereto dated January 1, 2003; Commussion File No. 0-19508

The Stewart Enterprises Supplemental Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.29 to the 1994 10-K), Commission File No. 0-19508

Amended and Restated Stewart Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.57 to the 1996 10-K); Commission File No. 0-19508

Amended and Restated Directors’ Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the 1996 10-K);
Commission File No. 0-19508

Amended and Restated Stewart Enterprises, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.61 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 1997); Commission File
No. 0-19508

2000 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000)

2000 Directors’ Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000), Amended and Restated Stewart Enterprises, Inc. 2000
Directors Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the Quarter ended April 30, 2002)
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10.41 Form of Stock Option Agreement (time-vest), between the Company and its Executive Officers, granted in January
2000 under the Amended and Restated 1995 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61
to the 2001 10-K)

10.42 Form of Stock Option Agreement (time-vest) between the Company and its Executive Officers, granted under the 2000
Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the 2001 10-K)

10.43 The Stewart Enterprises, Inc. Supplemental Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan for certain highly
compensated executives (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the Quarter ended July 31, 2001)

10.44 Stewart Enterpnises, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended April 30, 2002)

12 Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
21 Subsidiaries of the Company

23 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

The Company filed a Form 8-K on August 5, 2002, reporting under “Item 5. Other Events,” the announcement of the
completion of the sale of its Canadian Operations and adjustment to the fair value of operations in Argentina.

The Company filed a Form 8-K on September 10, 2002, reporting under “Item 5. Other Events,” the earnings release
for the quarter ended July 31, 2002, and strategy for future growth and under “Item 9. Regulation FD Disclosures,” the
Company’s forecasts for fiscal year 2002.

The Company filed a Form 8-K on September 25, 2002, reporting under “Item 5. Other Events,” the announcement
of the completion of the sale of its French operations and further debt reduction.

The Company filed a Form 8-K on October 15, 2002, reporting under “Item 5. Other Events,” the announcement of

the completion of the sale of its operations in Argentina which marks the completion of the Company’s foreign business
divestitures.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly

caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on January 24, 2003.

STEWART ENTERPRISES, INC.

By: _/s/ WILLIAME. ROWE
William E. Rowe
President,
Chief Executive Officer
and Director

on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/

Signature

FRANK B. STEWART, JR.

Frank B. Stewart, Jr.

WILLIAM E. ROWE

/s/

William E. Rowe
(Principal Executive Officer)

BRIAN J. MARLOWE

/s/

Brian J. Marlowe

KENNETH C. BUDDE

/s/

Kenneth C. Budde
(Principal Financial Officer)

MICHAEL G HYMEL

/sf

Michael G. Hymel
(Principal Accounting Officer)

LESLIE R. JACOBS

/s/

Leslie R. Jacobs

JOHN P. LABORDE

/s/

John P. Laborde

ALDEN J. McDONALD. JR.

/sf

Alden J. McDonald, Jr.

JAMES W. McFARLAND

/s/

James W. McFarland

MICHAEL O. READ

Michael O. Read

Title

Chairman of the Board

President, Chief Executive Officer
and a Director

Executive Vice President,
Chief Operating Officer
and a Director

Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer
and a Director

Vice President,
Corporate Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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January 24, 2003

January 24, 2003
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January 24, 2003




Certifications Required By Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Willilam E. Rowe, certify that:

1

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Stewart Enterprises, Inc.,

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including 1ts consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared,

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior
to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date™); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit commuttee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have 1dentified for the registrant’s auditors any
material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of

our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.

Date: January 24, 2003

/s/ WILLIAM E. ROWE

William E. Rowe
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Certifications Required By Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

[, Kenneth C. Budde, certify that:

1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Stewart Enterprises, Inc ;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this annual report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report 1s being prepared,

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior
to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date™); and

¢) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all signaficant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any
material weaknesses in internal controls, and

b} any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal controls; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant
changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of
our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses.

Date: January 24, 2003

(S/KENNETH C. BUDDE

Kenneth C. Budde
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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